
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Corporate Governance Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 25 November 2020 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Microsoft Teams. 

Contact: Mrs L Walton (tel: 0116 305 2583) 

Email: lauren.walton@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. T. Barkley CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 

Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 

 

Mr J. Poland CC 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mrs. A. Wright CC 
 

Please note: This meeting will not be open to the public in line with Government 
advice on public gatherings. The meeting will be webcast live via You Tube at: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item   Report by   
 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2020.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ


 
 
 
 

6.  
  

Risk Management Update.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 11 - 32) 

 As part of this item a presentation will be given on Corporate Risk 
6.1 - Uncertainty and significant knock on consequences on public 
services (including potential legal, regulatory, economic and social 
implications), and the local economy as a result of the United 
Kingdom leaving the European Union. 
 
 

 

7.  
  

External Audit of the Statement of Accounts, 
Annual Governance Statement and Pension 
Fund Accounts.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 33 - 34) 

8.  
  

Update on the application of the National Audit 
Office Guide to Audit Committees on financial 
reporting and management during Covid-19.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 35 - 76) 

9.  
  

Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman Annual Review 2019-20 and 
update on complaints and Freedom of 
Information Requests.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources and 
Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 77 - 
118) 

10.  
  

Resilience and Business Continuity Update.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 119 - 
124) 
 

11.  
  

Quarterly Treasury Management Report.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 125 - 
142) 

12.  
  

Update on developments in local (external) 
audit arrangements.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources and 
Director of Law 
and Governance 
 

(Pages 143 - 
156) 

13.  
  

Internal Audit Service Progress Report.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 157 - 
176) 

14.  
  

Dates of Future Meetings.  
 

 
 

 

 Future meetings of the Corporate Governance Committee are 
proposed to be held on the following dates in 2021:  
 
Friday, 29th January at 10.00am 
Friday, 4th June at 2.00pm 
Friday, 23rd July at 10.00am 
Friday, 5th November at 10.00am 
 
 

 

15.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee held at County Hall, 
Glenfield on Friday, 24 July 2020.  
 

PRESENT 
 

 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 
 

Mr J. Poland CC 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mrs. A. Wright CC 
 

 
 

1. Appointment of Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Mr T. Barkley CC be elected Chairman for the period ending with the date of the 
Annual Meeting of the County Council in 2021. 
 

2. Election of Vice Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That Mr T. J. Richardson CC be elected Vice Chairman for the period ending with the 
date of the Annual Meeting of the County Council in 2021. 
 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2020.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2020 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

4. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
34. 
 

5. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

6. To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 
 
 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 
7. Declarations of interest.  

 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC declared a personal interest in agenda item 12 (Quarterly 
Treasury Management Report) (minute 12 below refers) as he was in receipt of a pension 
from Lloyds Bank Plc. He stated that, should the debate on this item go into matters of 
detail regarding Lloyds Bank Plc, he would consider the matter a “personal interest that 
may lead to bias” and leave the room. 
 
Mr Ould declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 (Risk Management Update) 
(minute 8 refers) as he had been a member of the Leicestershire County Council Cabinet 
which on 23 June 2020 considered the Coronavirus Impact and Response of the County 
Council Recovery Economic and Financial Impact report, and also in reference to 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC) as he was currently the Chair of the 
Regional Migration Board. He also declared a personal interest in agenda item 9 (Draft 
Annual Governance Statement) (minutes 9 refers) as he had been a member of the 
Leicestershire County Council Cabinet and could be called to attend the Independent 
Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA). 
 

8. Risk Management Update.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which 
provided an update on the impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) in 
the context of the Council’s risk management arrangements. The report also included a 
copy of the Corporate Risk Register which provided an update on each risk including an 
assessment of the risk through the prism of Covid-19 impacts, an update on the role of 
the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) in managing and responding to the coronavirus 
pandemic risk and an update on the work of the Property and Occupants Risk 
Management Group. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
As part of this item, the Committee also received a presentation on Corporate Risk 3.7 on 
the Corporate Risk Register: If the Council does not manage its exposure to cyber risk, 
then decisions and controls cannot be taken to mitigate the threat of a successful cyber-
attack. A copy of the presentation slides is filed with these minutes. 
 
Presentation - Cyber Security Risk Management 
 

(i) Attempted cyber attacks and threats of attack had become a major ongoing risk for 
most organisations including the County Council. To date, the County Council had 
managed to prevent such an attack being successful; however, the constantly 
evolving nature of cyber attacks, for example the Covid-19 pandemic now being 
used as bait on electronic communications, meant that cyber security remained a 
high-risk area and that systems and strategies were required to be reviewed and 
adapted regularly to keep ahead of the ever-changing situation. In terms of 
potential mass data loss that could be incurred if an attack was successful it was 
confirmed that the Council had a data backup strategy in place for such an event. 

 

4



 
 

 

(ii) Staff working from home or offsite were only permitted to do so through an 
approved Council network which was regularly reviewed, and risk assessed to 
ensure the appropriate security measures were in place.  

 
Risk Management Update 
 

(iii) The additional details provided in the report on the role of the Local Resilience 
Forum (LRF) in managing and responding to the coronavirus pandemic risk were 
welcomed. 

 
(iv) In response to a question from a member it was confirmed that the way future 

meetings were conducted, for example, holding remote meetings, meetings in 
person or a mixture of both, beyond the pandemic period would be considered in 
due course and that at the last meeting of the County Council the Leader had 
stated his intention to consult with Group Leaders on the matter at the 
appropriate time to determine the best way forward. Members were advised that 
remote meetings were currently only permitted by the regulations until May 2021 
and that holding meetings in this way beyond that point would be dependent on 
an extension to those regulations. It was acknowledged that the pandemic had 
opened up the prospect of more home working which had led some other 
councils such as Shropshire County Council to consider downsizing their 
headquarters and include a greater emphasis of remote working into their future 
plans. 

 
(v) In response to a comment raised around ensuring there were robust technical 

systems in place to cope with remote meetings, it was confirmed that the number 
of technical issues reported had so far been minimal. Members were also 
reminded that any problems experienced should be reported as soon as they 
occurred so that the issue could be quickly resolved. This was also particularly 
important in ensuring that the current regulations, stipulating that members must 
be able to see and hear the meeting where possible, were being fulfilled. 

 
(vi) Members welcomed the suggestion that a presentation be given at the 

Committee’s next meeting on Corporate Risk 6.1 (Brexit - Uncertainty and 
significant knock on consequences on public services (including potential legal, 
regulatory, economic and social implications), and the local economy as a result 
of the United Kingdom leaving the European Union) or Corporate Risk 9.4 (If 
climate change impacts happen more frequently or at a greater intensity than 
anticipated, then there is the risk that County Council services will be negatively 
affected) if the Director of Corporate Resources considers that risk to be more 
appropriate. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the impacts arising from COVID-19 on the current status of the strategic 
risks facing the County Council be noted; 

 
(b) That at the next meeting of the Committee a presentation be provided on 

Corporate Risk 6.1 (Brexit - Uncertainty and significant knock on consequences 
on public services (including potential legal, regulatory, economic and social 
implications), and the local economy as a result of the United Kingdom leaving 
the European Union) or Corporate Risk 9.4 (If climate change impacts happen 
more frequently or at a greater intensity than anticipated, then there is the risk 

5



 
 

 

that County Council services will be negatively affected) if the Director of 
Corporate Resources considers that risk to be more appropriate; 

 
(c) That the updates regarding the Local Resilience Forum role in coronavirus risk 

management, recovery planning, counter fraud and the Property and Occupants 
Risk Management Group be noted. 

 
9. Draft Annual Governance Statement 2019/20.  

 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and the Director of 
Corporate Resources, the purpose of which was to present the County Council’s draft 
Annual Governance Statement for 2019/20 for consideration.  A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Regarding the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA) and whether a risk 
around the new safeguarding partnership arrangements had been identified, assurance 
was provided that an amber rated risk had been included on the Children and Families 
Departmental Risk Register and would be monitored going forward. 
 
A member commented on the great work the Council undertook each year to provide an 
effective flu vaccination programme for its staff in preparation for the winter period and 
highlighted the importance of this service to mitigate the impact of winter on the health 
service. Given the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and the national lockdown 
restrictions that were currently in place, it was expected that a different approach to 
programme delivery would be considered this time around.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the Draft Annual Governance Statement for 2019/20 attached as an 
appendix to the report be noted and supported without amendment; 

 
(b) That the two areas identified as significant governance issues in the Draft Annual 

Governance Statement be noted;  
 

(c) That it be noted that the Annual Governance Statement, which may be subject to 
such changes as are required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting, has been prepared in accordance with best practice. 

 
10. Annual Report on the Operation of the Members' Code of Conduct 2019/20.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance regarding the 
operation of the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct from July 2019 to date. A copy of 
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the annual report on the operation of the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct 
2019/20 be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

6



 
 

 

 
11. Local Government Association (LGA) Model Code of Conduct Consultation.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance, the purpose 
of which was to inform the Committee of the Local Government Association (LGA) 
Consultation on a new model Code of Conduct for elected members and to present a 
draft response for its consideration. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’, is filed 
with these minutes. 
 
In introducing the report, the Director confirmed that any comments made by Committee 
members on the County Council’s draft response, which was provided as Appendix B to 
the report, would be taken into consideration when producing the final response for 
submission to the LGA. Additionally, members could choose to respond to the 
consultation in their own right or as part of their political group before the closing date on 
17th August 2020. Members were also informed that details of the consultation had 
previously been circulated to the Group Leaders and Group Whips to enable them to 
respond as they considered appropriate. 
 
Regarding the County Council’s draft consultation response, members made the 
following comments: - 
 

• Social media related conduct should be integrated in the overall Code of Conduct 
rather than introducing a separate Code. 

 
• There would need to be clarity on when the Code will apply in instances of social 

media given that many elected members have separate personal and 
professional social media accounts.  Also, guidance to distinguish what might be 
a political view which some may disagree with, from what is improper behaviour, 
would be helpful. 

 
• The LGA should challenge social media companies to adopt a similar Code of 

Conduct to local authorities to require them to take action in instances such as 
online trolling.   

 
• The wording in relation to declarations of interest was ambiguous and required 

clarification to ensure that members, particularly those serving more than one 
council or body, were not precluded from carrying out their often-wide ranging 
duties. 

 
• Conflicts of interest for members elected to serve on the Executive of more than 

one council were perceived to be more complex. 
 

• Sanctions should be included within the Model Code of Conduct for members 
that failed to comply with the rules of the Code. 

  
[The Director confirmed that the need for local authorities to have greater 
enforceable sanctions had previously been referenced by the Committee on 
Standards of Public Life in its Local Governance Ethical Standards report which 
had been published in January 2019; however, fulfilling this need required a 
change in legislation which had not been forthcoming.  Members were reminded 
that the Code did not supersede the law but was instead supplementary.] 

 
 

7



 
 

 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
(a) That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to produce a final response for 

submission to the LGA, following consultation of the Chairman of this Committee 
as appropriate; 
 

(b) That the Monitoring Officer be requested to consider the comments now made on 
the proposed response of the County Council to the LGA consultation on the new 
model Code of Conduct when producing the final response for submission to the 
LGA. 

 
12. Quarterly Treasury Management Report.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to update the Committee on the actions taken in respect of treasury 
management for the quarter ending 30 June 2020. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda 
Item 12’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion the following points arose: 
 

(i) Money Market Funds (MMFs) aimed to offer investors high liquidity with a very 
low level of risk allowing withdrawals to be made at any time.  

 
(ii) Loans from Leicestershire County Council to other local authorities were not 

planned at the current time. With regard to potential lending opportunities to the 
national government that were expected to arise from the Covid-19 pandemic, it 
was confirmed that if such opportunities arose the options would be considered. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the actions taken in respect of treasury management for the quarter ending 30 June 
2020 be noted. 
 

13. Internal Audit Service Progress Report.  
 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which 
summarised the work conducted during the period 30 May to 10 July 2020, highlighted 
audits where high importance recommendations had been made, provided information on 
how the coronavirus had affected the Internal Audit Service, introduced CIPFA’s 
(Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) work on standardising 
engagement opinions across internal audit in the public sector and advised the approach 
being taken to prepare the Internal Audit Plan for 2020-21. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 13’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update now provided, and the internal audit work conducted during the period 30 
May to 10 July 2020, together with progress made on the implementation of high 
importance recommendations be noted. 
 
 
 

8



 
 

 

14. National Audit Office - Guide for Audit and Risk Committees on Financial Reporting and 
Management During COVID-19.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose 
of which was to present a copy the National Audit Office’s (NAO) guide for Audit & Risk 
Committees on financial reporting and management during Covid-19 for consideration 
and comment in advance of a report to the Committee in the Autumn detailing the County 
Council’s response. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 14’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the contents of the National Audit Office’s Guide for Audit & Risk 
Committees on Financial Reporting and Management During Covid-19, attached 
as an appendix to the report, and the update now provided be noted;   

 
(b) That at the next meeting of the Committee a further report detailing the County 

Council’s response, be provided. 
 

15. Date of next meeting.  
 
Members noted that the date of the next meeting would need to tie in with the amended 
deadlines for the completion and external audit of the financial statements, which had 
previously been reported to this Committee. Officers undertook outside of the meeting to 
consider the most suitable date, in consultation with the Chairman of this Committee, and 
confirm this with members.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the date of the next meeting was to be confirmed. 
 

 
 
10.00 – 11.45         CHAIRMAN 
24 July 2020 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 25 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES  
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

Purpose of the Report 

 
1. One of the key roles of the Corporate Governance Committee is to ensure that 

the Council has effective risk management arrangements in place.  This report 
assists the Committee in fulfilling that role by providing a regular overview of 
key risk areas and the measures being taken to address them.  This is to 
enable the Committee to review or challenge progress, as necessary, as well 
as highlight risks that may need to be given further consideration.  This report 
covers: 

 The Corporate Risk Register (CRR) – summary of risks; 

 Recovery planning (Covid-19) – update; 

 Counter fraud initiatives – update. 
 
Corporate Risk Register (CRR) 

 
2. Within the County Council’s Constitution, Article 9.03 ‘Role and Function of the 

Corporate Governance Committee’ states that the Committee shall have 
responsibility for the promotion and maintenance within the Authority of high 
standards in relation to the operation of the Council’s Code of Corporate 
Governance with an emphasis on ensuring that an adequate risk management 
framework and associated control environment is in place. 
 

3. The Council maintains Departmental Risk Registers and a Corporate Risk 
Register (CRR).  These registers contain the most significant risks which the 
Council is managing, and which are ‘owned’ by Directors and Assistant 
Directors. 

4. The CRR is designed to capture strategic risk that applies either corporately or 
to specific departments, which by its nature has a long time span.  The CRR is 
a working document and therefore assurance can be provided that, through 
timetabled review, high/red risks will be added to the CRR as necessary.  
Equally, as further mitigation actions come to fruition and current controls are 
embedded, the risk scores will be reassessed, and this will result in some risks 
being removed from the CRR and reflected within the relevant departmental 
risk register. 

5. The existing risks on the CRR last presented to the Committee on 24 July 2020 
are shown in Appendix 1 attached to this report.  The impact and likelihood are 

11 Agenda Item 6



 

shown below each current risk score.  Movements since the CRR was last 
presented are detailed below:  
 
Risk Added 

Environment and Transport (E&T) - Risk 4.2 - If Arriva is successful in its 
concessionary travel appeals and the method of apportioning between the City 
and County Councils is changed then reimbursement costs for the total scheme 
could increase. 
.  
 

Risk Description Amended 

 
All – Risk 6.1 – Brexit - uncertainty and significant knock on consequences on 
public services (including potential legal, regulatory, economic and social 
implications), and the local economy as a result of the United Kingdom leaving 
the European Union. 
 
Amended to Risk 6.1 – EU Transition – If a formal trade agreement between 
the UK and EU is not in place at the end of the transition period, the UK will be 
treated by the EU as a third country. Trade arrangements will differ, and goods 
will be subject to full third country controls and a variety of border checks.  

 
6. In accordance with the Committee’s request at its meeting on 24 July 2020, a 

presentation will be provided as part of this item on Corporate Risk 6.1 EU 
Transition – If a formal trade agreement between the UK and EU is not in place 
at the end of the transition period, the UK will be treated by the EU as a third 
country. Trade arrangements will differ, and goods will be subject to full third 
country controls and a variety of border checks. 
 

Recovery Planning - COVID-19  

 
7. The interim service planning and risk identification exercise completed in June 

was crucial to ensure the majority of the Council’s services got to interim 
positions. On 28 July, the Member Working Group (Covid-19 Recovery) 
received and discussed an update on the interim service planning process 
alongside summary Departmental Position Statements. 
 

8. In early September, Chief Officers agreed that an organisation-wide review of 
the interim service plans should be undertaken by Heads of Service, managed 
through Department Management Teams, and supported through corporate 
support services. Updated guidance to support interim service delivery planning 
was produced. This is based on a revised understanding of the impact of the 
pandemic on the Council’s strategic priorities and implications for future service 
delivery. The updated interim plans are required to enable service delivery 
through to April 2021, although planning has been recognised as an iterative 
and flexible process which is dependent upon various factors, such as the 
potential recurrence of localised ‘lockdown’ arrangements. 

 
9. The revised guidance focuses on the key considerations to be covered within 

interim plans, such as the need to minimise additional expenditure, and to 
ensure a continuing focus on the wellbeing of staff. The guidance also provides 

12



 

for support, advice and challenge - where necessary, made available through 
corporate business partners and subject matter leads. 

 
10. Heads of Service across Departments have applied these considerations in the 

revision of their interim service delivery plans with Departmental Management 
Teams (DMTs) receiving and agreeing those plans. Departmental Risk 
Registers have also been updated, based on key strategic risks identified 
through this process which may affect delivery of Departmental objectives. 

 
11. An updated version of the Departmental Position Statements will be reported to 

a future meeting of the Member Working Group (Covid-19 Recovery). 
 

12. The outcomes of these recent exercises were invaluable once the Government 
announced there would be a second lockdown in England, from 5 November to 
2 December. Scenario planning following the introduction in mid-October of the 
three tier lockdown system has been utilised and is being aligned with 
emerging government guidance.  Work continues on identifying and managing 
key service changes and responses required and potential financial and service 
delivery risks. 

 

Counter Fraud Work During COVID-19 

 
13. A number of internal audit assignments have taken place during the last quarter 

with a COVID-19 and/or counter fraud focus.  These include: -  
 

 A significant piece of work in Adult Social Care (ASC) looking at 
additional support provided by the Council to social care providers to 
ensure their financial viability, e.g. amended processes such as 
temporary forward payments to aid provider cash-flow, top-up payments 
to maintain minimum funding levels in the home care sector and support 
grant payments, e.g. the national ASC Infection Control Fund grant. 

 Increased p-Card usage during COVID-19. 

 Supplementary assurance regarding the County Council’s Communities 
Fund, following additional funding being allocated by the Council. 

 Reviewing that new starters to the Council are adequately undertaking 
mandatory fraud awareness e-learning (or the manual workbook 
equivalent).  This review coincided with a revision to the training module.  
It highlighted some procedural weaknesses, in particular regarding 
difficulties delivering mandatory training to ‘hard to reach’ staffing 
groups, often ‘low risk’, e.g. staff without IT access, e.g. school catering 
staff, highways operatives. 
 

COVID-19 Targeted Fraud Comms 
 
14. COVID-19 continues to see fraudsters exploring many, and sometimes 

innovative, ways to perpetrate fraud.  The Internal Audit Service (IAS) 
continues to promote fraud awareness advice to staff and key sections, 
including advice to individuals on fraud risks in their personal lives. 

 
15. The UK Government response to COVID-19 is particularly vulnerable to fraud, 

owing to the novelty and speed with which new measures have been 

13



 

introduced and the size of economic relief schemes, many of which are passed 
down to local government to distribute further.  Whilst a number of these 
schemes are relevant only to district and unitary councils, e.g. the Small 
Business Grant and the Self-Isolation Financial Support Scheme, there can be 
no complacency that fraud cannot affect the Council, especially at times like 
these where temporary process changes brought about by COVID-19 may be 
in place. 
 

16. Raising fraud awareness continues to be a major defence against fraud.  The 
fraud pages on the Council’s intranet have been updated with COVID-19 
specific information, and targeted communications to staff and managers 
continue to be issued through a variety of means, for example a Manager’s 
Digest was released on 28 October. 

 
National Fraud Initiative 2020/21 

 
17. The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) is an exercise that matches electronic data 

within and between public and private sector bodies to prevent and detect fraud 
in a number of areas, including pensions, payroll, creditors, bribery/conflict of 
interest, adult social care, etc.  Since it was set up in 1996, the NFI has identified 
thousands of attempts to defraud taxpayers, with attempts to steal money from 
pension frauds, council tax claims and even the abuse of disabled parking 
badges.  Latest figures from the Cabinet Office show that between April 2018 and 
April 2020, a total of £245 million of fraud and overpayments was detected across 
the UK, taking the total figure identified since 1996 up to £1.9 billion. 
 

18. The Council has submitted all relevant data sets to the Cabinet Office in 
respect of the biennial National Fraud Initiative (NFI) data matching exercise.  
The expectation is that ‘matches’ will be returned to councils for investigation 
from February 2021 onwards.  
 

Revised Counter Fraud Policies 
 

19. The Internal Audit Service has responsibility for the upkeep of four of the 
Council’s counter fraud documents, namely the (overarching) Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy, the Anti-Bribery Policy, the Anti-Money Laundering Policy 
and the Policy for the Prevention of Facilitation of Tax Evasion.  These 
documents are revised on a biennial basis and have been revised during this 
last quarter. 
 

20. With specific regard to the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy the biennial 
revision coincides with the formulation of a new two-year action plan that sits 
within the Strategy that sets out a range of proposed actions moving forward, 
designed to strengthen the Council’s resilience to fraud yet further.  At its 
meeting in February 2015 the Corporate Governance Committee delegated 
authority to the Director of Corporate Resources that they might make minor 
changes.  Changes this time are mostly cosmetic but should members wish to 
read the four documents they can be found on the Council’s website at: -  
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-spending/fraud 

14

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-spending/fraud


 

Fraud Risk Assessment 2020/21 

 
21. The CIPFA Code of Practice – Managing the Risk of Fraud Corruption 

recommends that local authorities identify and assess the major risks of fraud 
and corruption to the organisation.  The Internal Audit Service performs a 
biennial fraud risk assessment and uses the results to direct counter fraud 
resources accordingly.  The County Council does not provide many of the 
services that have historically been considered to be at high risk of fraud, such 
as revenue and benefits, and, more recently, many of the COVID-19 economic 
relief schemes. However, the change of emphasis from local government being 
a provider to a commissioner of services changes the risk profile of fraud, as 
well as the control environment in which risk is managed.  More ‘at arm’s 
length’ delivery of services by third parties, for example, contractors and 
external providers; and personal control of social care budgets, means that 
more public money is entrusted externally, which may impact on the wider 
control environment. 

 
22. National fraud intelligence received through publications such as CIPFA’s 

annual Fraud and Corruption Tracker (2019) and Fighting Fraud and Corruption 
Locally – the local government counter fraud and corruption strategy (Cifas, 
2020) helps to inform local authorities of key fraud risks for councils and also of 
emerging frauds relevant to the sector.  Such intelligence is used proactively to 
influence the fraud risk assessment.  The Internal Audit Service also networks 
closely with other local authorities to share both fraud intelligence and 
strategies to manage fraud risks.  As an example, the Internal Audit Service is 
an active participant in the Midland Counties’ Fraud Group. A recent meeting (5 
November) discussed approaches to the following and advice will be 
disseminated to relevant Council officers and headteachers: - 

a. General Warnings re. Heightened Risk of Fraud during crisis situations 
b. Mandate Fraud, including emerging e-mail hacking threat 
c. Chief Executive Officer (false identity) Fraud 
d. C-19 Business Support Grants 
e. Temporary Morgues 
f. Asset Misappropriation by Staff, e.g. leavers, compounded by home 

working 
g. Taxi Providers’ Relief Scheme 
h. Temporary Process Changes Brought About By COVID-19 
i. Staff Working Elsewhere Whilst off on Sick/Self-Isolation 

 
23. Appendix 2 attached to this report, contains a summary of the fraud risk 

assessment, with a corresponding risk score for each area, based on the 
Council’s overall potential exposure (impact on service delivery, finance and 
reputation and perceived likelihood). Scoring has been derived through 
discussions with individual service leads to give them the opportunity to 
consider whether scores remain reasonable or whether there have been any 
changes during the previous year that may lead to a necessity to amend 
scores, e.g. increased or decreased metrics/values etc. Recognising fraud in 
this manner ensures there is a comprehensive understanding and knowledge 
about those areas where potential fraud risk is the highest and the scale of 
potential losses. 

 

15



 

24. The highest scoring areas include COVID-19 related fraud risk, cyber-crime, 
adult social care fraud, maintained schools with delegated financial 
management and procurement fraud.  It is expected that the score for COVID-
19 related fraud risk will decrease over time as staff and sections become more 
understanding of the fraud risks associated with COVID-19, thus decreasing 
the ‘likelihood’ score.  These high-scoring areas are typically the ones reported 
nationally by other councils, in addition to benefit fraud in those authorities 
where this is a consideration. 

 
25. The fraud risk assessment directs the Council’s overall Anti-Fraud and 

Corruption Strategy and further allows the Council to direct counter-fraud 
resources accordingly.  Consequently, this influences the internal audit annual 
planning process. 

 
Local Government Transparency Code 

 
26. Under the Local Government Transparency Code 2015, the County Council is 

required to publish to its website, annually, summary details of fraud 
investigations including the total number of frauds investigated and the total 
amount spent by the authority on the investigation of fraud.  Details for 2019/20 
have been published can be viewed via the link below: - 

 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-spending/payments-
and-accounts/cost-of-fraud-investigations 

 
International Fraud Awareness Week (15-21 November 2020) 

 
27. To coincide with International Fraud Awareness Week (IFAW), the Internal 

Audit Service issued targeted comms to staff during the week via the Corporate 
Intranet covering topics such as the National Fraud Initiative - its aims and 
objectives; Bribery Risk, The Impact of Fraud, etc.  IFAW also gives the 
opportunity to give a timely reminder to staff on the Council’s whistleblowing 
process and its policies on both gifts & hospitality and the registration of 
personal interests. 

Recommendations 

 
It is recommended that the Committee: 
 

a) Approves the current status of the strategic risks facing the County Council; 
 

b) Makes recommendations on any areas which might benefit from further 
examination and identify a risk area for presentation at its next meeting; 
 

c) Notes the updates regarding 
(i) Recovery planning (Covid-19) 
(ii) Counter fraud initiatives. 

 

Resources Implications 

 
None. 

16

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-spending/payments-and-accounts/cost-of-fraud-investigations
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-spending/payments-and-accounts/cost-of-fraud-investigations


 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
None. 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
None. 
 

Background Papers 

 
Report of the Director of Corporate Resources – ‘Risk Management Update’ – 
Corporate Governance Committee, 19 February, 13 May, 23 September and 25 
November 2016; 17 February, 26 May, 22 September and 17 November 2017; 29 
January, 23 April and 25 July 2018, 24 October 2018, 18 January 2019, 10 May 
2019 and 1 November 2019, 31 January 2020, 12 June 2020 and 24 July 2020. 
 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=434 

Officers to Contact 

 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources   
Tel : 0116 305 6199  
E-mail : chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk  
 
Neil Jones, Head of Internal Audit and Assurance Service 
Tel: 0116 305 7629 
Email: neil.jones@leics.gov.uk 
 

Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register Update  
Appendix 2 - Fraud Risk Assessment 2021  
 

17

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=434
mailto:ctambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:neil.jones@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – UPDATE ON RISKS     APPENDIX 1 
   

 

Dept./ 
Function 

CRR 
Risk 
No 

Risk Description Current   
Risk  

Score 
(incl. 

changes) 

Update 
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during  

 
October 2020 

 

** Direction of 
Travel 

(Residual Risk 
Score over the 

next 12 months) 

Coronavirus – COVID-19    

All 1 If the Council does not plan, 
prepare and respond 
adequately to future 
developments in relation to both 
the COVID 19 pandemic and 
recovery to a “new normal” level 
of services, it could suffer long 
lasting economic, 
environmental, societal and 
technological challenges and 
miss opportunities. 
 

20 
 

I5/L4 

Following detailed information provided at the 24 July Committee, 

 The Cabinet most recently received an update on the Recovery 

Strategy work on October 20th. Recovery activity is taking place 

alongside, and in close co-ordination with, response work 

recognising the length and complexity of the Covid19 incident 

 Regular updates are communicated to Members, and the public 

continues to be informed through the Council’s website. 

 Regular COVID-19 senior manager briefings continue to be 

provided.  

 All County Council buildings and services are COVID-secure, 

with regular monitoring, and it has been ensured that clear 

guidance is in place for managers and staff to work safely and 

productively. 

 The wellbeing of staff is being supported through new initiatives 

such as the introduction of a working from home allowance for 

staff and regular wellbeing surveys and toolkits for managers. 

 The Council worked closely with Leicester City Council, Public 

Health England and other agencies to respond to the effects of 

the local lockdowns that affected the City and parts of the 

county and learning from this has informed the Council and LRF 

response to the recent tiered and national lockdowns.  

 The Council has established a £750,000 Covid-19 Business 

Recovery Grant which has already provided substantial 

immediate and upfront funding to support businesses 

recovering from the impact of the pandemic.   This followed on 

from the earlier establishment of a Covid19 Community Grants 

scheme to the value of £1.5m 

 
Expected to 

remain 
red/high 

 

19



Dept./ 
Function 

CRR 
Risk 
No 

Risk Description *Current   
Risk  

Score 

(incl. 
changes) 

Update 
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during  

 

October 2020 
 

** Direction of 
Travel 

(Residual Risk 

Score over the 
next 12 months) 

1. Medium Term Strategy 
 

Al 1.1 
 

Risk around the MTFS including 
the ability to deliver savings 
through service redesign and 
Transformation as required in 
the MTFS, impact of the living 
wage and other demand/cost 
pressures including legal 
challenges. 

25 
 

I5/L5 
 
 

 
 

MTFS 
 
The overall financial impact of the pandemic remains very difficult 
to quantify at present, as does the level of further Government 
support. It is expected that the tax losses and cost increases with 
continue for several years, increasing the County Council’s 
challenge.  
  
An outline approach to revising the MTFS was reported to Cabinet 
in September. Expenditure controls have been implemented to help 
to manage the financial pressures until firm savings plans can be 
put in place 
 
 
Transformation 
 
As well as leading on interim service delivery planning as outlined 
in paragraphs 7 to 12 in the report, transformation work will 
continue to support services in limiting the financial impact of 
service delivery and recovery activity. The Transformation Unit is 
also working alongside other support services, including Strategic 
Finance and Business Intelligence, to help identify further savings 
opportunities, including through departmental continuous 
improvement and efficiency initiatives. 
 

 
 
 

 
Expected to 

increase   
high/red 

 
 

CE 1.3 If the Council fails to maximise 
developer contributions, then 
there could be a failure to fund 
corporate infrastructure 
projects. 
 

16 
 

I4/L4 
 

Planning application numbers have continued to remain stable 
during the pandemic and this has allowed developer contributions 
to be secured in S106 agreements. Income has reduced this year 
as a result of a slow-down in house building, which is typical during 
an economic downturn. To date, very few requests for deferred 
payments from housebuilders have been received. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Expected to 
remain  
high/red 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

20



Dept./ 
Function 

CRR 
Risk 
No 

Risk Description *Current 
Risk  

Score 

(incl. 
changes) 

Update 
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during  

 

October 2020 
 

** Direction of 
Travel 

(Residual Risk 

Score over the 
next 12 months) 

C&FS 1.5 Social Care: 
If the number of high cost social 
care placements (e.g. external 
fostering, residential and 16+ 
supported accommodation) 
increases (especially in relation 
to behavioural and CSE issues) 
then there may be significant 
pressures on the children’s 
social care placement budget, 
which funds the care of 
vulnerable children. 
 

25 
 

I5/L5 
 
  
 

 Operational Placements forecast, inclusive of asylum seekers 
spend is £3 m overspend 

 16 plus and Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) placements; 
current average weekly costs are considerably higher than 
MTFS assumptions    

 Over the last 6 months, a number of children have required 
residential placements as a result of their very complex needs. 

 Changes to case law regarding parent-child separation and 
court directives are also have a significant adverse impact on 
the current budget situation. 

 
 
 
 

Expected to 
remain  
high/red 

 

 

C&FS 1.6 Education 
If demand for Education Health 
and Care Plans continues to 
rise, and corrective action is not 
taken, there is a risk that the 
high needs deficit will continue 
to increase. 
 

16 
 

I4/L4 
 

 Phase 1 of the programme expects to deliver 60% of all activity 
by the end of the calendar year. Phase 2 of the programme is 
being scoped to encapsulate further activity moving into 2021. 

 SEN support handbook will be signed off by the Board and full 
comms plan in place to ensure effective roll out. 

 Sufficiency projection work ongoing.  

 New provisions opening from September 2020 onwards are 
having some positive impact, but significant demand continues 

 First Cycle of the Quality and Learning Framework is now 
complete 

 Review of the highest cost independent provisions is underway 
 

 
 
 
 

Expected to 
remain  
high/red 

 

CR 1.7 If the Council is not compliant 
with the HRMC IR35 
regulations regarding the 
employment of self-employed 
personnel, then there is a risk of 
large financial penalties 
 
 

20 
 

I5/L4 

 Work on Oracle Fusion is underway – EMSS can flag and put 
on hold on payment until IR35 decision agreed 

 Corporate Support Unit have been updated on IR35 
requirements 

 IR35 has been included in guidance on spending controls 

 Regular engagement with Departments and Heads of Service 
to improve understanding 

 Departments are starting to provide more information on their 
contractors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Expected to 

remain 
 red/high 

21



Dept./ 
Function 

CRR 
Risk 
No 

Risk Description *Current 
Risk  

Score 

(incl. 
changes) 

Update 
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during  

 

October 2020 
 

** Direction of 
Travel 

(Residual Risk 

Score over the 
next 12 months) 

C&FS 1.9 If the immigration status of 
unaccompanied asylum-
seeking children (UASC) who 
arrive in the County is not 
resolved, then the Council will 
have to meet additional long-
term funding in relation to its 
housing and care duties.   
 

25 
 

I5/L5 
 
 

(increase) 
From 16 

There have been two new further spontaneous arrivals. The 
Council is not participating in the national transfer scheme and an 
additional isolation bid has been commissioned to manage the risk 
of COVID-19 infection spread for new arrivals. 

 

 
 

Expected to 
remain 

 red/high 

 1.10 The Council is unable to meet 
the financial investment 
required to deliver infrastructure 
in support of housing 
development committed in 
districts Local Plans and that 
where this contribution can be 
recouped through s106 
agreements secured by District 
Councils, the funding doesn’t 
meet the full cost and is 
secured long after the 
commitment is made. 
 

25 
 

I5/L5 
 

Whilst the financial risks remain high, the County Council is 
developing effective partnerships with some district councils which 
will help mitigate these risks in the districts 

 
 
 
 

Expected to 
remain  
high/red 

 

 

2. Health & Social Care Integration 
 

 All 2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Impact on County Council 
services and MTFS of the 
Better Care Together (medium 
term) transformation plan in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland (LLR), could lead to 
inability to deliver improved 
outcomes and financial 
sustainability. 

 

 

 

16 
 

I4/L4 
 
 
 
  

Development of an Integrated Care System in LLR continues but 
uncertainties due to the pandemic are impacting in terms of 
demand for services, the integration of health and care services, 
and confirming governance arrangements 

 

 
 

Expected to 
remain  
high/red 

22



 

Dept./ 
Function 

CRR 
Risk 
No 

Risk Description *Current 
Risk  

Score 

(incl. 
changes) 

Update 
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during  

 

October 2020 
 

** Direction of 
Travel 

(Residual Risk 

Score over the 
next 12 months) 

All 2.3 Challenges caused by the 
Welfare Reform Act 2012 and 
the Welfare Reform and Work 
Act 2016.   

16 
 

I4/L4 

The Severe Disability Premium (SDP) Gateway’ which requires 
some disabled people to claim legacy benefits such as, Income-
related Employment and Support Allowance and Housing Benefit 
rather than Universal Credit will be removed from 27 January 2021. 

 
The removal of the seven waiting days for Employment and 
Support Allowance so that people can claim from the first day of 
incapacity has been extended to 12 May 2021 for people infected 
or contaminated with coronavirus, isolating to prevent the spread of 
coronavirus or caring for a child with coronavirus. 

 
The pilot of managed migration to Universal Credit remains 
suspended due to the impact of the coronavirus outbreak and no 
announcements have been made about any further steps.  

 
Provisions enabling individuals on temporary release from prison 
due to the outbreak of coronavirus to claim means-tested benefits 
including Housing Benefit, Income Support, Income-related 
Employment and Support Allowance and Universal Credit have 
been extended to 13 March 2021. 
 

 
 

Expected to 
remain  
high/red 

 

3.  ICT, Information Security 
 

CR 3.6 If the ERP system cannot 
accommodate all of the 
Council’s requirements, then it 
may delay implementation and 
extra resources will be required 
to develop work arounds  
 

20 
 

I5/L4 
 

The Finance modules of Oracle Fusion revised go-live date is 16th 
November 2020. The HR modules will now be going live in January 
2021. 
 
EMSS had its first cohort (CH-1) of external schools/academies 
going live in October 2020. 
 

 
 
 
 

Expected to 
 remain  
high/red 

CR 3.7 If the Council does not manage 
its exposure to cyber risk, then 
decisions and controls cannot 
be taken to mitigate the threat 
of a successful cyber-attack. 
 

16 
 

I4/L4 
 

Workshop completed with I&T Team Leaders on draft cyber 
specific incident response plan. Further work taking place to align 
the cyber response plan with the I&T Major Incident Process. 
IT Security Working Group created, with project management 
support, to address issues from IT Health Check Report.  PSN 
certification renewal will follow once report issues have been 
reviewed, prioritised and remediation worked estimated. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Expected to move 
to Medium/Amber 

 

23



 

Dept./ 

Function 

CRR 

Risk 
No 

Risk Description *Current 

Risk  
Score 
(incl. 
changes) 

 

Update 
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during  

 
October 2020 

 

** Direction of 

Travel 
(Residual Risk Score 

over the next 12 
months) 

4. Commissioning & Procurement 
 

E&T  4.2 If Arriva is successful in its 
concessionary travel appeals 
and the method of apportioning 
between the City and the 
County is changed then 
reimbursement costs for the 
total scheme could increase. 
 
 

15 
New 

 
I5/L3 

Although the appeal by Arriva to the Department for Transport 
(DfT) for 2017/18 was successful for LCC in that it was not 
required to pay any money to Arriva in respect of that appeal, the 
DfT required LCC to review the way it allocates routes and 
passengers on urban and rural services. LCC’s consultants that 
manage the scheme were engaged to review the apportionment 
between Leicester City Council and LCC.  The City Council has 
disputed the methodology applied by LCC’s consultants. The City 
Council is due to share its data model with LCC officers. There 
could be a risk of increased (proportionate) cost to LCC. 
 
Current concessionary travel usage is a fifth of the pre-covid 
level, but LCC has been urged by government to continue 
payments to operators at pre-covid levels. Concessionary travel 
is intrinsically linked to local bus services and therefore reducing 
the reimbursement to operators could consequently mean an 
increase in the significant burden on the council to support the 
bus network. LCC is currently awaiting guidance on future 
funding from the DfT. Advice from its appointed consultants has 
identified that LCC should continue to provide concessionary 
reimbursement at 100% of pre-Covid levels to protect the local 
bus network, until guidance from the DfT advises otherwise. 
   

 
 
 
 

Expected move to 
Medium/ 
Amber 

 

5. Safeguarding 
 

C&FS 
 

5.1 
 

Historical:  
If as a result of a concerted 
effort to explore abuse by the 
Independent Inquiry into Child 
Sexual Abuse (IICSA) and 
Police Operations, then 
evidence of previously unknown 
serious historical issues of child 
sexual exploitation (CSE) or 
abuse is identified. 

25 
 

I5/L5 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The Public Hearing for the IICSA’s Janner Investigation has now 
come to an end. The Council’s evidence was heard in both open 
and closed sessions, along with evidence from other Core 
Participants including Leicestershire Police, the CPS and the 
Labour Party. 

The Investigation Report is not expected to be published until 
Autumn 2021 

 

 
 
 
 

Expected move to 
Medium/ 
Amber 

 

24



6. Brexit 
 

All 6.1 Uncertainty and significant 
knock on consequences on 
public services (including 
potential legal, regulatory, 
economic and social 
implications), and the local 
economy as a result of the 
United Kingdom leaving the 
European Union. 

16 
 

I/4/L4  
 
 
 

The Government has issued its Reasonable Worst Case 
Scenario (RWCS) planning assumptions which assess the impact 
of No Deal Exit on a range of issues, such as food and medicine 
supply, transport, immigration, community cohesion etc. The 
council and other statutory partners are reviewing contingency 
plans against the RWCS. Mitigation will be put in place as 
required. 
 

 
 
 
 

Expected to remain 
high/red 

7. People 
 

CR (ALL) 7.1 If sickness absence is not 
effectively managed then staff 
costs, service delivery and staff 
wellbeing will be impacted. 

16 
 

I4/L4 
 

Initial indications are that throughout April, May, June and July, 
sickness absence levels reduced, even when taking into account 
COVID-19 related absence.  

The Council is prioritising wellbeing, ensuring that the offer is 
relevant for the current context. There are regular staff bulletins 
and a range of support for managers is available. E.g. managing 
remotely. 

 
 
 
 
 

Expected move to 
Medium/ 
Amber 

 
 

All 7.2 Recruitment and retention -  
If departments are unable to 
recruit and retain skilled staff 
promptly then some services 
will be over reliant on the use of 
agency staff resulting in budget 
overspends and poor service 
delivery. 
 

       
 
    16 
 

I4/L4 
 
 
 

     15 
 

I5/L3 

A&C 
 
No substantive changes to the previous reported position in the 
intervening period with mitigation actions continuing - Market 
Premium, wellbeing, and workforce activity 
 
 
C&FS 
 
The Department is continuing to have success in relation to 
recruitment. Continuing risk is reliance on agency workers whilst 
filling growth posts.  
 

 
 
 
 

Expected  
to remain high/red 

 
 
 
 

A&C 7.3 If the department does not have 
a sustainable external 
workforce to work with it may be 
unable to meet its statutory 
responsibilities. 
 
 
 

     15 
 

I5/L3 

Difficulties in recruitment and retention in the social care 
workforce is increasing due to the impact of the pandemic as 
social care is not seen as a desirable career choice. The 
availability of a flexible workforce has been impacted by the 
pandemic due to restrictions on working across more than one 
location. The department is assisting providers with marketing, 
advertising and providing a range of advice and guidance. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Expected to 
remain  
high/red 

 

 

25



Dept./ 
Function 

CRR 
Risk 
No 

Risk Description *Current 
Risk  

Score 

(incl. 
changes) 

 
Update 

Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during  

 
October 2020 

 

** Direction of 
Travel 

(Residual Risk 

Score over the next 
12 months) 

8. Business Continuity 
 

CE 8.1 If suppliers of critical 
services do not have robust 
business continuity plans in 
place, the Council may not be 
able to deliver services. 
 

15 
 

I5/L3 

Following the issuing of the RWCS, services are reviewing and 
updating their Business Continuity plans. 

 
 

 
Expected to remain  

high/red 

9. Environment 
 

E&T 9.1 If the ash dieback disease 
causes shedding branches or 
falling trees, then there is a 
possible risk to life and 
disruption to the transport 
network. 

20 
 

I5/L4 

The 2020 ash dieback survey was restricted due to the need to 
carry out walked rather than driven inspections linked to COVID.  
Initial results suggest that levels of ash dieback are higher than in 
previous years.   

 

 
Expected to remain 

red/high 
 

E&T 9.2 If there was a major incident 
which results in unplanned site 
closure (e.g. fire) then the 
Council may be unable to hold 
or dispose of waste.  

20 
 

I5/L4 
 
 

Kerbside collected tonnages of household residual waste and dry 
recyclables have decreased from levels seen in the first four 
months but remain around 10% higher than would be expected 
for September.  Our waste transfer stations have had some 
infrastructure issues which are requiring additional remedial 
works; temporary arrangements have been made but it does 
require on-going additional management time.  Tonnages of 
other waste so far this year remain at or a little below the 
expected pre-Covid 19 levels. The Council has opened all its 
recycling sites now which removes some operational flexibility to 
manage increased volumes or staff shortages, but the booking 
system is helping mitigate this.  Planning permission has been 
submitted for the proposed waste transfer station at the Bardon 
site; this will assist in mitigating this risk in the medium term. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Expected move to 
Medium/ 
Amber 

 
 

26



Department 
    A&C =  Adults & Communities E&T = Environment and Transport  

CE =  Chief Executives PH = Public Health   

CR =  Corporate Resources All = Consolidated risk                                             

C&FS =  Children and Family Services 
 

 

 

**The arrows explain the direction of travel for the risk, i.e. where it is expected to be within the next twelve months after further mitigating 

actions, so that: 

o A horizontal arrow shows that not much movement is expected in the risk; 

o A downward pointing arrow shows that there is an expectation that the risk will be mitigated towards ‘medium’ and would likely be 

removed from the register; 

o An upwards pointing arrow would be less likely, but possible, since it would show an already high scoring risk is likely to be greater. 

Dept./ 
Function 

CRR 
Risk 
No 

Risk Description *Current 
Risk  

Score 

(incl. 
changes) 

 
Update 

Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during  

 
October 2020 

 

** Direction of 
Travel 

(Residual Risk 

Score over the next 
12 months) 

E&T 9.4  If climate change impacts 
happen more frequently or at a 
greater intensity than 
anticipated, then there is the 
risk that County Council 
services will be negatively 
affected 
 

16 
 

I4/L4 
 

Climate Change Risk Registers are being reviewed. Mitigation 
measures will be identified as part of the Climate Change Risk 
Register review that will seek to the reduce impact on council 
services. 

 
 
 
 

Expected to remain 
high/red 

 

10. Partnerships 
 

C&FS 10.1 If the Local Authority and its 
partners do not succeed in 
developing an inclusive culture 
across all schools, education 
providers and partner agencies 
(including the Parent Carer 
Forum), then it will be difficult to 
secure parental confidence in 
the ability of the ‘whole system’ 
to meet the needs of the large 
majority of children with SEND 
in a mainstream school context. 

16 
 

I4/L4 
 

This risk has been absorbed into C&FS – Risk 1.6.  This will be 
reflected in the next update.  

 
 
 
 

Expected to remain 
high/red 

 

27



 

RISKS REMOVED SINCE JULY 2019 

 

Dept. CRR 

Risk 

No 

Risk Description Current 

Risk 

Score 

Reason  Date of 

Removal 

C&FS  3.7 If the quality of data in 
Children and Families 
(C&FS) Information 
Management System is too 
low to satisfy statutory 
requirements (e.g. data 
returns) this will impact upon 
service delivery 

16  
 
 
 

The current risk score has been downgraded from 16 to 12. - 
tableau reports have been embedded; and are now accessible to 
Team Managers and Business Support. This is led by two Heads of 
Service who jointly oversee quality meetings. 
 
This risk has been removed from the Corporate Risk Register, but it 
will continue to be monitored through the Children & Family 
Services Departmental Risk Register. 
 

26 July 2019 

CR 1.4 If claims relating to 
uninsured risks materialise 
or continue to increase then 
LCC will need to find 
increased payments from 
reserves, impacting on funds 
available to support services  
 

16 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The level of reserves is sufficient to reduce the current risk score 
from 16 to 12 and the risk will be managed and monitored at 
Departmental level via the Risk Register - Corporate Resources.  

1 November 
2019 

All 3.5 If the Council fails to 
maintain robust records 
management processes to 
effectively manage 
information under its 
custodianship, personal data 
may not be processed in 
compliance with the Data 
Protection Act 1998 resulting 
in regulatory action and/or 
reputational damage. 

15 
 

Resources to address highest assessed physical record risks now 
being put in place (priorities agreed with Chief Officers in summer 
2019).  Risk levels regularly monitored by central team. Email 
storage / destruction approach agreed at Information Governance 
Board (September 2019). 
 
The current risk score has been reduced from 15 to 12 and the risk 
will be managed and monitored at Departmental level via the Risk 
Register -Corporate Resources.  

1 November 
2019 

CR 
 

4.1 
 

If the Authority does not 
obtain the required value 
and level of performance 
from its providers and 
suppliers, then the cost of 
services will increase, and 
service delivery will be 
impacted. 

15 
 

A review of the risk has resulted in the current risk score reduced 
from 15 to 12 and the risk will be managed and monitored at 
Departmental level (Corporate Resources).   
 

1 November 
2019 

 

28



Dept. CRR 

Risk 

No 

Risk Description Current 

Risk 

Score 

Reason  Date of 

Removal 

 A&C 7.3 If the department does not 
have a sustainable external 
workforce to work with it may 
be unable to meet its 
statutory responsibilities. 

16 
 

The Department has reviewed the risk and reduced the current risk 
score from 16 to 12. Planning and timescales for action further 
progressed with domiciliary care to be re-commissioned in 2021 
and residential care fee increase coming into effect from 2019/20. 
The risk will continue to be monitored as part of the A&C 
Departmental Risk Register. 
 

Removed 
1 November 

2019 
 

Re-instated 
31 January 

2020 
 

CR 
 

3.2 
 

If the Council has a GDPR 
breach, then there could be 
a risk of significant liability 
claims 

15 Significant work has taken place to mitigate the risks around GDPR. 
Compliance continues to be monitored and strengthened 
governance arrangements are now fully implemented to monitor 
and identify any emerging risks. The Current Risk Score has been 
reduced from 15 to 12 and the risk will continue to be monitored 
through the Corporate Resources Departmental Register. 
 

31 January 
2020 

E&T  4.2 If Arriva is successful in its 
concessionary travel appeal, 
then reimbursement costs 
for the total scheme could 
increase significantly. 
 

15 Discussions with Arriva are ongoing.  The risk will continue to be 
monitored as part of the E&T Departmental Risk Register. 

31 January 
2020 

E&T 9.3 If the Council is not able to 
deliver on the commitments 
it has made in its climate 
emergency declaration due 
to the complexity and 
difficulty of some of the 
decisions and actions that 
will need to be made, then 
this will impact on the 
Council’s ability to fulfil its 
leadership role and have 
financial and reputational 
consequences. 

15 
 

I5/L3 
 

An updated Environment Strategy and Action Plan was agreed by 
the Council on 8 July 2020. The Council now has an up to date 
statement of its environmental priorities and objectives which is 
aligned with its climate emergency declaration and its framework for 
action to achieve the commitments on the Council’s own carbon 
emissions and against which its performance can be objectively 
assessed. The current risk score has been reduced from 15 to 12 
and the and the risk will continue to be monitored through the E&T 
Dept Register. 
 

25 November 
2020 

 

29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Fraud Risk Assessment - 2020/21 Appendix 2

  

# Area Impact Likelihood Risk Score

1 Covid-19 Related Fraud Areas, e.g. disaster fraud, economic relief scheme fraud. 5 5 25

COMMON FRAUD AREAS (EXCLUDING NFI)

2 Members' Allowances / Expenses 5 1 5

3 Council Tax Discount / Local Council Tax Support 2 2 4

4 Business Rate Fraud 2 2 4

5 Procurement - From initial need development through to contract award 3 3 9

6 Procurement - Contract Management Fraud - Supplier manipulating its contract with the council 

for financial gain- i.e. duplicate payments, inaccurate payments, claims for additional work etc.

3 3 9

7 Procurement Cards 1 4 4

8 Economic and Voluntary Sector Support Fraud / Grant Fraud 2 1 2

9 Employee Fraud - Allowances & Expenses 3 3 9

10 Employee Fraud - Recruitment 2 2 4

11 Employee Fraud - Ghost Employees 2 1 2

12 Creditor Fraud - False Payments 2 2 4

13 Mandate Fraud 3 2 6

14 Schools - LA Maintained 2 5 10

15 Residential and Non-Residential Adult Social Care - Deprivation of Income 5 3 15

16 Adult Social Care - Abuse of Service Users' Funds, Property etc. 5 3 15

17 Adult Social Care - Personal Budgets 2 5 10

NATIONAL FRAUD INITIATIVE (NFI) RELATED FRAUD AREAS

18 Pension Fraud - died but still being paid - NFI Report 52 2 1 2

19 Pension Fraud - pensioner reemployed - NFI Reports 54, 55, 78 1 1 1

20 Employee Fraud - abuse / misuse of time and resources - NFI Reports 65, 66, 68 4 3 9

21 Employee Fraud - no entitlement to work in the UK - NFI Reports 70, 73 2 3 6

22 Employee / Procurement Fraud - improper employee / supplier relationship - NFI Reports 80, 81 2 3 6

23 Blue Badge Misuse - NFI Reports 170, 172 2 3 6

24 Concessionary Travel  NFI Report 172 1 3 3

25 Residential Care - continuing to pay care home fees etc. after a SU dies - NFI Report 173 2 3 6

26 Insurance Claimants - NFI Report 180 1 5 5

27 Creditors - duplicate payments - NFI Reports 700-703, 707-713 3 2 6

FRAUD - OTHER - CASH & ASSETS

28 Foodcourt - Cash & Stock 1 2 2

29 Libraries - Cash & Assets 1 3 3

30 Museums - Cash & Assets 2 3 6

31 Registration Service - Cash & Assets (incl. risk of identy theft) 3 1 3

32 Registration Service - Public Protection & Counter Fraud Issues, e.g. misinformation to obtain 

welfare/benefits, identity theft, sham marriages
3 2 6

33 Beaumanor Hall - Cash and Stock 1 2 2

34 Country Parks - Cash and Assets 1 1 1

35 Adult Learning Service - Cash 2 4 8

36 Leicestershire Highways - MOTs - Cash, fraudulent use of certificates etc. 1 2 2

37 Leicestershire Highways - Stores, Plant etc. 3 2 6

38 Central Print Service - Cash & Assets 1 1 1

39 Integrated Passenger Transport Unit - Misuse of Assets, e.g. vehicles 1 5 5

40 Misappropriation of Surplus Assets, e.g. furniture, ICT 1 3 3

41 Imprest Accounts / IRSs 1 3 3

42 Money Laundering Activity 2 2 4

43 Public Health – activity level based payments’ 3 2 6

E-FRAUD

44 Cyber Fraud 4 4 16

Under the 'Identify risks' principle of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Counter Fraud (2014) there are recommendations that fraud risks are 

routinely considered as part of the organisation’s risk management arrangements and that the organisation identifies the risks of bribery and 

corruption and the importance of behaving with integrity in its governance framework. 

31



# Area Impact Likelihood Risk Score

BRIBERY & CORRUPTION

45 From a prospective contractor to influence the outcome of a procurement exercise 4 2 8

46 From a member of the public in return for priority over fostering and adoption approvals 4 1 4

47 From a businesses or ‘rogue traders’ in return for not investigating trading standards complaints 

or not investigating offences/not instituting legal proceedings

3 1 1

48 From a parent in return for the allocation of a school place which they are otherwise not entitled 

to
3 1 3

49 Bribing an external assessment agency (e.g. OfSTED, CQC) to issue a positive report when this 

otherwise wouldn't be the case
4 1 4

50 Bribery with regard to matters concerning investments 4 1 4

51 Bribing an elected member, e.g. development & planning decisions 4 1 4

 

32



 

 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - 25TH NOVEMBER 2020 
 

EXTERNAL AUDIT OF THE 2019/20 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS, 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT & PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
 
 
Purpose of Report  
 
1. The external audit is underway as planned in accordance with the extended 

completion dates of the end of November 2020 per The Accounts and Audit 
Regulations (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020.  
 

2. The audit is progressing well and no issues are expected.   
 

3. The external auditors report is being prepared and is expected by Friday 20 

November 2020. A copy will be forwarded to members of the committee as soon as it 
is received so that it can be considered at the Committee meeting on 25 November 
2020. 
 
 

 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,  
Corporate Resources Department, 
0116 305 6199    E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property),  
Corporate Resources Department,  
0116 305 7668   E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
  

33 Agenda Item 7

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
file://///lccfp1/findata/Corp/rlakhani/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/jfirth/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/0ABUO68F/Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 25 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

UPDATE ON NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE (NAO) – GUIDE FOR AUDIT & 
RISK COMMITTEES ON FINANCIAL REPORTING AND MANAGEMENT 

DURING COVID-19 
 
 
 
Purpose 
 
1. To inform the Corporate Governance Committee (the Committee) how the County 

Council has responded to the National Audit Office’s (NAO) guide for Audit & Risk 
Committees on financial reporting and management during Covid-19.  
 

Background 
 
2. On 24 June 2020, the NAO published a guide for Audit & Risk Committees on 

financial reporting and management during Covid-19. The guide was part of a 
programme of work being undertaken by the NAO to support Parliament in its 
scrutiny of the UK government’s response to Covid-19.  Their aim was to report in a 
risk-based way on programmes and activities being undertaken by government 
departments and other organisations, and also to support organisations’ own internal 
scrutiny and challenge. In each section of the guide, the NAO set out some questions 
that could help audit and risk committee members to understand and challenge 
activities 
 

3. The guide was in four parts: The Annual Report, Financial Reporting, Control 
Environment, and Regularity of Expenditure. A copy is attached as an Appendix to 
this report.  

 
4. The Committee considered a report at its meeting on 24 July 2020 which gave brief 

details on how the County Council was responding at that time to the NAO guidance. 
This report provides an update on three of the four parts. An update on final part, 
‘Financial Reporting’ will be provided in the report on the External Audit of the 2019-
20 Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and Pension Fund 
Accounts (agenda item 7).     
 

Annual Report 
  
5. The NAO guidance highlighted how an annual report is a key mechanism for 

transparent disclosure of an organisation’s performance and that disclosures in the 
report would help to provide information about the impact of Covid-19 on the 
organisation.  Annual report disclosures are expected to consider the period up to 

 
35 Agenda Item 8



when the document is published. The guidance suggested key questions that Audit 
Committee members could ask including: - 

a. has COVID-19 caused new risks to achieving the organisation’s stated 
objectives? 

b. does the performance report reflect the impact of COVID-19 on the 
organisation’s performance? 
 

6. The County Council produces a full Annual Delivery Report and Performance 
Compendium each year. The draft Annual Delivery Report and Performance 
Compendium 2020 were considered by the Scrutiny Commission on 4 November and 
Cabinet on 20 November and are scheduled for consideration by the County Council 
at its meeting on 2 December. The final Annual Report will be published on the 
County Council website together with a shorter summary version. 

 
7. The Annual Delivery Report focuses largely on delivery against the County Council’s 

five priorities as set out in the Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22 and other main 
service strategies, particularly during the first half of the year. However, the 2019-20 
report also sets out some of the impact, significant new work and reorientation 
required to support the Council’s major responses to the coronavirus pandemic, 
which impacted on the priorities during the second half of the year and remains 
ongoing. Responses included: - 

 
a. Local Resilience Forum (LRF), LLR Prepared – co-ordination of multi-agency 

response; support of distribution of PPE to key workers; ensuring effective 
mortality support; 

b. Trading Standards - enhanced regulatory role e.g. significant PPE imports, 
advice and safety checks/compliance; advice to businesses entering the 
market; ensuring business compliance with restrictions; issue and monitor 
restriction/closure notices; 

c. Public Health - providing local health advice; piloting local test and trace 
arrangements; working to keep residents safe during lockdown; incident 
management; implementation of rapid local actions; digital health services; 

d. Adult Social Care – support to care homes; staff redeployed into new roles to 
support efforts including essential calls to vulnerable people; support those 
with mental health needs; 

e. Contracts and commissioning - supported independent providers to access 
PPE and those with learning disability to understand new guidelines; sought 
PPE donations for key workers; 

f. Children and Families - schools supported with advice, re-opening for 
children of essential workers; schools and services offered care, food and 
support to families in need; additional educational psychology service help; 

g. Vulnerable children - normal services with visits and online contacts; 
campaign sought to raise awareness of safeguarding issues during 
lockdown; face to face, video, online group and skype sessions; food parcels 
offered to support families struggling to access essentials. 

h. Communities Service – managed the Communities Fund to support voluntary 
and community sector groups to help vulnerable people and mobilise and 
support volunteers; Created Shielding Vulnerable People team provided a 
dedicated response to 25,000 people identified including initial calls and 
supporting with essential supplies, and basic care. 

i. Business Recovery Fund established, and new economic recovery strategy 
and plans developed. Market town preparedness supported and pop-up 

36



walking and cycling routes created through the Active Travel Fund. Extra 
school bus support provided. 

j. Corporate Response - business continuity plans enacted quickly and lower 
priority work paused; resilience planning - daily meetings focusing on 
supplies of PPE; 90% of staff supported to work from home; a range of staff 
redeployed into new roles; enhanced wellbeing support, sickness advice and 
organisational communications; interim recovery plans developed to recover 
services; enhanced budget management and reprioritisation of revenue and 
capital spend; ensured buildings were Covid-19 secure; assessed and 
managed the impact on commercial services income. 

 
8. The Annual Performance Compendium reflects that the Annual Governance 

Statement (AGS) for 2019-20 also reviewed the Council’s response to, and planned 
recovery from Covid-19 and that a significant governance issue was identified in 
relation to the impact of the virus and of recovery of services on the Council’s 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy. The AGS reported that the crisis will have a 
profound impact on the Council’s financial position and the way in which services are 
delivered and the pandemic has seriously prejudiced the achievement of some of the 
principal objectives of the Council’s Strategic Plan. Delivery of the Strategic Plan will 
continue to be monitored and reviewed in the light of the challenging financial and 
service environment. 
 

9. The Annual Performance Compendium also reflects that the Council has a good risk 
management process to help it to identify possible risks, score these in terms of 
likelihood and impact and take mitigating actions. It refers to the specific Covid-19 
risk added to the Corporate Risk Register following the meeting of the Corporate 
Governance Committee on 12 June 2020, ‘If the Council does not plan, prepare and 
respond adequately to future developments in relation to both the COVID 19 
pandemic and recovery to a “new normal” level of services it could suffer long lasting 
economic, environmental, societal and technological challenges and miss 
opportunities’. The Compendium also reflects that the Council continues to maintain 
a strong financial control environment and deploys its internal audit service on a 
range of assurance areas.  

 
10. Part 3 of the Compendium uses performance indicators to compare the Council’s 

performance over time against targets and with other local authorities. Comparison or 
benchmarking helps to place Leicestershire’s performance in context and also to 
prompt questions such as ‘why are other councils performing differently to us?’ or 
why are other councils providing cheaper or more expensive services? Commentary 
is provided for each Performance Indicator (over 20) that was affected in some way 
by Covid-19 and the authors looked to include later (than 2019-20) in-year data 
where it was available that showed some of the potential impact areas – such as 
recent increases in unemployment and pressures on families and mental health for 
example. With increased risks to services overall.        

 
11. In addition to the County Council’s Annual Delivery Report and Performance 

Compendium, Directors of Public Health have a statutory duty to publish an Annual 
Public Health Report that describes the state of health within their communities. New 
indicators on Covid-19 will be included in the report and more details on the public 
health situation included. The statutory report is normally reported to the November 
meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, however, because of the 
demands on the Director of Public Health, the timeline for publication has been 
extended to the beginning of 2021.  

 

37



12. It is considered that the Council’s wide scope of annual reporting will conform to the 
NAO guidance.          

 
Financial Reporting 
 
13. This section covers the Statement of Accounts, and in particular the following areas: 

 

 valuations, including property, pension scheme and inventory valuations; 

 completeness of liabilities; 

 going concern; 

 events after the reporting period. 
    
14. An update on ‘Financial Reporting’ will be provided in the report on the External Audit 

of the 2019-20 Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and Pension 
Fund Accounts. 
  

Control Environment 
 
15. This section recognises that internal controls may have stopped, required 

modification or been overridden by new controls introduced to adapt to the impact of 
the Covid-19 outbreak.  Changes may have been made at pace to respond to a 
dynamic environment, which may impact effectiveness. 
 

16. The guide points out that changes in controls may have occurred due to:  
 

a. Remote working may have impacted the ability for controls to operate as 
designed. 

b. Operational imperative to deliver more quickly or due to changes in staff 
availability. 

c. New activities not previously undertaken by the Council. 
d. Senior management oversight may have been reduced due to urgent 

operational priorities. 
e. IT security systems may not have been designed for large-scale remote 

working. 
 

17. The guide suggested key questions that Audit Committee members could ask. Here 
they are listed with a brief summary of responses: - 
 

a. Were any changes needed to the design and implementation of internal 
controls to respond to COVID-19? 

 Yes – The Internal Audit Service (IAS) initiated providing advice on 
the design and implementation of internal controls from mid-March. In 
mid-April, the Head of Internal Audit Service (HoIAS) reminded the 
Council’s senior managers of their responsibility to ensure that the 
Council’s underlying control environment did not rapidly diminish to 
the point it became out of control and a danger to future organisational 
stability. The most recent update/reminder was in early November, 
informing managers that Departmental Finance Business Partner 
Teams and/or IAS must be consulted at an early stage on any major 
system development or process amendments, whether this is as a 
result of Covid-19 or not. A record is maintained by IAS of the advice 
and assurance work it has conducted throughout the pandemic 
period. 

 

38



b. Where changes were made to controls, did the organisation understand 
where there was increased risk because of this? 

 Yes - Some changes had to be made urgently and immediately. 
Whilst there wasn’t a formal process to capture risk analysis and 
evaluation, the HoIAS’ internal control reminder advised that a good 
audit trail and robust data quality was important to support the very 
significant decisions that were being made at pace.   

 
c. Has remote working affected the operational effectiveness of internal 

controls? 

 Not known of – IAS continues to monitor the Council’s IT changes and 
when seeking assurance on Remote Access Security, it was advised 
that the existing methods of working from home have been scaled up 
to cope with the additional demand rather than new methods 
introduced. In other words IT services have deployed tried and test 
methods rather than rapidly deploying new/untested methods and 
technology. 

 The softer controls of supervision and performance management are 
more difficult to track, but issues that have arisen in other 
organisations do not appear to have been prevalent at the Council   

 
d. How have IT services performed during the outbreak? 

 Very well – whilst there were inevitable initial problems due to 
extremely high demand in a very short period of time, major IT support 
was deployed to implement mobile and home working in response to 
the Covid-19 pandemic, including provision of laptops and other 
technology to a wider range of staff, as well as enhancements to the 
speed of the council network and servers. 

 At its meeting on 24 July 2020, the Corporate Governance Committee 
received a presentation on Cyber Security Risk Management which 
included details of Covid-19 associated cyber risks and how the 
Council had responded to mitigate them. These included using proven 
technology to support increase in homeworking, bolstered incident 
response plans, active threat monitoring, monitoring for use of non-
approved technology, increased staff communication to counter the 
threats and improved resilience of the general network and 
infrastructure. 

 Beyond cyber security risk, IAS is currently concluding its work to 
evaluate other IT responsibilities during the outbreak i.e. Remote 
Access Security; Access management to systems for re-deployed 
staff; Network Performance - more demand for WFH; Capacity 
management; Patching; Collaboration Tools; Asset Management 
(procurement and management of new kit) and Software licensing. 
Whilst a few recommendations will be forthcoming, good levels of 
assurance have been obtained that these areas are being well 
managed.    

 
e. Where service organisations are used, have there been any changes to the 

design and implementation of their controls? 

 Yes – but similar to the County Council, it is primarily the location of 
the control that has changed, not the mechanism. 

 The Council receives its payroll and financial payments and 
receivables services from EMSS. Its Annual Report highlights that the 

39



business absorbed the challenges thrown up by the Covid 19 crisis 
that totally changed the way its services are delivered e.g. service 
desks were moved from an internal phone system to Anywhere365 to 
allow staff to work remotely; there were additional requirements that 
the situation brought including the emergency supplier set ups for 
PPE equipment, emergency payments required for business grants 
and charities as well as multiple refunds for annual services. 
Additionally, a debt management control (threat of legal action) was 
temporarily suspended. 

 EMSS operates to the Council’s IT arrangements so would be subject 
to the same assurances reported above. 

 
18. The NAO questions do provide the HoIAS with some additional thoughts (particularly 

around sustainability of new controls) with which to strengthen the assurance given.  
This will be incorporated into future audit planning and any significant outcomes 
would be reported back to Committee. 

 
Regularity of Expenditure 

 
19. This final part of the guide recognises that organisations such as the Council have 

been required to increase spending and, in some circumstances, incur expenditure 
on activities outside those permitted by original authorising legislation or other 
applicable delegated authority. 

 
20. The guide suggested a number of questions could be asked by Audit Committees: 

 
a. Have there been any significant changes to the organisation’s activities 

during the outbreak? 

 Yes – these are outlined in paragraph 7 above. Whilst some activities 
were extensions of normal demands, there were new significant 
changes to deal with the pandemic 

 
b. Has the accounting officer assessed the reasonableness of increased 

expenditure or new activities in the context of Managing Public Money? 

 Yes - There is an expectation that even in circumstances of significant 
disruption and upheaval, the Council’s Chief Financial Officer (and the 
Monitoring Officer) should still ensure that all expenditure adheres to 
the principles of regularity, propriety, value for money and feasibility. 
The Director of Corporate Resources promptly issued guidance to 
managing some of the financial scenarios that LCC was likely to 
encounter for the duration of the Covid situation which included 
corporate approval limits for decisions on new expenditure areas and 
the approach to take for reduced services and any supplier requests 
for additional payments. 

 The IAS has undertaken audits of systems developed for payments to 
adult social care providers, grants from the Communities Fund (and 
currently Business Recovery Grants), home equipment and travel 
allowances and a wide range of grant claims. Audits of payments to 
taxi companies and winter grants are scheduled. 

 
c. Is there any new expenditure that could be deemed novel and contentious? 

 Whilst some of the payments made would not be considered in the 
normal course of business, such as advance payments or payments 
for a reduced service, these were made in the context of pandemic 

40



driven financial pressures, within government guidance and with the 
long term interests of Leicestershire in mind.  As such any novel 
payments are justifiable and within the normal range of responses 
seen from other local authorities 

 
d. Has management breached any control totals? 

 The majority of departments are overspending in the current financial 
year. All instances are unavoidable rather than discretionary due to 
Covid-19 related demand, reduced income due to Covid-19 and 
unavoidable service demand. Appropriate measure have been taken 
to ensure that there is awareness of the situation and mitigating 
actions to ensure that the current year budget can be balanced. 

 
e. Have the provisions in Procurement Policy Note 02/2020 been used by 

management? 

 Yes - The Director of Corporate Resources developed a system for 
emergency procurements in line with Cabinet Office guidance which 
requires full justification and authorisation by the appropriate 
Commercial Specialist, Chief Officer and if required the Director of 
Law & Governance. 

 The IAS is scheduled to undertake some assurance work on 
emergency procurements. 

 
 

21. The guide also raises questions relating to fraud and error. Key questions that could 
be asked by the Audit Committee are: - 

a. What exposure to fraud and error does the organisation have in its 
responses to COVID-19? 

b. How is the organisation managing fraud and error risks? 
c. What processes are in place to measure fraud and error and evaluate the 

effectiveness of activities to prevent or detect this? 

 A brief summary of IAS work on Covid-19 related fraud is contained in 
Appendix 2  
 

Conclusion 
 
22. This report has provided reasonable detail on how the County Council has 

responded to the National Audit Office’s (NAO) guide for Audit & Risk Committees on 
financial reporting and management during Covid-19. The situation will continue to 
be monitored and the Committee will receive either a further update report or there 
will be referencing to further work undertaken in a future Internal Audit Service 
Progress report.   

 
Recommendation 
 
23. The Committee is asked to note the attached guide and to provide any comments. 

  
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
24. None. 

 
 

41



Circulation Under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
25. None.   
  
Background Papers  
  
26. Report to the Scrutiny Commission on 4 November 2020: Annual Delivery Report 

and Performance Compendium for 2020 
 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157566/Annual%20Delivery%20and%20Perfor
mance%20Compendium%2019-20.pdf 

 
27. Report to the Cabinet 20 November 2020: Draft Annual Delivery Report and 

Performance Compendium for 2020 
 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157816/Final%20Annual%20Perfromance%20
Report%20Accessible.pdf 
 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157819/Appendix%20A%20-
%20Annual%20Delivery%20Report%202020%20ScrutinyCabinet.pdf 
 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157819/Appendix%20A%20-
%20Annual%20Delivery%20Report%202020%20ScrutinyCabinet.pdf 

 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,  
Corporate Resources Department, 
0116 305 6199    E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property),  
Corporate Resources Department,  
0116 305 7668   E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr N Jones, Head of Internal Audit & Assurance Service 
Corporate Resources Department 
0116 305 7629   E-mail Neil.Jones@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 National Audit Office’s (NAO) guide for Audit & Risk Committees on 

financial reporting and management during Covid-19 
 

Appendix 2 Counter Fraud Work During Covid-19 
 
 
 

42

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157566/Annual%20Delivery%20and%20Performance%20Compendium%2019-20.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157566/Annual%20Delivery%20and%20Performance%20Compendium%2019-20.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157816/Final%20Annual%20Perfromance%20Report%20Accessible.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157816/Final%20Annual%20Perfromance%20Report%20Accessible.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157819/Appendix%20A%20-%20Annual%20Delivery%20Report%202020%20ScrutinyCabinet.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157819/Appendix%20A%20-%20Annual%20Delivery%20Report%202020%20ScrutinyCabinet.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157819/Appendix%20A%20-%20Annual%20Delivery%20Report%202020%20ScrutinyCabinet.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157819/Appendix%20A%20-%20Annual%20Delivery%20Report%202020%20ScrutinyCabinet.pdf
mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
file://///LCCFP1/AUDIT$/4.9%20Audit%20Committees/Corporate%20Governance%20Committee/2020%20-%2021/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/062X32GF/Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Neil.Jones@leics.gov.uk


Report
by the Comptroller  
and Auditor General

Good Practice Guide

Guide for audit and risk 
committees on financial 
reporting and management 
during COVID-19

HC 524 SESSION 2019–2021 24 JUNE 2020

A picture of the National Audit Office logo

43

EWalters
Text Box
Appendix 1



We are the UK’s independent public spending watchdog.
We support Parliament in holding government to account and 
we help improve public services through our high-quality audits.

The National Audit Office (NAO) scrutinises public spending for Parliament and is independent 
of government and the civil service. We help Parliament hold government to account and 
we use our insights to help people who manage and govern public bodies improve public 
services. The Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG), Gareth Davies, is an Officer of the 
House of Commons and leads the NAO. We audit the financial accounts of departments and 
other public bodies. We also examine and report on the value for money of how public money 
has been spent. In 2018, the NAO’s work led to a positive financial impact through reduced 
costs, improved service delivery, or other benefits to citizens, of £539 million.

44



Good Practice Guide

Guide for audit and risk 
committees on financial 
reporting and management 
during COVID-19

Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General

Ordered by the House of Commons 
to be printed on 23 June 2020

This guide has been prepared under Section 6 of the 
National Audit Act 1983 for presentation to the House of 
Commons in accordance with Section 9 of the Act

Gareth Davies 
Comptroller and Auditor General 
National Audit Office

22 June 2020

HC 524 | £10.00

45



This guide aims to help audit and risk committee 
members discharge their responsibilities and to examine 
the impacts on their organisations of the COVID-19 
outbreak. It is part of a programme of work undertaken 
by the NAO to support Parliament in its scrutiny of the 
UK government’s response to COVID-19.

© National Audit Office 2020

The material featured in this document is subject to 
National Audit Office (NAO) copyright. The material 
may be copied or reproduced for non-commercial 
purposes only, namely reproduction for research, 
private study or for limited internal circulation within 
an organisation for the purpose of review. 

Copying for non-commercial purposes is subject 
to the material being accompanied by a sufficient 
acknowledgement, reproduced accurately, and not 
being used in a misleading context. To reproduce 
NAO copyright material for any other use, you must 
contact copyright@nao.org.uk. Please tell us who you 
are, the organisation you represent (if any) and how 
and why you wish to use our material. Please include 
your full contact details: name, address, telephone 
number and email. 

Please note that the material featured in this 
document may not be reproduced for commercial 
gain without the NAO’s express and direct 
permission and that the NAO reserves its right to 
pursue copyright infringement proceedings against 
individuals or companies who reproduce material for 
commercial gain without our permission.

Links to external websites were valid at the time of 
publication of this report. The National Audit Office 
is not responsible for the future validity of the links.

009156 06/20 NAO

Good practice guide
We publish good practice guides on important issues to make it easier for 
others to understand and apply the lessons from our work. 

46



The National Audit Office study team 
consisted of: 
Charlotte Borg and Robert O’Donoghue, 
under the direction of Siân Jones. 

This guide can be found on the  
National Audit Office website at  
www.nao.org.uk

For further information about the 
National Audit Office please contact:

National Audit Office 
Press Office 
157–197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London 
SW1W 9SP

Tel: 020 7798 7400

Enquiries: www.nao.org.uk/contact-us

Website: www.nao.org.uk

Twitter: @NAOorguk

Contents
Introduction 4

Part One
Annual reports 6

Part Two
Financial reporting 8

Part Three
Control environment 15

Part Four
Regularity of expenditure 17

Appendix One
Key questions to ask 21

Appendix Two
Further resources 26

Appendix Three
National Audit Office’s Fraud and 
Error Framework 28

If you are reading this document with a screen reader you may wish to use the bookmarks option to navigate through the parts. If 
you require any of the graphics in another format, we can provide this on request. Please email us at www.nao.org.uk/contact-us

47



4 Introduction Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19

Introduction

Background

1 The scale and nature of the current COVID-19 outbreak and government’s 
response is unprecedented in recent history. The outbreak has impacted on all 
public sector bodies, either through delivering the government’s response, or in 
dealing with challenges for individual organisations.

2 This guide is part of a programme of work to be undertaken by the National 
Audit Office (NAO) to support Parliament in its scrutiny of the UK government’s 
response to COVID-19. Our aim is to report in a risk-based way on programmes and 
activities being undertaken by government departments and other organisations, 
and also to support organisations’ own internal scrutiny and challenge.

3 Audit and risk committees are integral to the scrutiny and challenge process. 
They advise boards and accounting officers on matters of financial accountability, 
assurance and governance, and can support organisations, providing expert 
challenge, helping organisations focus on what is important, and how best to 
manage risk.

4 Each organisation will have existing risk management processes in place, 
but risk appetite may have changed as a result of COVID-19, for the organisation 
to operate effectively and respond in a timely manner. This may result in a 
weakening of controls in some areas, increasing the likelihood of other risks 
occurring. Organisations will need to consider how long this change in risk 
appetite is sustainable for.

48



Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Introduction 5 

This guide

5 This guide aims to help audit and risk committee members discharge their 
responsibilities in several different areas, and to examine the impacts on their 
organisations of the COVID-19 outbreak, including on:

• annual reports;

• financial reporting;

• the control environment; and

• regularity of expenditure.

6 In each section of the guide we have set out some questions to help audit 
and risk committee members to understand and challenge activities. Each section  
can be used on its own, although we would recommend that audit and risk 
committee members consider the whole guide, as the questions in other sections 
may be interrelated. Each individual section has the questions at the end, but for 
ease of use all the questions are included in Appendix One.

7 The guide may also be used as organisations and audit and risk 
committees consider reporting in the 2020-21 period when more specific and 
detailed reporting on the outbreak will be required.

8 While this guide is intended to be a comprehensive consideration of areas 
that organisations, and audit and risk committees, will need to consider, each 
organisation will need to take account of its own unique circumstances in 
considering the impact of COVID-19. The guide is not exhaustive, and we would 
expect each organisation to familiarise themselves with the underlying guidance 
where relevant.

49



6 Part One Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 

Part One

Annual reports

1.1 The annual report is a key mechanism for transparent disclosure of an 
organisation’s in-year performance and governance matters. Disclosures in the 
annual report will help to provide information about the impact of COVID-19 on 
the organisation to users of annual reports and accounts.

1.2 This part sets out HM Treasury’s requirements for annual reports and 
potential questions for audit and risk committees to ask in the context of 
COVID-19.1 While the significant impacts of the outbreak only emerged in the 
UK in mid-March, there are some impacts in 2019-20. Annual report disclosures 
are expected to consider the period up to when the document is published.

Performance report

1.3 The purpose of the performance section of the annual report is to provide 
information on the entity, its main objectives and strategies and the principal risks it 
faces. The report should discuss how the entity has performed in the year, including 
areas where performance has deteriorated or is below expectations, where money 
has been spent and the other key risks impacting on the organisation.

1.4 HM Treasury expects that the performance report will detail the impact 
of COVID-19 on the organisation in 2019-20. While reporting could be more 
streamlined than in prior years, it should still provide enough information to satisfy 
parliamentary accountability and provide appropriate transparency. Any planned 
streamlining should be agreed with the relevant select committee or department 
before approval of the annual report and accounts.

1 We have summarised HM Treasury’s requirements for annual reports in this part. The full requirements can be 
found in the Government Financial Reporting Manual here: www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-
financial-reporting-manual-2019-20. Specific COVID-19-related updates to this manual can be found here:  
www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-reporting-manual-addendum-2019-20

50



Box A: Annual reports – questions audit and risk committees could ask

Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Part One 7 

Accountability report

1.5 The purpose of the accountability section of the annual report is to 
meet key accountability requirements of Parliament. In the context of COVID-19, 
the corporate governance report element of the accountability report provides 
an important mechanism for organisations to outline how COVID-19 has 
affected governance arrangements, the control environment, changes to their 
risks and risk appetite, as well as any relevant considerations in relation to 
the regularity of expenditure.

Has COVID-19 caused new risks to achieving the organisation’s stated objectives? 

• Does the performance report reflect the impact of COVID-19 on the organisation’s performance 
against objectives in the year? 

• Does it clearly consider whether COVID-19 influenced the organisation’s ability to 
meet objectives? 

• Does it consider the organisation’s performance in general, including where this deteriorated 
or was below expectations? 

Does the corporate governance report consider whether expenditure in response to COVID-19 was 
in line with parliamentary authority (regular) and in accordance with the principles of Managing 
Public Money?2

• Where this was not the case, has this been clearly disclosed?

Does the corporate governance report detail how the control environment has changed due to 
COVID-19 and the risks associated with these changes? 

• How does the report discuss new risks in relation to COVID-19 and the associated 
responses to these? 

• Does the report discuss how the organisation’s risk appetite has changed?

• Where relevant, has any streamlining to the annual report due to COVID-19 been agreed 
with the relevant select committee or parent department?

Box A: Annual reports – questions audit and risk committees could ask

2 HM Treasury, Managing Public Money is available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-public-money

51



8 Part Two Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 

Part Two

Financial reporting

2.1 The effects of the COVID-19 outbreak and response could appear in 
different areas of the financial statements. This part considers key questions for 
audit and risk committees to consider, including:

• valuations, including property, pension scheme and inventory valuations;

• completeness of liabilities;

• going concern; and

• events after the reporting period.

Valuations

2.2 The economic uncertainty caused by COVID-19 has made valuations of 
assets and liabilities more challenging for 2019-20. We expect the biggest issues 
for management to be accessing reliable data sources to base valuations on, as 
well as significantly increased estimation uncertainty. Therefore, management 
should consider the following areas in preparing valuations for financial statements:

• Whether usual sources of information for valuations remain appropriate in 
the context of COVID-19 uncertainties, and if not, what alternative sources 
of information are available.

• Whether assumptions used in valuation models/estimates require updating 
because of COVID-19. This should include considerations that underpin 
credit loss calculations and impairment reviews where COVID-19 has 
changed the circumstances for creditors and markets.

• If there are additional sources of information that should be used for 
valuation judgements – such as updated customer information to determine 
expected credit losses or impairments.

• Whether there are practical impacts for some organisations where lockdown 
measures limit the ability for valuers to complete work on physical assets, 
including stock-takes as noted in the inventory valuations section below.

• If there will be more appropriate information that gives an indication 
of the situation at the year-end available before the finalisation of the 
financial statements.

52



Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Part Two 9 

2.3 The financial statement disclosures should also be transparent in setting out 
all sensitive and material assumptions made in determining valuations.

What information has been used in determining the value of assets and liabilities? 

• In the absence of timely information, how has management estimated valuations? Is this 
reasonable? How have changes in valuations for reasons due to COVID-19 been considered? 
Is there any other information that should be considered?

How have experts been used to support management in valuations? 

• Where experts’ work was completed before the reporting date, how has management gained 
comfort that the valuation remains appropriate? 

• Have the experts provided any caveats on their advice? If so, how have these been considered?

What are the key assumptions used to determine valuations and how has the relative probability 
of various outcome scenarios been assessed? 

• Have the key assumptions been disclosed clearly? 

Box B: Valuations – questions audit and risk committees could ask

Property valuations

2.4 The impact of COVID-19 on the economy and the impact of government 
restrictions has led to a significant slowing of the property market. As of April 2020, 
property sales in the UK were 46% lower than in March.3 This makes it more 
difficult for management, and its experts, to value significant property portfolios. 
In addition to the general valuation considerations set out above, we expect there 
could be specific challenges in the following areas of property valuation:

• Where management uses an expert to value property, the expert may 
include material uncertainty clauses in valuation reports, given the uncertain 
environment, which management will need to consider.

• Organisations not due to revalue property in 2019-20 may be using an 
indexation method to uplift prior-year valuations. Due to the lack of reliable 
and appropriate market data, organisations may find it difficult to identify 
appropriate indices to use.

• There are practical challenges due to the outbreak in relation to the physical 
verification of assets, impacting valuation judgements.

3 HM Revenue & Customs, UK Property Transactions Statistics, April 2020 update, available at:  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/886277/
MPT_Com_May_20__cir_.pdf

53

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/886277/MPT_Com_May_20__cir_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/886277/MPT_Com_May_20__cir_.pdf


Box C: Property valuations – questions audit and risk committees could ask

10 Part Two Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 

What data have management used for property valuations? 

• Is this reasonable? Are there other data that could be used?

• Do these data consider how the market changed in late March 2020? 

How have experts been used to support management in valuing property?  

• Where experts’ work was completed before the reporting date, how has management gained 
comfort that the valuation remains appropriate? 

• If experts were not used for property valuations, should they have been given the 
current uncertainty?

Have the valuers been able to complete their work?

• If they have managed to complete their work, has a material uncertainty paragraph been 
included in their report?

• How has this clause been considered by management?

Where a full revaluation is not required in-year how has management valued property in the 
current market? 

• Has management considered whether the indices used remain appropriate?

Have assets been physically verified? 

• If not, how have impairment reviews been carried out? Are there any other impacts of not 
physically verifying property?

Is the disclosure of estimation uncertainty clear and understandable for users? 

• Have all relevant sources of estimation uncertainty been disclosed?

Box C: Property valuations – questions audit and risk committees could ask

Pension scheme valuations

2.5 If an organisation participates in a defined benefit pension scheme, it may 
be required to recognise the deficit or surplus of that scheme as at year-end. 
The significant uncertainty associated with the COVID-19 outbreak will affect 
the measurement of pension scheme assets or liabilities in the following ways, 
in addition to the general valuation difficulties above:

• There may be increased complexity in valuing scheme assets, particularly 
where assets do not have an active market or where the valuation is affected 
by the volatility in the financial markets.

• Actuarial assumptions used to project the defined benefit obligation may 
require updating due to the outbreak, including financial assumptions such 
as discount rates and salary growth. As for general valuations, we would 
expect any changes in assumptions would be disclosed, along with any 
sensitivity analysis of these assumptions.

54



Box D: Pension schemes valuations – questions audit and risk committees could 
ask

Box E: Inventory valuations – questions audit and risk committees could ask

Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Part Two 11 

Has management held discussions with pension plan actuaries regarding changes to their 
assumptions due to COVID-19? 

• What adjustments have been made to assumptions?

• Do the actuarial assumptions represent the information available at the reporting date?

What is the availability of information to be used in determining valuation? 

• Where valuation information which does not date from the year-end has been used, how has 
management ensured this is accurate as at the reporting date? 

Have pension plan actuaries provided any caveats in their reporting? 

• If so, how has management taken account of these?

Box D: Pension schemes valuations – questions audit and risk 
committees could ask

Inventory valuations

2.6 In addition to the general valuation difficulties set out above, we anticipate 
specific inventory challenges in relation to the outbreak, including:

• organisations may encounter difficulties estimating the value of inventories 
held due to the volatile market conditions or a lack of a market in which to 
sell inventory due to lockdown restrictions;

• organisations may encounter greater obsolescence of perishable stock due 
to lockdown restrictions; and

• practical difficulties in completing physical inventory counts due to 
lockdown restrictions.

How has management gained comfort over the quantity and condition of the stock held at the 
reporting date? 

• If stock counts have not been possible, what alternative procedures have management completed?

How has COVID-19 impacted inventory usage? 

• When do you expect this to go back to normal? 

• How has this impacted valuation forecasts?

How has management valued inventory held in the context of COVID-19? 

• Is this reasonable? What other methods could have been considered?

Has management had to use new suppliers/hold inventory of new goods? 

• How has management assured itself that the suppliers can supply or have supplied the goods 
at the quality or quantity required?

Box E: Inventory valuations – questions audit and risk committees could ask

55



BBox F: Completeness of liabilities – questions audit and risk committees could ask

12 Part Two Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 

Completeness of liabilities

2.7 The impact of COVID-19 may impact on the liabilities of an organisation. 
For example, new liabilities could emerge due to legal cases, contractual 
obligations, commitments or changes in assumptions and policies. The impact 
of COVID-19 could also lead to onerous contracts, as plans for contracts held 
could have changed, costs may have increased, or an organisation may be 
unable to fulfil contracts previously signed.

2.8 Management should consider the following areas in assessing the 
completeness of liabilities for financial statements:

• Consideration of all major contracts to identify potential onerous contracts.

• Re-assessment of the likelihood of open legal cases at the reporting date in 
consideration of the COVID-19 context.

• Use of the best available information to value new liabilities identified.

• Disclosure of assumptions made about material estimation uncertainty in 
relation to liabilities.

Are liabilities complete based on your knowledge of the business and the impact of COVID-19? 

• Has management completed a robust review to identify onerous contracts? 

• Are there any other areas of COVID-19 impacts that are not yet considered? 

Is management using the best available and most up-to-date information to value? 

• Where information is not available at the reporting date, has management completed adequate 
procedures to assess the impact of COVID-19?

Where there is estimation uncertainty is it disclosed transparently in the financial statements? 

• Does this include sensitivity analysis?

Box F: Completeness of liabilities – questions audit and risk committees could ask

Going concern

2.9 An entity is a going concern unless management either intends to cease the 
activities of the organisation or has no realistic alternative but to do so. For some 
organisations, the impact of COVID-19 may leave management with no realistic 
alternative but to cease its activities. When preparing the financial statements, 
management is responsible for completing a full assessment of whether the 
organisation is a going concern, considering the impacts of COVID-19 and other 
events on the long-term viability of the organisation.

56



Box G: Going concern – questions audit and risk committees could ask

Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Part Two 13 

2.10 There may be material uncertainty related to going concern, caused by 
COVID-19 casting significant doubt on the organisation’s ability to continue to 
operate. Where this is the case, the financial statements must clearly state that 
there is material uncertainty related to going concern, and therefore it may be 
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 
business. The principal events or conditions casting doubt should be clearly 
disclosed in the financial statements.

2.11 For central government organisations that follow the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual, it is rare that activities completely cease, and it is more likely 
that the activities of an organisation that may be closing are transferred to an 
organisation that is continuing. In this case, going concern is presumed by virtue 
of the functions transferring, and therefore financial statements are prepared on 
this basis, but we would still expect management to document its consideration of 
the impact of COVID-19 on its future business plans.

2.12 Management should consider the following areas in making its going 
concern assessment:

• All information available about the future, including impacts of COVID-19 
on the organisation’s future performance and agreement of future funding. 
This should be updated and considered until the financial statements 
are published. 

• A view of at least, but not limited to, 12 months from the date when the 
financial statements are published.

• Specific considerations for the organisation and its specific risks.

Is management’s strategy or business plan from a period pre-COVID-19? 

• Has this been updated? If not, is it clear why a plan from before the outbreak 
remains appropriate?

Is management’s forward plan robust in the context of COVID-19? 

• Do forecasts represent the latest information available? Has management completed 
scenario-testing on its forecasts?  

• Is the forward plan in line with your understanding?

Is management’s going concern consideration complete? 

• Has management considered different eventualities and the likelihood of each?

Is there substantial doubt over the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern? 

• Do the disclosures in the financial statements reflect the impact of COVID-19 transparently?

Box G: Going concern – questions audit and risk committees could ask

57



Box H: Events after the reporting period – questions audit and risk committees 
could ask

14 Part Two Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 

Events after the reporting period

2.13 The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic emerged in March 2020 around the 
year-end for many government organisations, increasing the likelihood of events 
after the reporting period that may require disclosure in the financial statements. 
This may include events such as new liabilities for the organisation as a result 
of new COVID-19-related activities, changes in key contractual arrangements 
impacting the organisation, or impacts on the recoverability of the organisation’s 
asset values.

2.14 Management are required to consider two types of potential events after the 
reporting period:

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the date of the 
financial statements (adjusting events); and

• those that provide evidence of conditions that arose after the date of the 
financial statements (non-adjusting events).

2.15 Adjusting events would lead to the financial statements of an organisation 
being updated for the impact of the change, whereas non-adjusting events are 
only disclosed if material to the organisation, in the events after the reporting 
date note.

Have management considered all relevant events after the reporting date that could impact on 
the organisation?

• Are these events correctly assessed as adjusting or non-adjusting events?

• Do the financial statements make clear how COVID-19 has impacted the organisation in 
general after the reporting period date?

Do the financial statements appropriately recognise the events identified? 

• Are the financial statements appropriately adjusted for relevant adjusting events?

• Have non-adjusting events been clearly and transparently disclosed?

• Is the value of non-adjusting events and potential impact for the organisation clear?

Box H: Events after the reporting period – questions audit and risk committees 
could ask

58



Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Part Three 15 

Part Three

Control environment

3.1 The internal controls in place at many organisations may have stopped, 
required modification or been overridden by new controls introduced to adapt to 
the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak. Changes may have been made at pace to 
respond to a dynamic environment, which may impact effectiveness. 

3.2 This part outlines some areas where controls may have changed as well 
as potential questions for audit and risk committees to ask in the context 
of COVID-19. 

3.3 There may be changes in controls over preparing the financial statements 
in the following areas:

• Remote working may have impacted the ability for controls to operate as 
designed. Due to the quick transition, controls may have been changed at 
pace or not be operating as intended, increasing the risk of fraud and error. 

• Operational imperative to deliver more quickly or due to changes in staff 
availability may mean standard procedures needed to be overridden.

• New activities not previously undertaken by the organisation may mean 
new processes were introduced at speed and may not be as robust. 

• Senior management oversight may have been reduced due to urgent 
operational priorities.

• IT security systems may not have been designed for large-scale remote 
working and controls may have been reduced by the changed ways 
of working.

59



Box I: Control environment – questions audit and risk committees could ask

16 Part Three Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 

3.4 Where internal controls have been implemented or revised, management 
should consider whether it is sustainable in the longer term for the controls to 
operate in this way. For example, an increased burden on specific members of the 
organisation may be appropriate in the short term but, as the outbreak continues, 
there is a risk that the organisation becomes overly reliant on a small group of 
individuals. Management should consider how it can reinstate or strengthen 
the controls that are in place in order to operate in the current conditions for a 
sustained period. In the longer term, management should also consider what 
the desired control environment will look like and how to achieve it, when the 
outbreak has passed. 

3.5 We would expect organisations to consider their risk assessments when 
making changes to their internal controls, enhancing and prioritising the critical 
controls needed to reduce the risk of fraud or error. 

Were any changes needed to the design and implementation of internal controls to respond 
to COVID-19? 

• What has been the impact of these changes? How long are these changes expected to last? 
Are the changes sustainable? How significant are these changes? 

• Has internal audit assessed the design, implementation and operational effectiveness of 
revised internal controls? Can the negative impact of any changes be reversed? 

Where changes were made to controls, did the organisation understand where there was 
increased risk because of this? 

• Were other controls strengthened to compensate for this?

Has remote working affected the operational effectiveness of internal controls? 

• Are any controls only able to be implemented in person, such as those over physical assets? 

• Have changes in personnel performing the controls impacted effectiveness?

How have IT services performed during the outbreak? 

• How has this impacted the effectiveness of controls? 

• How have cyber security controls been considered?

Where service organisations are used, have there been any changes to the design and 
implementation of their controls? 

• Where relevant, what has been the impact of this?

Box I: Control environment – questions audit and risk committees could ask

60



Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Part Four 17 

Part Four

Regularity of expenditure

4.1 In response to COVID-19, organisations have been required to increase 
spending and, in some circumstances, incur expenditure on activities 
outside those permitted by original authorising legislation or other applicable 
delegated authority.

4.2 This part outlines the relevant regularity considerations for organisations, 
along with potential questions for audit and risk committees to ask in the context 
of COVID-19.

4.3 During the current circumstances, organisations and their accounting 
officers should still ensure that all expenditure adheres to the principles in 
Managing Public Money:4

• Regularity: if a proposal is outside an organisation’s framework of authorities, 
it is deemed irregular. The framework of authorities can be the legal powers, 
parliamentary authority, HM Treasury delegations or voted spend. If a 
department exceeds its spending limits authorised by Parliament, this is 
irregular and results in an excess vote and qualified regularity audit opinion.

• Propriety: if a proposal does not meet “standards of public conduct”, such as 
appropriate governance or parliamentary expectations.

• Value for money: if an alternative proposal, or doing nothing, would deliver 
better value (cheaper, higher quality or more effective use of funding).

• Feasibility: where there is a significant doubt about whether the proposal 
can be implemented accurately, sustainably or to the intended timetable.

4 HM Treasury, Managing Public Money is available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-public-money

61



18 Part Four Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19

4.4 Accounting officers should bring to the attention of the relevant minister 
any conflict between their instructions and the principles in Managing Public 
Money. If the minister decides to continue with this course of action even though 
the accounting officer has advised the instructions conflict with Managing Public 
Money, it would be expected that a ministerial direction would be provided. 
During the outbreak we have seen an increased use of ministerial directions. 
Where ministerial directions are required, management should bring the matter 
to the attention of the audit and risk committee and it should be disclosed in the 
corporate governance report.

Procurement Policy Note 02/2020

4.5 In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Cabinet Office has issued 
Procurement Policy Note (PPN) 02/2020 which sets out its expected approach for 
supplier payments during the outbreak.5 This PPN aims to ensure the continuity 
of service during the outbreak and ensure suppliers can resume normal contract 
delivery after the outbreak is over. The PPN is clear that the usual Managing Public 
Money principles of spend being regular, proper and value for money still apply.

4.6 The PPN instructs contracting authorities to pay all suppliers as quickly 
as possible to maintain cash flow and protect jobs. It advises that contracting 
authorities should take action to continue to pay suppliers at risk due to COVID-19 
to ensure continuity and retention of the supply going forward. Where necessary, 
advanced payments to suppliers are permitted under the PPN.

4.7 Where the provisions of this PPN are being used by management, we would 
expect them to be clear that this was required to ensure continuity of service 
during the outbreak (or after the outbreak) and for all appropriate checks to be 
carried out and documented on the relevant suppliers before payments are made. 
The PPN requires suppliers to act on an open book basis, so we would expect 
management to have received relevant supporting data for payments made.

5 Procurement Policy Note 02/2020 is available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-
note-0220-supplier-relief-due-to-covid-19

62



Box J: Regularity of expenditure – questions audit and risk committees could 
ask

Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Part Four 19 

Have there been any significant changes to the organisation’s activities during the outbreak? 

• If so, have the changes required new legislation or changes to delegated authorities? 

Has the accounting officer assessed the reasonableness of increased expenditure or new 
activities  in the context of Managing Public Money? 

• Have ministerial directions been required? Have these been provided? 

• Are these disclosed transparently in the corporate governance report?

Is there any new expenditure that could be deemed novel and contentious? 

• How has this been treated?

Has management breached any control totals? 

• Have there been any other regularity breaches or contentious issues?

Have the provisions in Procurement Policy Note 02/2020 been used by management?

• Has management carried out and documented appropriate due diligence checks on 
relevant suppliers? 

• Have all other Managing Public Money provisions applied to payments made under the 
Procurement Policy Note?

• Has management received open book information from impacted suppliers? 

Box J: Regularity of expenditure – questions audit and risk committees could ask

Fraud and error

4.8 A specific area of regularity that is impacted by COVID-19 is the potential 
for fraud and error in expenditure, which is heightened due to the pace of the 
COVID-19 response. This risk could manifest in several ways, including:

• procurement risks: new supply chains created at pace not allowing for 
complete risk assessments or single tender actions with no other options;

• contractor risks: new contractors being used at pace not allowing for 
appropriate due diligence;

• payments/grants/loans risks: new or expanded support schemes in place to 
support employers, employees and businesses during the outbreak that may 
not have appropriate controls in place; and

• cyber security risks: enhanced risk of cyber-attack, leading to fraud or error.

4.9 Instances where controls do not operate as intended due to the outbreak, 
or where organisations are required to spend at pace may also increase the 
likelihood of fraud and error.

63



Box K: Fraud and error – questions audit and risk committees could ask

20 Part Four Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19

National Audit Office’s Fraud and Error Framework

4.10 The Fraud and Error Framework (Appendix Three) is used to assess the 
effectiveness of an organisation’s response to fraud and error risk. The framework 
can provide prompts to support departments and larger organisations in regular 
reporting to the Cabinet Office on fraud risks and incidents. In responding 
to the outbreak, audit and risk committees may find the framework helpful in 
considering an organisation’s risk and exposures to fraud or error that arise from 
changes to business as usual, or when introducing new activities.

What exposure to fraud and error does the organisation have in its responses to COVID-19? 

• Have controls been turned off or reduced? 

• Are there new expenditure or procurement streams, or delivery methods that introduce 
new risks?

How is the organisation managing fraud and error risks? 

• Are they logged, with a monetary estimate of the potential fraud and error exposure? 

• Have options to reduce fraud and error been evaluated? Has management assessed the 
organisation’s risk appetite for losses through fraud and error? Are there any changes to this?  

What processes are in place to measure fraud and error and evaluate the effectiveness of 
activities to prevent or detect this? 

• How is management using this information to update risk assessments or inform controls? 

• Does management have real-time indicators to support informed decisions on risks?

Box K: Fraud and error – questions audit and risk committees could ask

64



Box A: Annual reports

<Multiple intersecting links>

Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Appendix One 21 

Appendix One

Key questions to ask

6 

6 HM Treasury, Managing Public Money is available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-public-money

Has COVID-19 caused new risks to achieving the organisation’s stated objectives? 

• Does the performance report reflect the impact of COVID-19 on the organisation’s performance 
against objectives in the year? 

• Does it clearly consider whether COVID-19 influenced the organisation’s ability to 
meet objectives? 

• Does it consider the organisation’s performance in general, including where this deteriorated or 
was below expectations? 

Does the corporate governance report consider whether expenditure in response to COVID-19 was 
in line with parliamentary authority (regular) and in accordance with the principles of Managing 
Public Money?6

• Where this was not the case, has this been clearly disclosed?

Does the corporate governance report detail how the control environment has changed due to 
COVID-19 and the risks associated with these changes? 

• How does the report discuss new risks in relation to COVID-19 and the associated 
responses to these? 

• Does the report discuss how the organisation’s risk appetite has changed?

• Where relevant, has any streamlining to the annual report due to COVID-19 been agreed 
with the relevant select committee or parent department?

Box A: Annual reports

What information has been used in determining the value of assets and liabilities? 

• In the absence of timely information, how has management estimated valuations? Is this 
reasonable? How have changes in valuations for reasons due to COVID-19 been considered? 
Is there any other information that should be considered?

How have experts been used to support management in valuations? 

• Where experts’ work was completed before the reporting date, how has management gained 
comfort that the valuation remains appropriate? 

• Have the experts provided any caveats on their advice? If so, how have these been considered?

What are the key assumptions used to determine valuations and how has the relative probability of 
various outcome scenarios been assessed? 

• Have the key assumptions been disclosed clearly? 

Box B: Valuations

65



Box C: Property valuations 

Box D: Pension schemes valuations  

22 Appendix One Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 

What data have management used for property valuations? 

• Is this reasonable? Are there other data that could be used?

• Do these data consider how the market changed in late March 2020? 

How have experts been used to support management in valuing property? 

• Where experts’ work was completed before the reporting date, how has management gained 
comfort that the valuation remains appropriate? 

• If experts were not used for property valuations, should they have been given the 
current uncertainty?

Have the valuers been able to complete their work?

• If they have managed to complete their work, has a material uncertainty paragraph been 
included in their report?

• How has this clause been considered by management?

Where a full revaluation is not required in-year how has management valued property in the 
current market? 

• Has management considered whether the indices used remain appropriate?

Have assets been physically verified? 

• If not, how have impairment reviews been carried out? Are there any other impacts of not 
physically verifying property?

Is the disclosure of estimation uncertainty clear and understandable for users? 

• Have all relevant sources of estimation uncertainty been disclosed?

Box C: Property valuations 

Has management held discussions with pension plan actuaries regarding changes to their 
assumptions due to COVID-19? 

• What adjustments have been made to assumptions?

• Do the actuarial assumptions represent the information available at the reporting date?

What is the availability of information to be used in determining valuation? 

• Where valuation information which does not date from the year-end has been used, how has 
management ensured this is accurate as at the reporting date? 

Have pension plan actuaries provided any caveats in their reporting? 

• If so, how has management taken account of these?

Box D: Pension schemes valuations  

66



<Multiple intersecting links>

Box G: Going concern

Box E: Inventory valuations 

Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Appendix One 23 

How has management gained comfort over the quantity and condition of the stock held at the 
reporting date? 

• If stock counts have not been possible, what alternative procedures have management completed?

How has COVID-19 impacted inventory usage? 

• When do you expect this to go back to normal? 

• How has this impacted valuation forecasts?

How has management valued inventory held in the context of COVID-19? 

• Is this reasonable? What other methods could have been considered?

Has management had to use new suppliers/hold inventory of new goods? 

• How has management assured itself that the suppliers can supply or have supplied the goods 
at the quality or quantity required?

Box E: Inventory valuations 

Are liabilities complete based on your knowledge of the business and the impact of COVID-19? 

• Has management completed a robust review to identify onerous contracts? 

• Are there any other areas of COVID-19 impacts that are not yet considered? 

Is management using the best available and most up-to-date information to value? 

• Where information is not available at the reporting date, has management completed adequate 
procedures to assess the impact of COVID-19?

Where there is estimation uncertainty is it disclosed transparently in the financial statements? 

• Does this include sensitivity analysis?

Box F: Completeness of liabilities

Is management’s strategy or business plan from a period pre-COVID-19? 

• Has this been updated? If not, is it clear why a plan from before the outbreak remains appropriate?

Is management’s forward plan robust in the context of COVID-19? 

• Do forecasts represent the latest information available? Has management completed 
scenario-testing on its forecasts?  

• Is the forward plan in line with your understanding?

Is management’s going concern consideration complete? 

• Has management considered different eventualities and the likelihood of each?

Is there substantial doubt over the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern? 

• Do the disclosures in the financial statements reflect the impact of COVID-19 transparently?

Box G: Going concern

67



Box H: Events after the reporting period

Box I: Control environment

24 Appendix One Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 

Have management considered all relevant events after the reporting date that could impact on 
the organisation?

• Are these events correctly assessed as adjusting or non-adjusting events?

• Do the financial statements make clear how COVID-19 has impacted the organisation in 
general after the reporting period date?

Do the financial statements appropriately recognise the events identified? 

• Are the financial statements appropriately adjusted for relevant adjusting events?

• Have non-adjusting events been clearly and transparently disclosed?

• Is the value of non-adjusting events and potential impact for the organisation clear?

Box H: Events after the reporting period

Were any changes needed to the design and implementation of internal controls to respond 
to COVID-19? 

• What has been the impact of these changes? How long are these changes expected to last? 
Are the changes sustainable? How significant are these changes? 

• Has internal audit assessed the design, implementation and operational effectiveness of 
revised internal controls? Can the negative impact of any changes be reversed? 

Where changes were made to controls, did the organisation understand where there was 
increased risk because of this? 

• Were other controls strengthened to compensate for this?

Has remote working affected the operational effectiveness of internal controls? 

• Are any controls only able to be implemented in person, such as those over physical assets? 

• Have changes in personnel performing the controls impacted effectiveness?

How have IT services performed during the outbreak? 

• How has this impacted the effectiveness of controls? 

• How have cyber security controls been considered?

Where service organisations are used, have there been any changes to the design and 
implementation of their controls? 

• Where relevant, what has been the impact of this?

Box I: Control environment

68



Box J: Regularity of expenditure 

Box K: Fraud and error 

Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Appendix One 25 

Have there been any significant changes to the organisation’s activities during the outbreak? 

• If so, have the changes required new legislation or changes to delegated authorities? 

Has the accounting officer assessed the reasonableness of increased expenditure or new 
activities in the context of Managing Public Money? 

• Have ministerial directions been required? Have these been provided? 

• Are these disclosed transparently in the corporate governance report?

Is there any new expenditure that could be deemed novel and contentious? 

• How has this been treated?

Has management breached any control totals? 

• Have there been any other regularity breaches or contentious issues?

Have the provisions in Procurement Policy Note 02/2020 been used by management?

• Has management carried out and documented appropriate due diligence checks on 
relevant suppliers? 

• Have all other Managing Public Money provisions applied to payments made under the 
Procurement Policy Note?

• Has management received open book information from impacted suppliers? 

Box J: Regularity of expenditure 

What exposure to fraud and error does the organisation have in its responses to COVID-19? 

• Have controls been turned off or reduced? 

• Are there new expenditure or procurement streams, or delivery methods that introduce 
new risks?

How is the organisation managing fraud and error risks? 

• Are they logged, with a monetary estimate of the potential fraud and error exposure? 

• Have options to reduce fraud and error been evaluated? Has management assessed the 
organisation’s risk appetite for losses through fraud and error? Are there any changes to this?  

What processes are in place to measure fraud and error and evaluate the effectiveness of 
activities to prevent or detect this? 

• How is management using this information to update risk assessments or inform controls? 

• Does management have real-time indicators to support informed decisions on risks?

Box K: Fraud and error 

69



26 Appendix Two Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19

Appendix Two

Further resources

Below is a selection of guidance and insights that may be useful.

1 HM Treasury, Managing Public Money, March 2018, available at: https://
assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/742188/Managing_Public_Money__MPM__2018.pdf

2 HM Treasury, Audit and risk committee handbook, March 2016, available at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/512760/PU1934_Audit_committee_handbook.pdf

3 The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Coronavirus: 
(COVID-19): considering going concern, 2020, available at: www.icaew.com/
technical/audit-and-assurance/coronavirus-considering-going-concern

4 The Pensions Regulator, COVID-19 guidance for employers, April 2020, 
available at: www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/media-hub/press-releases/2020-
press-releases/new-covid-19-pension-guidance-published-for-employers

5 The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Valuation practice alert 
COVID-19, 2020, available at: www.rics.org/uk/upholding-professional-
standards/sector-standards/valuation/valuation-coronavirus/

6 The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, 
Coronavirus and financial reporting, 2020, available at: www.icaew.com/
coronavirus/financial-reporting

7 Financial Reporting Council, FRC COVID-19 Response, 2020, available at: 
www.frc.org.uk/covid-19-guidance-and-advice

8 International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, Subsequent 
Events in the Current Evolving Environment, 2020, available at: www.iaasb.
org/publications/subsequent-events-current-evolving-environment-audit-
considerations-impact-covid-19

70



Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19 Appendix Two 27 

9 HM Treasury, Addendum to Government Financial Reporting Manual 
2019-20: minimum reporting requirements, 2020, available at: https://assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/884468/2019-20_Government_Financial_Reporting_Manual_-_addendum.pdf

10 HM Government, The Orange Book: Management of Risk – Principles 
and Concepts, 2020, available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/866117/6.6266_
HMT_Orange_Book_Update_v6_WEB.PDF

71



This figure shows The National Audit Office’s Fraud and Error Framework

28 Appendix Three Guide for audit and risk committees on financial reporting and management during COVID-19

Appendix Three

National Audit Office’s Fraud and Error Framework

Source: National Audit Offi ce

Implement

Evaluate

Measure

Strategy and
governance

Design

Sustainable 
reduction in 

fraud and error

The Framework assesses an entity’s approach to managing fraud and error risks. Based on good practice seen in government 
entities and the private sector, the overall principle is to understand and target risks and causes in a way that achieves greatest 
impact, and over time iterate the approach based on information on the efficacy of interventions and residual or new risks, 
to best direct interventions and drive a sustainable reduction in fraud and error.

Evaluate:

Does the organisation understand which 
are the effective key indicators of fraud 
and error?

Does the organisation understand what 
the results of its measurement work tell 
it about its exposure to fraud and error 
and the efficacy of its controls? 

How will the organisation use 
measurement and detected error data 
to revise and refresh and iterate its 
approach to fraud and error?

Measure:

What measurement basis is used to 
assess fraud and error?

What balance is appropriate between 
continuous, ‘business as usual’ and 
periodic measurement and evaluation 
of fraud and error?

Strategy and governance:

What is the organisation’s fraud and error 
risk appetite? 

What are the key priorities for fraud and 
error interventions?

What are the appropriate governance 
arrangements for fraud and error in 
the organisation?

How do processes and controls align 
to policy?

Implement:

How can accuracy in processing be 
achieved? How will the tension between 
a manageable workload of controls 
versus ambition of strategy be managed?

How will the organisation know whether 
controls are implemented as designed?

Are resourcing decisions informed by an 
impact on controls and fraud and error?

Design:

Are fraud and error risks and entry 
points understood?

What data sources are available for 
verification controls?

Is the expected cost and impact of each 
control understood?

What is the desired balance between 
‘prevent and detect’ activities?

72



This report has been printed on Pro Digital 
Silk and contains material sourced from 
responsibly managed and sustainable 
forests certified in accordance with the 
FSC (Forest Stewardship Council).

The wood pulp is totally recyclable and 
acid-free. Our printers also have full ISO 14001 
environmental accreditation, which ensures 
that they have effective procedures in place to 
manage waste and practices that may affect 
the environment.

73



£10.00

9 781786 043221

ISBN 978-1-78604-322-1

Design and Production by NAO External Relations 
DP Ref: 009156-001

You have reached the end of this document

74



Appendix 2 

Counter Fraud Work During Covid-19 

 
Covid-19 assignments 
 
1. Several Internal Audit Service (IAS) assignments have taken place during the 

last four months (mid-July to mid-November 2020) with a Covid-19 counter 
fraud focus.  These included: -  
 

 A significant piece of work in Adult Social Care (ASC) looking at 
additional support provided by the Council to social care providers to 
ensure their financial viability, e.g. amended processes such as 
temporary forward payments to aid provider cash-flow, top-up payments 
to maintain minimum funding levels in the home care sector and support 
grant payments, e.g. the national ASC Infection Control Fund grant. 

 Increased p-Card usage during Covid-19. 

 Supplementary assurance regarding the County Council’s Communities 
Fund, following additional funding being allocated by the Council. Advice 
was given recently to strengthen the Business Recovery Grant scheme. 

 Reviewing that new starters to the Council are adequately undertaking 
mandatory fraud awareness e-learning (or the manual workbook 
equivalent).  This review coincided with a revision to the training module.  
It highlighted some procedural weaknesses, regarding difficulties 
delivering mandatory training to ‘hard to reach’ staffing groups, often ‘low 
risk’, e.g. staff without IT access, e.g. school catering staff, highways 
operatives. 
 

Covid-19 Targeted Fraud Comms 
 
2. Covid-19 continues to see fraudsters exploring many, and sometimes 

innovative, ways to perpetrate fraud.  The IAS continues to promote fraud 
awareness advice to staff and key sections, including advice to individuals on 
fraud risks in their personal lives. 

 
3. The UK Government response to Covid-19 continues to be particularly 

vulnerable to fraud, owing to the novelty and speed with which new measures 
are introduced and the size of economic relief schemes, many of which are 
passed down to local government to distribute further.  Whilst a number of 
these schemes are relevant only to district and unitary councils, e.g. the Small 
Business Grant and the Self-Isolation Financial Support Scheme, there can be 
no complacency that fraud cannot affect the Council, especially at times like 
these where temporary process changes brought about by Covid-19 may be in 
place. 
 
 
 
 

75



4. Raising fraud awareness continues to be a major defence against fraud.  The 
fraud pages on the Council’s intranet have been updated with Covid-19 specific 
information, and targeted communications to staff and managers continue to be 
issued through a variety of means, for example a Manager’s Digest was 
released on 28 October. 
 

5. To coincide with International Fraud Awareness Week (IFAW) 15 to 20 
October, the IAS issued targeted comms to staff during the week via the 
Corporate Intranet. Detailed guidance on Covid-19 related fraud is included as 
well as a link to the Government’s counter fraud measures toolkit. 
https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/Departments/CORPORATERESOUR
CES/Documents/covid-19-counter-fraud-measures-toolkit.pdf  

 
Fraud Risk Assessment 2020/21 

 
6. The CIPFA Code of Practice – Managing the Risk of Fraud Corruption 

recommends that local authorities identify and assess the major risks of fraud 
and corruption to the organisation.  The IAS performs a biennial fraud risk 
assessment and uses the results to direct counter fraud resources accordingly.   

 
7. National fraud intelligence received through publications such as CIPFA’s 

annual Fraud and Corruption Tracker (2019) and Fighting Fraud and Corruption 
Locally – the local government counter fraud and corruption strategy (Cifas, 
2020) helps to inform local authorities of key fraud risks for councils and also of 
emerging frauds relevant to the sector.  Such intelligence is used proactively to 
influence the fraud risk assessment.  The IAS also networks closely with other 
local authorities to share both fraud intelligence and strategies to manage fraud 
risks.  As an example, the IAS is an active participant in the Midland Counties’ 
Fraud Group. A recent meeting (5 November) discussed approaches to the 
following frauds with links to Covid-19. More detailed advice has been 
disseminated to relevant Council officers and headteachers: - 

a. General Warnings re. Heightened Risk of Fraud during crisis situations 
b. Mandate Fraud, including emerging e-mail hacking threat 
c. Chief Executive Officer (false identity) Fraud 
d. C-19 Business Support Grants 
e. Temporary Morgues 
f. Asset Misappropriation by Staff, e.g. leavers, compounded by home 

working 
g. Taxi Providers’ Relief Scheme 
h. Temporary Process Changes Brought About By Covid-19 
i. Staff Working Elsewhere Whilst off on Sick/Self-Isolation 

 
 

8. A specific category has been recorded in the revised fraud risk assessment for 
Covid-19 and has been scored overall at maximum impact and likelihood. 
 

 
 

76

https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/Departments/CORPORATERESOURCES/Documents/covid-19-counter-fraud-measures-toolkit.pdf
https://leics.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/Departments/CORPORATERESOURCES/Documents/covid-19-counter-fraud-measures-toolkit.pdf


 
 

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 25 NOVEMBER 2020 

 
JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND THE DIRECTOR 

OF CORPORATE RESOURCES  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 
ANNUAL REVIEW 2019/20 AND UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS AND 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS 

 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is threefold: 
 

 To inform Members of the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman (LGO) annual review letter for the Authority for 2019/20; 
 

 Provide Members with an update on improvements to the Local 
Authority’s Complaints procedures and effective complaints handling; 
 

 Provide Members with an update on handling of Freedom of Information 
Act (FOI) and Environmental Information Regulations (EIR). 
 

Background 
 
2. The role of the Corporate Governance Committee includes the promotion 

and maintenance of high standards within the Authority in relation to the 
operation of the Council’s Code of Governance.  It also has within its 
terms of reference the making of payments or providing other benefits in 
cases of maladministration under Section 92 of the Local Government Act 
2000.  

3. At its meeting on 29 November 2009 this Committee, in line with its role 
and responsibilities, and those of the then existing Standards Committee, 
agreed that reports on complaints handling should be submitted on an 
annual basis for members consideration following receipt of the 
Ombudsman's annual review letter. This report also discharges the 
Monitoring Officer’s statutory duty under s.5(2) of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 to report where maladministration has been 
identified. 

 
4. The LGO produces an annual review letter for each Authority.  This 

typically contains complaint statistics as well as more general updates 

77 Agenda Item 9



  

from the Ombudsman as to any emerging themes. This letter is included 
as Appendix A. 

 
5. In recent years, the Ombudsman has also issued an annual review of 

local government complaints each year. A copy of the 2019-20 report is 
included as Appendix B. 

 
6. In 2019 it was agreed that an annual update is to be provided to the 

Corporate Governance Committee outlining how the Council is 
discharging its obligations under the FOI and EIR legislation. 

 

Part 1: Ombudsman’s Annual Review letter for Leicestershire County 
Council 
 
7. A total of 75 Complaints and Enquiries were received by the Ombudsman 

during the year which marks a small (8%) decrease on last year (82).  
 
8. To add context to the above figure, population data has been obtained 

which shows that Leicestershire receives 10.6 referrals to the 
Ombudsman per 100,000 residents. As shown in Appendix C, this ranks 
Leicestershire as the fourth best of 16 authorities classed as statistical 
neighbours. 

 
9. The Ombudsman made decisions on 72 complaints during the year and 

carried out 23 detailed investigations. This equates to 32% of the 
complaints determined. The numbers investigated in detail by the 
Ombudsman increased this year by seven. 

 
10. The remaining 49 cases were dealt with at the Assessment stage, which is 

a lighter touch review of the Council’s actions. This includes complaints 
that were considered premature for the Ombudsman and those which lay 
outside of their jurisdiction. 

 
11. Of the 23 complaints subject to detailed investigation, eighteen (78%) had 

a finding of some fault and were consequently upheld. This is a significant 
increase from last year. 

 
12. The average percentage of complaints upheld for all County Councils was 

66%. Leicestershire’s performance of 78% ranks us 12th out of 16 for 
statistical neighbours and places the Council in the lower quartile against 
an average of 71%. 

 
13. Where a finding of fault with injustice is made, the Ombudsman may 

suggest a course of action to the Council which, if implemented, would 
lead the Ombudsman to discontinue their investigation. The Council is not 
obligated to carry out this recommendation but failure to do so may lead to 
a Public Report being issued. 

 

78



  

14. Such settlements may involve an element of compensation for a 
complainant where there has been a failure to provide a service, together 
with a payment to recognise the complainant’s time and trouble in having 
to pursue the complaint. 

 
15. On some occasions, the Council may have already taken remedial action 

which the Ombudsman considers appropriate to resolve the issue. In such 
cases, the Ombudsman will still record the case as maladministration but 
with an additional tag to reflect that the situation had been adequately 
remedied before LGO involvement. There were two such cases in 2019-
20 representing 11% of the overall upheld number. 

 
16. During 2019/20, the Council agreed to the Ombudsman’s 

recommendations in all cases where these were made.  
 
17. The detail for each of the 18 upheld complaints appears below. For ease 

these have been grouped by Council department. 
 

 Children and Family Services - Education 
 

 Case 1 related to Special Education Needs and specifically that the 
Council delayed issuing an Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) and failed 
to offer any alternative education for a child over a prolonged period. 
 
The Ombudsman found a number of faults with the Council’s actions. This 
included a failure to consult with schools, significant delay in adhering to 
EHCP timescales and a failure to take appropriate action when it knew a 
child was not in School. 
 
The Council agreed to a financial payment of £4,250 in recognition of the 
missed education provision and a further £600 in time and trouble and 
distress payments. 
 
The Council also agreed to review how it works with other education 
providers to ensure alternative provision when a child, for whatever 
reason, is not attending School and to act to improve adherence to EHCP 
timescales 
 

 Case 2 concerned the Council’s failure to provide alternative education 
provision whilst a child was not attending school. 

 
The Council had reflected on the learning from Case 1 and had pro-
actively made an offer to pay £1,800 in recognition of the period of missed 
education and a further £300 in recognition of time and trouble. 
 
The Council also committed to report back to the Ombudsman on the 
further work being undertaken to improve partnership working and to 
ensure timely mechanisms are in place to identify and put in place 
alternative education provision. 

79



  

 
The Ombudsman accepted that this was a satisfactory resolution and 
ended his investigation.  

 Case 3 concerned a delay in consulting schools when a parent sought a 
change of placement and that therapy provision as specified within an 
EHCP was not being carried out. 
 
The Ombudsman was critical of the four months the Council took to reach 
a decision on whether it would fund a placement. In the interim period the 
matter had progressed to the Special Educational Needs (SEN) Tribunal 
where the Council accepted the request for the residential placement. 
 
Although that had resolved the placement, the Ombudsman asked the 
Council to make an additional payment of £400 in recognition of the time 
and trouble incurred through this process. 
 
Although therapy provision had been subsequently put in place, the 
Council also agreed to make backdated payments amounting to £2,855 in 
recognition of the total missed provision 
 

 Case 4 was a SEN complaint that the Council left a young person with no 
post 16 education provision by failing to contact a College as promised. 
 
The Council accepted that there was no record the Officer did contact the 
College as she had agreed and apologised for this. The Ombudsman 
considered this fault but with no injustice as the School had already 
decided not to admit the young person. 
 
The Council offered to make a remedy payment of £100 in recognition of 
the raised uncertainty which the Ombudsman considered appropriate. 
 

 Case 5 that the Council failed to provide an education for her daughter for 
a six-month period and failed to carry out an EHCP assessment. 
 
The Council had already refunded private tuition and transport costs that 
had been incurred (c. £6,000) but the Ombudsman found that this 
education was not provided in an appropriate setting and asked the 
Council to make further payments of £5,300 in recognition of the missed 
education and time and trouble pursuing the complaint. 
 

 Case 6 that the Council failed to provide support as outlined in the EHCP 
and failed to carry out timely amendments to the plan. 
 
Both elements were upheld by the Ombudsman and the Council agreed to 
make a payment of £1,750 and apologise for the failings identified. 
 
The Council provided a comprehensive overview of improvement work 
being undertaken and the Ombudsman was satisfied on this basis that 
wider improvements were already being progressed.  

80



  

Children and Family Services – Social Care 
 

 Case 7 was a Child Protection complaint that the Council failed to engage 
appropriately with a parent and delayed dealing with his concerns. 
 
This complaint had already been independently investigated where the 
Council accepted that service had fallen short of expected standards in a 
number of areas and apologised for this. 
  
The Ombudsman agreed with the findings of the independent investigation 
but also highlighted further evidence of delays in responding to enquiries 
and complaints, inadequate record keeping and failure to progress certain 
agreed actions. 
 
In response the Council agreed to issue a further formal apology, make a 
financial payment of £900, take steps to improve complaint handling and 
remind all officers of the importance of clear record keeping. 
 

 Case 8 was a joint investigation of the County Council and Leicestershire 
Partnership NHS Trust (LPT). This related to Child Protection and the 
management of a Fabricated Induced Illness (FII) case. 

 
The Ombudsman was critical of an overall failure to follow statutory 
procedures and the joint working between the two organisations. This 
manifested in an unreasonable delay in reaching a decision to end Child 
Protection proceedings. 
 
The Council and the Trust agreed to draw up a comprehensive action plan 
to improve how they respond to FII cases in the future. 
 
In addition, an apology and £500 payment were made to the complainant 
together with the Council placing a factual clarification note on each of the 
children’s files. 
 

 Case 9 related to adaptation work that was carried out on a shower room 
to support a disabled young person. 
 
The Council had initially argued that the complaint lay with the Housing 
Authority who arranged the defective works and appeared to be resolving 
this directly with the complainant. 
 
However, the Ombudsman found fault that the Council had failed to also 
consider its statutory responsibilities to provide support under S.17 to a 
Child in Need and carry out a re-assessment. 
 
The Council accepted this finding and agreed to carry out a fresh 
assessment and take steps to remind all staff of the need to consider 
statutory duties under both the Children Act 1989 and Chronically Sick 
and Disabled Act 1970 when another authority has responsibility for work 
carried out after a Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG). 

81



  

 

 Case 10 that the Council delayed unreasonably in making child protection 
decisions. The Council had already accepted there was some delay 
although there were complicating factors caused by lack of engagement of 
with the family. 
 
The Ombudsman asked the Council to make a small payment of £300 in 
recognition of this delay but did not criticise other aspects of the case 
management. 
 

 Case 11 about the way the Council treated a family member following 
investigation of an injury. 
 
The Council had already apologised that it had relied on wrong information 
during enquiries. The Ombudsman considered this an appropriate 
response and did not investigate further. 
 

Adults and Communities – Social Care 
 

 Case 12 that a care provider failed to take appropriate action following a 
fall by a resident which had resulted in a serious injury. 

 
The Council’s own safeguarding investigation had already substantiated 
that there was neglect by the home and an apology had been provided. 
The Council’s Compliance team was already working with the provider to 
ensure improvements were made. 
 
The Ombudsman asked the Council to make an additional payment to the 
family of £500 recognising the distress caused. 
 
The Ombudsman also found that the Council had failed to identify and 
document an affordable placement. A further remedy payment of £250 
and staff training was agreed. 
  

 Case 13 related to the quality and timeliness of home care provision.  
 
The Council had already accepted some communication issues from the 
provider and had agreed at an early stage to write off the outstanding 
invoice of £144.51. 
 

 Case 14 primarily related to the quality of residential care received at a 
Council commissioned placement. 
 
The Ombudsman found several areas of poor practice by the care 
provider and as the Commissioner, the Council is responsible for these 
failings. The Ombudsman was also critical of the quality of the Council’s 
safeguarding investigation. 
 

82



  

The Council agreed to write off 10% of the outstanding care bill 
(£1,580.11) and an additional distress payment of £500 in recognition of 
the above. 
 
It also agreed to remind officers of the importance of ensuring signposting 
back to the Complaints team at closure of safeguarding investigations. 
 
The Council also agreed to review the care records of all other placements 
at this care home to ensure others were not experiencing similar issues 
and to carry out a re-assessment of the subject to ensure their needs were 
being fully met 
 

 Case 15 was a joint adult and children social care complaint about the 
handling of disabled facilities grants for a family. 
 
The Ombudsman found fault with the processes undertaken which directly 
led to unnecessary delay and distress. The Council agreed to make a 
payment of £500 and provide urgent clarity on the status for each of the 
respective DFG applications. 

 

 Case 16 related to the arrangement of home care. The Ombudsman 
found the Council at fault for failing to arrange this in a timely fashion 
which resulted in the family incurring un-necessary residential care costs. 
 
The Council agreed to make a payment of £1,100 in recognition of the 
third  party top up costs incurred. 

 

Environment and Transport 
 

 Case 17 related to Highways. The complaint related to re-surfacing work 
carried out by Highways and an allegation that since that time the road in 
question suffers from excessive noise and vibration. 

 
The Council had responded formally to this complaint but had not offered 
a site visit. Whilst the Ombudsman stopped short of asking the Council to 
undertake this, he was critical that the Council had not given a detailed 
enough explanation in its response. The Council agreed to apologise and 
provide this further detail. 
 

 Case 18 was a complaint regarding an incorrectly issued Penalty Notice. 
The Council had already accepted that the notice was incorrectly issued 
and written off the charge. 
 
The Ombudsman did not investigate this further but recorded it as an 
upheld complaint already rectified by the Council.  

83



  

SUMMARY 
 

18. The Ombudsman produced no public reports against the Council during 
2019/20. At the time of this report none have been issued within the last 
six years. 

 
19. Financial remedies determined by the Ombudsman amounted to 

£30,129.62. This is a significant increase from last year (£1,100). The 
primary factor in this rise was SEN complaints. 

 
20. All of the above financial settlements were approved by the Director of 

Law and Governance, in accordance with powers delegated by this 
Committee at its meeting on 26 November 2012. 

 
21. The Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee was consulted and 

approved one of the above payments as it was more than the delegated 
£5,000 limit. 

 
22. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman continues to 

promote an interactive map of the Council’s performance. This is available 
through a link within Appendix A and allows for easy access and 
comparison of the data presented in this report with other authorities. 

 
Part 2: Update on Complaints Handling 
 
23. The Council has a statutory duty to produce an annual report on both 

children and adult social care complaints. These reports were presented 
to the respective Overview and Scrutiny Committees on 1 and 7 
September 2020. 

 
24. The Council also produces a Corporate Complaints Annual report which 

considers all other non-statutory complaints. This was presented to the 
Scrutiny Commission on 2 September 2020. 

 
25. Collectively these reports highlighted the following key themes and 

performance: 
 

 There has been a 39% increase in all complaints recorded over the last 
three years with a total of 759 new complaints recorded in 2019/20. 

 

 The only type of complaint where there has been a reduction over the last 
12 months is children’s social care statutory complaints where 16 less 
complaints were received (-12%) 
 

 However, overall Children Social Care complaints did not reduce as 
instead more were considered under our Corporate Complaints procedure 
following the application of fresh guidance released by the LGO during the 
year. The relevance of this is that under the statutory procedure Local 
Authorities incur significant costs of commissioning independent 

84



  

investigations. Whilst the County Council spent £65,000 in 2019/20 it is 
now starting to see a reduction in 2020/21. 

 

 Despite the growth in demand, 83% of all stage 1 complaints were 
responded to within 20 working days. This was an improvement of 9% 
from 2018/19 
 

 Only nine complaints exceeded the policy maximum timescale of 65 
working days. 
 

 There have been significant pressures on the SEN assessment service 
during 2019/20 and this has been reflected both in high levels of corporate 
complaints and adverse decisions made by the Ombudsman. 
 

 There was also a significant volume of complaints around SEN Transport 
caused by a delay to the summer planning and whilst the outcome of a 
judicial review was awaited. 
 

 An increase in complaints has also been seen about residential care 
provision and highlighted some improvements required in how the Council 
ensure the consistency and quality of safeguarding investigations. 
 

26. In addition to the improvements driven by Ombudsman investigations, 
there are a number of examples during the year of systemic change driven 
by complaints intelligence. These include: 
 

 The creation of a joint complaints handling process with District 
partners to improve collaborative working on Lightbulb complaints. 
 

 The issuing of improved guidance and fact sheets for parents 
attending Child Protection Conferences. 

 
 The introduction of new Practice Standards for all Childrens Social 

Care workers clearly setting out what should be expected of 
workers. 

 
 Significant training on the need to document and clearly record key 

conversations around charging for adult social care. 
 

 The investment of additional service manager capacity into areas 
seeing high complaint levels such as SEN and specific locality 
social care teams. 

 
27. During the year the LGO also issued revised “Effective Complaints 

Handling Guidance” which the Council has reviewed and as a result 
implemented several changes to local procedures to ensure full 
compliance.  

85



  

Part 3: Update on Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) handling 
 

Summary of the legislation and principal functions of the Corporate FOI 
service 
 

28. The FOIA gives anyone the right to ask a public authority for 
information; for the information to be released to them, and / or to be told 
why the information cannot be provided. The Act places a duty on Local 
Authorities to respond within 20 working days (in most circumstances) 
Procedures for ensuring compliance with the legislation 
 
29. The principal functions of the FOI team are to: 

 

 Acknowledge receipt of the request and ensure the progress of the 
request is tracked to completion. 

 Undertake any redactions necessary and distribute responses to 
requests. This includes publication through our disclosure log, unless 
there are clear reasons not to do so. 

 Consider the application of any exemptions or exceptions and give a 
clear explanation for any information withheld and the reasons why the 
balance of public interest is against disclosure. 

 Provide advice and assistance to members of the public and others 
wishing to use the legislation. 

 Provide support and advice to staff responding to requests 

 Manage the FOI / EIR appeals or complaints procedures including 
liaison with the Information Commissioner 

 
Annual Performance April 2019 – March 2020 

 
Analysis of requests received 
 
30. Between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, 983 requests were received 

compared to 1,055 in the previous year. This represents a 7% decrease. 
 
31. 891 (88%) of the requests were responded to within 20 working days. This 

was a 6% improvement on 2018-19. 
 
32. ICO Guidance suggests a target of 90% should be set by Local 

Authorities in this area. 
 

33. Significant work has been undertaken to improve co-ordination of FOI 
handling and this saw a record 98% responded to within 20 working days 
during Q4.  

86



  

Performance 2020-2021 as of 1 November 2020 

 
Analysis of requests received 

 
34. 512 requests have been recorded.  

35. At the start of the pandemic and through the initial national lockdown 
period there was a distinct drop in FOI requests. This saw just 151 in Q1. 

 
36. Since that point volumes have been steadily increasing including a 

number linked to COVID-19 data requests. 
 
37. Requests were received across a wide range of subject matters with the 

top three areas being: 
 

 Schools 47 

 Road Maintenance & Design   39 

 Adult Social Care   37 

38. The principal change from 2018/19 is the increase in requests regarding 
Adult Social Care. The impact of COVID-19 is also a significant factor this 
year both in that increase and more broadly with 28 specific requests 
around COVID-19 planning and data. 

 

39. Where identifiable, data is now available on applicants seeking information 
and the following table sets out the top three requestors during this period 
 

Applicant Type Number of requests 

Member of the public 344 

Business 121 

Media 47 

 
40. All requests by the media are automatically flagged and approval is sought 

by our Media team prior to any publication. 
 
 
Responses provided  

 
Analysis of requests responded to between 1 April – 1 November 2020 

 
41. 431 requests were closed during the above reporting period and this can 

be further broken down into: 
 

402 FOIA requests 
29 EIR requests 
 

42. Information was provided in full for 299 requests (69%) with a further 65 
instances (15%) where partial information was provided with part of the 

87



  

request refused as either “Not held” or using a valid exemption. 29 
requests were refused in full. 

 
43. The most common exemptions used during this reporting period were: 

 

 S.12 (FOIA) Cost Exceeds 18 hours to provide  31 

 S.43 (FOIA) Prejudicial to Commercial Interests  9 

 S.21 (FOIA) Information available by other means  8 
 

Compliance with statutory timescales as at 1 November 2020 
 
44. 82% of requests were responded to within 20 working days. This remains 

under the Information Commissioner Office (ICO) target of 90%. 
 
45. In April the ICO recognised the need for authorities to prioritise pandemic 

support and indicated that they would not look to penalise Councils for 
delayed responses to FOI requests. 

 
The graphic below charts the respective performance by Department 
 

Response times in working days 
 

Department <5  6-10 11-15 16-20 >20 
A&C 3 (8%) 0 (0%) 2 (6%) 0 (0%) 30 (83%) 

CEX 14 (40%) 3 (9%) 9 (26%) 6 (17%) 3 (9%) 

CFS 29 (32%) 21 (23%) 27 (30%) 12 (13%) 2 (2%) 

CR 32 (28%) 20 (18%) 19 (17%) 16 (14%) 27 (24%) 

E&T 29 (31%) 15 (16%) 25 (27%) 23 (24%) 2 (2%) 

PH 1 (5%) 1 (5%) 8 (42%) 5 (26%) 4 (21%) 

MULTI 8 (19%) 6 (14%) 8 (19%) 11 (26%) 9 (21%) 

ALL 116 (27%) 66 (15%) 98 (23%) 74(17%) 77 (18%) 

 
46. During the year there have been specific pressures on Adults and 

Communities in responding to FOI requests. Work has been done to 
assist the Department and a gradual improvement is being seen through 
Quarter 3. All other departments continue to perform well in complying 
with statutory timescales. 

 

Internal reviews and Information Commissioner enquiries 
 
47. There have been three internal reviews requested between April to 

November 2020. This equates to a percentage of 0.6%. 
 

48. One of the Internal reviews was upheld on appeal, one remains open at 
the time of this report. 

 
49. There have been no ICO enquiries between April to November 2020 and 

no adverse decision notices issued 
 

88



  

Recommendations 
 
50. The Committee is recommended to: 
 

(a) note the contents of this report;  
 

(b) provide comment and feedback on the Ombudsman’s annual 
review letter and the complaints and FOI handling arrangements 
and improvements as outlined. 

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment was completed in 2014. 
There have been no significant changes to the complaints handling process 
since this time. Neither have any been identified regarding handing of FOI 
requests. 
 

Background Papers 
 
Report to the Scrutiny Commission dated 2 September 2020 ‘Corporate 
Complaints and Compliments Annual Report 2019/20’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6177&Ver=4 
 
Report to Adults and Communities Scrutiny and Overview Committee dated 7 
September 2020 ‘Annual Adult Social Care Complaints and Compliments Report’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1040&MId=6170&Ver=4 
 
Report to Children and Families Scrutiny and Overview Committee dated 1 
September 2020 ‘Children’s Social Care Statutory Complaints and Compliments 
Annual Report 2019/20’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1043&MId=6182&Ver=4 
 

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedures 
 
None.  
 

Officers to contact 
 
Simon Parsons,  
Customer Relations Manager 
Tel:  0116 3056243 
Email: simon.parsons@leics.gov.uk 
 
Lauren Haslam, Director of Law and Governance 
Tel:  0116 3056240 
Email: lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk 
 

89

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6177&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1040&MId=6170&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1043&MId=6182&Ver=4
mailto:simon.parsons@leics.gov.uk
mailto:lauren.haslem@leics.gov.uk


  

List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A: The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual 

Review Letter dated 22 July 2020 – Leicestershire County Council 
– for the year ended 31 March 2020 

 
Appendix B: The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman review of 

local government complaints 2019-20 
 
Appendix C:  Benchmarking data for statistically comparable neighbours as 

defined by CIPFA 
 

90



 

 

 

 

22 July 2020 
 
By email 
 
Mr Sinnott 
Chief Executive 
Leicestershire County Council 
 
Dear Mr Sinnott  
 
Annual Review letter 2020 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending            

31 March 2020. Given the exceptional pressures under which local authorities have been 

working over recent months, I thought carefully about whether it was still appropriate to send 

you this annual update. However, now, more than ever, I believe that it is essential that the 

public experience of local services is at the heart of our thinking. So, I hope that this 

feedback, which provides unique insight into the lived experience of your Council’s services, 

will be useful as you continue to deal with the current situation and plan for the future. 

Complaint statistics 

This year, we continue to place our focus on the outcomes of complaints and what can be 

learned from them. We want to provide you with the most insightful information we can and 

have made several changes over recent years to improve the data we capture and report. 

We focus our statistics on these three key areas: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find some form of fault in an 

authority’s actions, including where the authority accepted fault before we investigated. A 

focus on how often things go wrong, rather than simple volumes of complaints provides a 

clearer indicator of performance. 

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for authorities to put things 

right when faults have caused injustice. Our recommendations try to put people back in the 

position they were before the fault and we monitor authorities to ensure they comply with our 

recommendations. Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a 

compliance rate below 100% should scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply 

and identify any learning. 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority - We want to encourage the early 

resolution of complaints and to credit authorities that have a positive and open approach to 

91



resolving complaints. We recognise cases where an authority has taken steps to put things 

right before the complaint came to us. The authority upheld the complaint and we agreed 

with how it offered to put things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your authority with similar types of 

authorities to work out an average level of performance. We do this for County Councils, 

District Councils, Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

This data will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s performance, along with a 

copy of this letter on 29 July 2020, and our Review of Local Government Complaints. For 

further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website. 

Resources to help you get it right 

There are a range of resources available that can support you to place the learning from 

complaints, about your authority and others, at the heart of your system of corporate 

governance. Your council’s performance launched last year and puts our data and 

information about councils in one place. Again, the emphasis is on learning, not numbers. 

You can find the decisions we have made, public reports we have issued, and the service 

improvements your Council has agreed to make as a result of our investigations, as well as 

previous annual review letters.  

I would encourage you to share the tool with colleagues and elected members; the 

information can provide valuable insights into service areas, early warning signs of problems 

and is a key source of information for governance, audit, risk and scrutiny functions. 

Earlier this year, we held our link officer seminars in London, Bristol, Leeds and Birmingham. 

Attended by 178 delegates from 143 local authorities, we focused on maximising the impact 

of complaints, making sure the right person is involved with complaints at the right time, and 

how to overcome common challenges.  

We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities 

and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. During the year, 

we delivered 118 courses, training more than 1,400 people. This is 47 more courses than we 

delivered last year and included more training to adult social care providers than ever before. 

To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

92

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Leicestershire County Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/20                                                               

 

 

 

Complaints upheld 

  

78% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
66% in similar authorities. 

 
 

18                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 23 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2019 to 31 

March 2020 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the authority had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
100% in similar authorities. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 13 
compliance outcomes for the period 
between 1 April 2019 to 31 March 

2020 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a compliance rate below 100% should 
scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority 

  

In 11% of upheld cases we 
found the authority had provided 
a satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
9% in similar authorities. 

 

2                      
satisfactory remedy decisions 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 23 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2020 

 
 

78% 

100% 

11% 

93



This page is intentionally left blank



Review of Local 
Government 
Complaints 
2019-2020

July 2020

95



Local Government Complaints 2019-20

Contents

Ombudsman’s foreword 1

Putting things right 3

Compliance with recommendations 4

Learning from complaints 5

Decisions and Reports 6

The impact of a single complaint 9

Raising the profile of complaints 14

How councillors can use our data to support scrutiny 15

Resolving complaints effectively 16

96



Local Government Complaints 2019-20 1

Ombudsman’s foreword

I am pleased to present our Review of Local 
Government Complaints for 2019-20. 

Alongside this report, we publish our complaints 
data at local authority level, and upload annual 
data on our interactive map - your council’s 
performance.

Launched last year, our performance map 
supports our focus on complaint outcomes and 
the learning opportunities our investigations offer. 
The user-friendly tool is helping to increase public 
scrutiny and accountability of councils by setting 
out where they have got things wrong and what 
commitments they have made to improve, as well 
as how they fare against similar authorities. 
I encourage you to take a look at how your council 
is performing.

Our complaint statistics for 2019-20 tell us: 

• We are finding fault more often: we upheld 
61% of complaints we investigated in detail, 
up from 58% last year

• We uphold the highest proportion of 
complaints about Education and children’s 
services (72%)

• Councils are putting things right more 
often. In 13% of upheld cases, councils had 
already offered a suitable remedy, up from 
11% last year

• We recommended 1,629 service 
improvements, up 12% on the previous year

• Compliance with our recommendations 
remains high at 99.4%

We published 63 public interest reports during the 
year. These reports allow us to share the lessons 
from the cases we investigate, as well as holding 
authorities to account. Over a third of these reports 
were about Education and children’s services, 
with several demonstrating continued failings 
across the sector to properly provide Education, 
Health and Care (EHC) plans. In response to 
the significant number of investigations we have 
carried out and the concerning uphold rate – 
sitting at an unprecedented 91% for the year, we 
published a third focus report on the issue. I urge 
all councils with responsibilities for EHC plans 
to learn from the experiences of the families and 
children highlighted in the report and to take steps 
to avoid the problems that appear to beset the 
system. 

97

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5693/EHCP-2019-vfC.pdf


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 2

The complexity of the cases we investigate has 
certainly increased over recent years, often 
exposing procedural and policy errors, no doubt 
a result of the challenging environment local 
government operates in. For us, it clearly shows 
that fixing complaints one by one is short-sighted 
and ultimately serves as a lost opportunity to spot 
wider lessons and do better. 

Single complaints offer great potential to prevent 
problems reoccurring and improve services for 
others. This is why our recommendations focus 
both on remedying individual injustice and achieving 
wider service improvements. We made 12% more 
service improvement recommendations this year. 
We have highlighted cases in this report where 
councils have demonstrated their commitment 
to learning and improving from complaints and I 
commend their approach. 

I welcome the constructive way most authorities 
work with us to remedy injustices and take steps 
to improve. When we uphold complaints, we 
closely monitor when our recommendations are 
implemented. We take action on the rare occasions 
they are not. There were no formal incidents of  
non-compliance to our recommendations during 
the year – a positive indication of the value the 
sector places on complaints and our investigations. 
However, we have issued a handful of further 
reports this year about councils who have missed 
opportunities to learn from our investigations. While 
overall compliance with recommendations remains 
high, we will continue to shine a spotlight on the 
small minority who fail to deliver.

The end of 2019-20 saw an abrupt pause to our 
casework in response to the exceptional operational 
challenges local authorities and care providers 
faced because of the Covid-19 pandemic. We did 
not take this decision lightly, but it was the right 
thing to do to allow authorities and care providers 
space to deliver crucial frontline services. 

Some four months in, and without a clear end point 
to the pandemic, I am aware that services must 
adapt and continue to be delivered within this new 
reality, including our own. We have resumed our 
casework and are taking new complaints again. To 
support bodies in our jurisdiction we have issued 
guidance on good administrative practice and 
handling complaints during the Covid-19 crisis. 

Looking ahead, while we will continue to 
acknowledge the practical and logistical challenges 
faced by authorities in dealing with the crisis, we will 
resume our usual principles and thresholds to our 
decision-making. We will continue to support high 
quality public administration and the full delivery 
of all statutory duties. We remain committed to 
exposing failings to rigorous public scrutiny.

I hope this report, and the accompanying suite 
of data and information, will help authorities to 
maximise the valuable potential of complaints and 
drive improvements in local services. 

Michael King
Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman
July 2020

Single complaints offer great 
potential to prevent problems 
reoccurring and improve 
services for others. This is why 
our recommendations focus 
both on remedying individual 
injustice and achieving wider 
service improvements. 

Ombudsman’s foreword
98

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5823/Good-Administrative-Practice-C19-v1.2.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5823/Good-Administrative-Practice-C19-v1.2.pdf


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 3

Putting things right

2,039 

cases with 
recommendations to 
put things right

13% 
upheld cases where 
we agreed with 
authority's remedy

3,746  
recommendations  
to remedy  
personal injustice*

17,019
complaints and 
enquiries 
received

* In many cases, we will recommend more than one type of remedy. For example, we may 
recommend an authority makes an apology, pays a sum of money, and reviews a policy or 
procedure.

1,629
recommendations 

to improve services 
for others*

99



Local Government Complaints 2019-20 4

Compliance with recommendations

While our recommendations to put things right are not binding, in most cases 
authorities work with us constructively to comply with our remedies. 

• We were satisfied with authorities’ compliance with our 
recommendations in 99.4% of cases. But, in 17% of cases this 
compliance was late.

• In 0.6% of cases we were not satisfied with authorities’ compliance with 
our recommendations. 

When an authority fails to implement our recommendations, we can consider 
a range of actions, including issuing a public interest report and opening a 
new investigation into the authority’s failure to provide the agreed remedy.

100



Local Government Complaints 2019-20 5

Learning from complaints

Sometimes we see issues occurring time and again 
and across different authorities. Our focus reports 
are an opportunity to feed back the learning from 
the complaints we investigate. These themed 
reports, and our guidance notes for practitioners, 
highlight the complaints we regularly see and the 
approach we take in our investigations. 

We will often highlight cases where proactive, 
responsive councils have used the learning from 
complaints to make significant improvements to 
services. We also include suggested questions for 
councillors to ask when scrutinising their authorities’ 
performance.

These were the topics we commented on during the 
year:

Not going to plan? Education, Health and Care 
plans two years on 

Two years on from sharing our experience of the 
first one hundred investigations into complaints 
about Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans 
our evidence suggests a system in crisis, which 
is getting worse. We reveal we are upholding an 
unprecedented 9 out of every 10 investigations 
and raise concerns about authorities gatekeeping 
services by changing eligibility 
criteria and basing some 
decisions on financial cost 
rather than meeting assessed 
need. Serious issues we 
highlight include severe delays 
when issuing an EHC plan, 
failing to anticipate local needs, 
poor communication and 
preparation for meetings, and 
lack of oversight by senior staff.

Focus on Housing Benefit

We highlight the human cost when housing benefit 
is not properly administered, including in extreme 
examples, families left at risk of losing their homes. 
Despite being replaced by Universal Credit, with 
some 3.6 million of the most vulnerable households 
still relying on housing benefit, our report reminds 

councils to properly administer 
the service. We share good 
practice, including ensuring 
families are properly advised 
of their appeal rights, and 
that recovery action is not 
progressed before appeal 
deadlines have expired. 

We published guidance for 
practitioners on:

Council Tax Reduction

We share insight from our investigations about 
complex council tax reduction complaints. These 
schemes replaced the centrally administered 
council tax benefit in 2013. 
With no national regulations 
to comply with, these locally 
administered schemes can 
be susceptible to inconsistent 
processes and giving unclear 
advice to the public. Our good 
practice points are aimed at 
ensuring councils deal with 
cases consistently and fairly.

Armed Forces Covenant

This guidance helps councils to meet their 
obligations set out in the Armed Forces Covenant. 
The covenant pledges that 
servicemen and women, 
and their families, will not be 
disadvantaged by their roles 
compared to others, when 
applying for council services. 
Our document highlights 
learning points from our 
complaints, particularly around 
school admissions, school 
transport and housing.

101

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/focus-reports
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5693/EHCP-2019-vfC.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5693/EHCP-2019-vfC.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5751/Housing-Benefit-Final.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5670/GUIDANCE-Benefits-and-Taxation-FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5728/GUIDANCE-Armed-forces-covenant-vF.pdf


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 6

  Adult care services

   986 detailed investigations 

   68% upheld

Published reports 

LB Barking and Dagenham 
- charging

Staffordshire CC - 
assessment and care 
planning

Wirral MBC - domiciliary 
care

Bolton MBC - assessment 
and care planning

Suffolk CC - direct 
payments

Somerset CC - 
assessment and care 
planning

Staffordshire CC - 
assessment and care 
planning

Somerset CC - 
assessment and care 
planning

Sheffield City Council - 
transport

Salford City Council - 
assessment and care 
planning

Derbyshire CC - 
safeguarding

Nottinghamshire CC - 
direct parents

Norfolk CC - assessment 
and care planning

North Yorkshire CC - 
assessment and care 
planing

 Education & children's services

   910 detailed investigations 

   72% upheld

Published reports 
Birmingham City Council - 
school transport

LB Hackney - special 
educational needs

LB Hackney - special 
educational needs

West Sussex CC - 
alternative provision

Lancashire CC - statutory 
complaints procedure

Dudley MBC - special 
educational needs

Oxfordshire CC - 
alternative provision

Leicester City Council - 
other provision

Derbyshire CC - special 
educational needs

Lancashire CC - friends 
and family carers

Leeds City Council - 
alternative provision

Worcestershire CC - 
special educational needs

Dorset CC - special 
educational needs

LB Bexley - school 
transport

Rochdale MBC - friends 
and family carers

East Riding of Yorkshire 
Council - adoption 

Sandwell MBC - other 
children’s services

Wolverhampton City 
Council - fostering

LB Richmond upon 
Thames - special 
educational needs

East Sussex CC - school 
transport

Derby City Council - 
special educational needs

Luton Borough Council - 
special educational needs

Decisions and Reports

We are one of the only Ombudsman schemes to publish every decision we make. We do this to share 
learning and improve the transparency of our work. 

Our decisions are published at www.lgo.org.uk/decisions and can be searched by theme, key word, 
category, decision outcome, date and organisation.

Public interest reports

Cases that raise serious issues or highlight matters of public interest are given extra prominence and 
issued as public interest reports*. 

Our press releases highlight our public interest reports and can be found at www.lgo.org.uk/information-
centre/news 

* Some public interest reports relate to multiple cases. Further reports published are detailed on page 8.

102

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/17-012-203
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/17-012-203
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-004-809
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-004-809
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-004-809
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/17-020-182
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/17-020-182
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/17-017-535
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/17-017-535
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/direct-payments/17-018-391
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/direct-payments/17-018-391
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-012-742
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-012-742
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-012-742
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-018-592
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-018-592
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/18-018-592
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/16-016-755
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/16-016-755
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/16-016-755
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/transport/18-017-471
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/transport/18-017-471
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/19-002-111
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/19-002-111
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/19-002-111
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/safeguarding/16-006-195
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/safeguarding/16-006-195
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/direct-payments/18-015-558
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/direct-payments/18-015-558
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/19-002-258
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/19-002-258
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/19-010-955
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/19-010-955
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/19-010-955
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/17-017-296
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/17-017-296
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/17-001-811
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/17-001-811
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/17-009-505
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/17-009-505
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/alternative-provision/17-008-448
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/alternative-provision/17-008-448
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/other/18-009-920
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/other/18-009-920
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/17-016-386
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/17-016-386
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/alternative-provision/18-009-005
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/alternative-provision/18-009-005
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/other/18-010-117
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/other/18-010-117
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-000-932
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-000-932
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/friends-and-family-carers/18-003-345
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/friends-and-family-carers/18-003-345
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/alternative-provision/18-011-706
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/alternative-provision/18-011-706
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-009-584
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-009-584
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-016-599
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-016-599
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/19-003-689
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/19-003-689
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/friends-and-family-carers/17-010-167
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/friends-and-family-carers/17-010-167
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/adoption/17-003-962
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/adoption/17-003-962
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/other/18-005-804
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/other/18-005-804
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/fostering/17-018-207
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/fostering/17-018-207
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-001-501
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-001-501
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-001-501
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/18-012-500
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/18-012-500
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-015-698
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-015-698
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-012-490
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-012-490
www.lgo.org.uk/decisions
www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news
www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 7

  Planning & 
development

735 detailed 
investigations 

40% upheld

Published reports 

Shropshire Council - 
other planning - 

  Housing 

413 detailed 
investigations 

66% upheld

Published reports 
RB Kensington 
and Chelsea - 
homelessness

LB Haringey - 
homelessness

Oadby and Wigston BC 
- homelessness

Maidstone BC - 
allocations

LB Tower Hamlets - 
homelessness

Folkestone and Hythe 
DC - homelessness

  Environment 
& public 
protection

456 detailed 
investigations 

64% upheld

Published reports

Birmingham City 
Council - refuse and 
recycling

LB Barnet - 
enforcement

Daventry DC - noise

Trafford Council - 
refuse and recycling

  Benefits & 
tax

282 detailed 
investigations 

65% upheld

Published reports 
LB Hillingdon - housing 
benefit and council tax 
benefit

LB Haringey - housing 
benefit and council tax 
benefit

LB Islington - business 
rates

LB Haringey - business 
rates

  Corporate & 
other

142 detailed 
investigations 

42% upheld

No published reports 

  Highways & 
transport

293 detailed 
investigations 
56% upheld

Published reports 
Stockport MBC - 
parking

LB Lambeth - parking

LB Wandsworth - 
parking

Cherwell DC - parking

Decisions and Reports
103

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/other/18-019-770
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/other/18-019-770
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-002-277
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-002-277
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-002-277
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-005-090
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-005-090
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-005-370
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-005-370
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/allocations/18-000-166
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/allocations/18-000-166
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/19-000-068
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/19-000-068
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-018-663
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/18-018-663
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/refuse-and-recycling/18-013-106
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/refuse-and-recycling/18-013-106
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/refuse-and-recycling/18-013-106
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/other/18-009-897
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/other/18-009-897
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/noise/17-013-839
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/refuse-and-recycling/19-003-291
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/refuse-and-recycling/19-003-291
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/17-016-682
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/17-016-682
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/17-016-682
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/18-015-518
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/18-015-518
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/18-015-518
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/other/18-014-066
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/other/18-014-066
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/other/18-004-520
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/other/18-004-520
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/transport-and-highways/parking-and-other-penalties/18-011-086
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/transport-and-highways/parking-and-other-penalties/18-011-086
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/transport-and-highways/parking-and-other-penalties/17-019-196
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/transport-and-highways/parking-and-other-penalties/18-001-442
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/transport-and-highways/parking-and-other-penalties/18-001-442
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/transport-and-highways/parking-and-other-penalties/18-013-736


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 8

Further reports 

Issuing a further report is one of the ways we 
hold local authorities to account by highlighting 
their failings publicly. When an authority fails to 
satisfactorily implement a recommendation or fails 
to respond to a decision, we will issue a further 
report.

We published four further reports during the year:

• West Sussex County Council – Education 
and children’s services – 17 008 448: 
councillors considered the wrong version 
of our report at a meeting and declined to 
comply with the recommended remedy. Our 
further report was issued, and the council 
agreed to the actions we recommended.

•  Lincolnshire County Council – Adult care 
services - 16 003 268: we had previously 
recommended the council ensure they were 
giving people the option to pay a care top 
up fee directly to the council. The council 
failed to do this, and our further report asked 
the council to, again, review its procedures 
and ensure it fully complied with statutory 
guidance.

•  Dudley MBC – Adult care services –  
16 00 2186: the council failed to comply with 
recommendations we made in 2017 to make 
changes to its top up fees. We issued a 
further report asking the council to ensure it 
was properly adhering to statutory guidance.

•  Medway Council – Education and children’s 
services –17 015 628: the council failed to 
review its home to school transport policy 
despite recommendations we made in an 
investigation in 2016. Our further report asked 
the council to consider its policy and make 
changes to ensure it complies with statutory 
guidance.

Decisions and Reports
104

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/alternative-provision/17-008-448
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/16-003-268
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/16-002-186
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/school-transport/17-015-628


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 9

The impact of a single complaint

Our investigation found repeated failures to 
calculate a woman’s housing benefit correctly led 
to her young family being pressured to leave their 
rented property. London Borough of Haringey 
Council then failed to progress the homelessness 
application, and when the woman wanted to 
appeal, it failed to refer her to the tribunal. 

The council agreed to our recommendations to 
make payments for the distress caused and to 
recognise the accommodation the family had been 
placed in was unsuitable, as well as to reimburse 
storage costs. 

The council also agreed to investigate how the 
calculation errors had occurred and to audit cases 
where a similar error could have been made. It 
agreed to correct any mistakes identified by the 
audit. 

The council then exceeded what was asked by 
completing a second audit of cases to ensure 
similar mistakes had not affected other service 
users. 

Housing benefit error leads to wider audit
Case reference: 18 015 518

65% of benefits and 
tax decisions upheld

105

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/housing-benefit-and-council-tax-benefit/18-015-518


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 10

Our investigation found Luton Borough Council 
had failed to ensure children in its area with 
Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans had an 
annual review of their plan. By not having a robust 
annual review process, as required by the law, 
the council did not have an adequate system to 
monitor if the support set out in EHC plans was 
delivered. 

The council had already accepted it was at fault 
in this case and agreed to our recommendations 
for wider service improvements. This included 
producing a detailed action plan to improve its 
EHC plan annual review process, which fed into 
the council’s wider improvements for children with 
special educational needs. 

Commitment to improve EHC plan review process 
Case reference: 18 012 490

91% of Education, 
Health and Care plan 

complaints upheld

The impact of a single complaint
106

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-012-490


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 11

After finding London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
at fault for how it dealt with a pregnant homeless 
woman after she was evicted from the family 
home, we recommended the council make a 
payment to the woman and support her to find 
affordable and suitable accommodation. 

The council had failed to do enough to prevent 
the woman becoming homeless under new 
homelessness prevention laws. 

The council committed to learn from its errors by 
putting in place an action plan demonstrating it 
has properly considered the resources it puts into 
delivering the service, helping to ensure others are 
not affected in the same way in future. 

Service resources reviewed to prevent further homelessness failures 
Case reference: 19 000 068

75% of homelessness 
complaints upheld

The impact of a single complaintThe impact of a single complaint
107

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/19-000-068


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 12

Our investigations found a range of issues with 
Trafford Council’s waste and refuse collection 
service, including failing to return bins and 
missed garden and food waste collections. While 
the council had responded appropriately to the 
problems, it had failed to take steps to prevent the 
same issues reoccurring. 

The council confirmed it was already in a formal 
process with its waste contractor to review 
performance and address service delivery issues 
and agreed to our recommendations to monitor 
collections and review its missed collection 
process. 

Importantly, the council also agreed to ask its 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider the 
recent changes to the waste collection service, 
engaging the local democratic process in oversight 
of the situation.

 

Improvements to monitoring missed bin collections 
Case reference: 19 003 291

87% of refuse and 
recycling complaints 

upheld

The impact of a single complaint
108

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/refuse-and-recycling/19-003-291


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 13

We found that Sheffield City Council’s failure to 
offer a face-to-face mobility assessment to a blue 
badge applicant was contrary to its own policy and 
the guidance in place at the time. 

The council accepted it was at fault early on in 
our investigation and arranged the appropriate 
assessment for the woman. It also agreed to 
our recommendations to apologise and make a 
payment for the time and trouble in pursuing the 
complaint.

To the council’s credit, it recognised its approach 
to blue badge assessments may have caused 
injustice to other applicants. It identified those 
affected and agreed to offer them an assessment 
by a physiotherapist.

The council showed its commitment to learning 
from the complaint by agreeing to review the way it 
deals with applications for blue badges so that, in 
future, all applicants are offered an assessment by 
a physiotherapist in accordance with the legislation 
and statutory guidance. 

 

Blue badge applications reviewed  
Case reference: 18 017 471

68% of adult social 68% of adult social 
care complaints care complaints 

upheldupheld

The impact of a single complaint
109

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/transport/18-017-471


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 14

Raising the profile of complaints

Assessing performance

Our council performance map places all our council 
complaint statistics in a single, interactive hub. It 
is a mine of searchable information that can be 
used by council officers to learn from complaints, 
by councillors to scrutinise decisions about their 
authorities, and by residents to hold their local 
authorities to account. It also allows comparisons to 
be made between similar councils.

Performance map

Every council has a dedicated page where we show 
the following key statistics:

• Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints 
when we find fault in an authority’s actions. 
This includes where the authority accepted 
fault before we investigated. By focusing on 
how often things go wrong, rather than simple 
volumes of complaints received provides a 
clearer indicator of performance.

• Compliance with recommendations - We 
recommend ways for authorities to put things 
right when faults have caused injustice. We 
try to put people back in the position they 
were in before the fault and we monitor 
authorities to ensure they comply with our 
recommendations. Failure to comply with our 
recommendations is rare. An authority with a 
compliance rate below 100% should scrutinise 
those complaints where it failed to comply and 
identify any learning.

• Satisfactory remedies provided by the 
council - We want to encourage the early 
resolution of complaints and to credit 
authorities that have a positive and open 
approach to resolving them. We recognise 
cases where a council has taken steps to put 
things right before the complaint came to us. 
In these instances, the authority upheld the 
complaint and we agreed with how it offered 
to put things right.

Each council page also includes our annual review 
letters, links to decisions we have made, public 
interest reports published, and every service 
improvement the council has agreed to make. 

As part of this report, we also publish data tables 
providing complaints information at local authority 
level, which can be freely analysed and segmented.

Complaints are a valuable tool 
for local authorities, providing 
an early warning of possible 
problems, free intelligence 
from people who use services, 
and a tool for supporting good 
governance, risk and audit 
functions.

110

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/local-government-complaint-reviews


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 15

How councillors can use our data to support scrutiny

As a councillor, you can use information about 
complaints to help identify issues affecting local 
people. Using the statistics we publish, we suggest 
some key lines of enquiry for you to consider about 
your authority.

• Uphold rates show the proportion of 
investigations in which we find some fault 
and can indicate problems with services. 
How does your authority compare against 
the national averages or other similar 
authorities?

• Offering a suitable remedy for a complaint 
before it comes to us is a good sign 
your authority can accept fault and offer 
appropriate ways to put things right. How 
often does your authority do this, and how 
does it compare with others?

• Compliance rates show the proportion 
of cases in which we are satisfied our 
recommendations have been implemented 
(based on the evidence authorities give us). 
Compliance less than100% is rare. Does 
your authority have a 100% compliance 
rate – if not, what is it doing to scrutinise 
complaints where it failed to comply?

• Service improvement recommendations 
show what your authority agrees to do 
following our investigations, to make things 
better for everyone. Do you track your 
authority’s service improvements? How are 
they being implemented, and their impact 
monitored?

You can also ask questions to get assurance your 
authority’s complaints processes are operating 
successfully.

• How quickly does your authority respond to 
complaints?

• How does it make sure all partners it 
commissions services from have effective 
complaint handling processes?

• Does your authority’s complaints procedure 
clearly tell people of their right to come to the 
Ombudsman?

111

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance


Local Government Complaints 2019-20 16

Resolving complaints effectively

We think that councils are best placed to put things 
right when they go wrong, and we want to see 
councils resolving complaints before they reach the 
Ombudsman. 

While we already offer a range of resources to 
support good complaint handling, we have trialled 

a new bespoke approach, focusing on a council’s 
specific issues and challenges. 

Working in partnership with a small number of 
councils*, we developed a tailored plan of support 
focused on identifying and implementing solutions 
to improve complaint handling. 

Issues identified 

The council was occasionally late when 
responding to our investigation enquiries 
and often asked for more time to provide 
the information we asked for. Responses to 
complaints about the council’s housing services 
were particularly affected. When we did uphold 
complaints, the council complied with our 
recommendations and there was good evidence 
of it getting things right at the local level by 
offering suitable remedies before complaints 
reached us. We met with council officers and 
confirmed the commitment of its senior leadership 
to address the issues identified. 

Agreed actions

• Monthly progress calls to identify issues and 
discuss possible solutions

• Improved tracking of enquiries and responses 
by the council

• Better communication with our investigators 
when delays occur

• Deliver effective complaint handling training to 
the council’s housing team

• Meet with the council’s senior leadership 
team to highlight our role and the benefits of 
effective complaint handling locally.

Outcomes so far 

The council’s average response times to our 
enquiries reduced from 35 to 20 working days

With our support and senior level buy-in at the 
council, Tower Hamlets was able to resolve 
the issues we identified quickly and effectively. 
The trial demonstrated the benefits of an open 
approach to improving complaint handling with 
the support of bespoke plan from us. In the future, 
we hope to identify more authorities willing to 
engage with us on improving their complaint 
handling.

*Using our casework data and information, we identified councils that could benefit from support to 
improve their responses to our investigations. Tower Hamlets was one of several councils we invited to 
take part in the pilot. Councils participated voluntarily.  

Case study: London Borough of Tower Hamlets

112

https://www.lgo.org.uk/learning-resources


Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry
CV4 0EH

Phone: 0300 061 0614
Web:  www.lgo.org.uk
Twitter: @LGOmbudsman

113

http://www.lgo.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Benchmarking data for LCC Statistical neighbours – Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman complaints and investigations during 2019-20

115



Leicestershire County Council Performance 2019-20

116



Leicestershire County Council Performance 2019-20

117



Leicestershire County Council Performance 2019-20

118



 

 

 

 

 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE –  

25TH NOVEMBER 2020 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

RESILIENCE AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY UPDATE 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Corporate Governance Committee 

with an annual update on the Council’s Resilience and Business Continuity 
activities, work undertaken with other Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
local authorities and wider multi-agency resilience activities. 

 
Background 
 
2. As a “Category 1 Responder” as defined by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 

(the Act) Leicestershire County Council fulfils its obligations stipulated in the Act 
through both membership of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
Resilience Partnership and Local Resilience Forum (LLR Prepared) as well as 
its Business Continuity Policy and structure. 

 
3. The Resilience Partnership team provides representation within the Multi-

Agency arena of the Local Resilience Forum by a number of professional 
Resilience Officers and the formulation of both incident response and 
framework plans.  This team also provides a 24 hour response capability and 
the establishment of Emergency Centres and Humanitarian Assistance. 

 
4. The Council’s Incident Management Plan and Business Continuity Policy are 

the strategic documents which describe the core principles by which the 
Council maintains its ability to respond to internal and external Major Incidents 
that impact on ‘business as usual’.  On an annual basis, there is a requirement 
to review, update and exercise these plans to ensure they are appropriate and 
fit for purpose within the wider multi-agency framework. 

 
Progress Summary 
 
5. The following is a summary of progress achieved on the Council’s Resilience 

and Business Continuity activities since the previous annual report presented to 
this Committee in January 2020. 

 
6. On-Call Arrangements 
  

The On-Call Senior Manager (OCSM) rota was established in October 2017 to 
act as the first point of contact for any incident that affects the Council.  
Mandatory training sessions are held for all managers on the OCSM rota to 

119 Agenda Item 10



 

 

 

 

ensure that the OCSM role provides the ability to provide a consistent and 
effective response at a senior level to incidents both in and out of working 
hours. 

 
7. Incident Management and Business Continuity Plans 

The current operating model comprises a three-tier structure provision to 
ensure resilience and business continuity is fit for purpose.  These have been 
assessed and updated to ensure Covid-19 risk factors have been considered 
and included where appropriate. 

 
(i) Leicestershire County Council Incident Management Plan 

 
 Incident Management Plan: A single purpose plan for the structured response 

to a major incident that lays out the Council’s response to both internal and 
external incidents that impact to such a degree that normal day to day 
operations are affected.  As well as general guidance and identified roles and 
responsibilities for departments and areas of the Council, itemised ‘Action 
Cards’ give an aide-memoire of pre-agreed actions for key personnel in order to 
facilitate a more strategically led process. 

 
(ii) Business Continuity Plans at Three Levels of Provision 

 
Corporate Business Continuity Plan: This plan takes direction from the 
Council’s Corporate Business Continuity Strategy and, information collated 
from Departmental Management Team (DMT) plans (see below), that will 
provide the Council’s Corporate Management Team (CMT) with clear reference 
material on the prioritised critical services and suppliers within the corporate 
structure.   This will then enable strategic oversight of business continuity, and 
enable CMT to provide pre-determined, clear strategic guidance to Council staff 
to assist in impact mitigation following an incident. 

 
DMT Business Continuity Plans: These plans combine the information 
captured from the team level plans to allow DMT managers to effectively 
assess risk and plan contingency measures to ensure continuity of service 
during an incident that impacts on business continuity.  These plans are 
supervised by the Resilience Planning Group (RPG). 

 
Team Business Continuity Plans:  A two-part plan template provides for all 
teams in the Council.  For all critical services, or services that include a critical 
supplier, there is a detailed plan to gather all relevant information required for 
completion of the DMT plan (see above) and a shorter, less detailed plan is 
provided for non-critical services and teams that have been assessed as not 
using a critical supplier.  Importantly, this approach allows for the identification 
of all critical services and suppliers within the Council, to allow departments to 
assess the impact on services during and following an incident.  This enables a 
more effective and robust examination of single points of failure and areas 
where back-up processes need to be considered.  These plans are supervised 
at departmental level. 

 
(iii) Flood and Severe Weather Plan 
 
Flood and Severe Weather Plan:  The Council’s Flood and Severe Weather 
Plan has been constructed in partnership with the Council’s Highways 

120



 

 

 

 

Operations Team, Croft Operations Room, the Environment Agency, Flood 
Wardens and the Resilience Partnership. This plan identifies flood specific roles 
and responsibilities to provide structure and direction to the Council during a 
flooding or severe weather event within the Leicestershire area.  This plan also 
sits within the wider LLR Prepared Flood Framework structure to clearly define 
the support available to Districts affected by a flood or severe weather event. 

 
8. Community Response Plans 
 

The Community Response Plan scheme continues to encourage communities 
across LLR in the production of plans that encourage and support the concept 
of resilience and community.  Currently there are 59 community plans either 
completed or under development. 

 
EU Exit Planning 
 
9. The LLR Prepared arrangements that were previously put in place have now 

been reinstated.  Workstreams currently under development include: 
completion of specific risk assessments; On Call Senior Management 
arrangements; service specific planning (Environment and Transport; 
Communications; and Trading Standards); the holding of multi-agency 
workshops; and participation in national and regional briefings.  

 
Internal Incidents during 2020  
 
10. Since the last annual report, internal incidents of varying levels of severity have 

required Resilience and Business Continuity support and follow-on actions.  
These have included: 

 

 March to present: Covid 19 response 
 

 30/03/2020 Drying room fire 
 

 15/07/2020 Loss of telephony.  No incoming calls to 0116 305 
 

 03 and 04/10/2020 IT shutdown 
 

11. Following these incidents, debriefs and investigations have taken place to 
identify any relevant lessons or actions and appropriate steps taken to update 
and improve the Council’s response arrangements.  A regular update on all 
incidents is provided to the Resilience Planning Group (RPG). 

 
LLR Prepared and Resilience Partnership Multi-Agency Working 
 
12. As part of the Multi-Agency response to Major Incidents, the Council’s 

Resilience Partnership team was involved in response to the following 
incidents: 
 
January:   

o Fire at student accommodation 
o Telephone pole hazard by school 
o Second floor fire at student accommodation on Lancaster Road, City. 

Alternative accommodation for those affected organised. 

121



 

 

 

 

o Wuhan Coronavirus suspicions 
  

February:   
o Storm Ciara, including sandbags and pump plant for Jet Service Station 
o Requests of road closures on B6540 and Sawley, Long Eaton Road 
o Fire and evacuation of Victoria Building at Leicester Royal Infirmary 

 
March:   
o Covid-19 
o Severn Trent notification of potential 22,000 homes without power 

April:   
o Care home PPE (Personal Protective Equipment) supplies 
o Attendance at Regional SCG 
o Organisation of local PPE supplies with MHCLG RED 
o National PPE Emergency drop 

May:   
o Guidance regarding a pupil confirmed with Covid-19 
o Fire in Enderby leading to closure of M69 
o Power outage affecting 3,000 properties 
o Severn Trent Water supply issues due to excess demand 

June:   
o Issue with water distribution stations in Harborough and Oadby 
o Advice and guidance regarding Leicester going into lockdown 

July:   
o Multiple phone calls regarding Covid 19 media releases and contact 

detail requests 
August: 
o IED type device found in a house requiring evacuation of 60-70 people 

and establishment of community Rest Centre 
o Property without water 
o Mobile Testing Unit missing from advertised site 
o Flooded property 

 
September:  
o Fire and potential need for emergency centre at Clyde Court 
o Major water burst at Fosse Park affecting LE2, LE3, LE19 and other 

parts of City / County 
o Wasp infestation at Gretton Court, Melton 
o Covid advice for cases at school and nursery 

 
Schedule of Work: Forward Plan 2020/21 
 
13. The list below notes the planned areas on which work will be focused during 

the next 12 months. 
 

 Continued support for the LRF and Council response and recovery 
structures. 

 Concentration on multiple concurrent incident planning under title of ‘Winter 
Resilience’ including ongoing Covid 19, EU Exit Planning, seasonal 
influenza, Covid 19 mass vaccination and severe weather. 

 Internal support to Council to facilitate maintenance of ability to respond to 
above as well as the addition of any occurring major incident. 

122



 

 

 

 

 Capture and implementation of learning from any local, national or 
international incidents. 

 Business Continuity Supplier Assurance: Continue to review key and critical 
supplier business continuity arrangements to ensure maximum resilience in 
the provision of service. 

 Business Continuity emphasis on assisting DMT managers on the 
implementation of the new Business Continuity structure and data 
gathering from operational team plans in order to ensure production of 
high-quality Business Continuity reporting to CMT and Strategic Business 
Continuity planning. 

 Annual Refresher Training for On Call Senior Managers to ensure internal 
response management ability is maintained. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
14. None for this reporting period.  
 
Conclusion  
 
15. Throughout this reporting period the internal Resilience and Business 

Continuity Team and wider Resilience Partnership has seen unprecedented 
demand to support the Council’s internal response and recovery structures.  At 
the same time ensuring the maintenance of the ability to respond to incidents 
and provide advice or guidance to partner organisations through the local 
authority Resilience Partnership and wider LRF structures. This now includes 
the build up to EU Exit, Covid 19 mass population vaccination programme and 
concurrent incident planning. Key to this is the ongoing work to ensure a robust 
and effective business continuity regime that is embedded at all levels of the 
Council. 

 
Recommendations 
 
16. Corporate Governance Committee is asked to note the progress made on 

Resilience and Business Continuity during 2020.  
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Zafar Saleem 
Head of Communities, Policy and Resilience 
Strategy and Business Intelligence 
Chief Executives Office 
Tel: 0116 305 4952 
Email: zafar.saleem@leics.gov.uk 
 
Andrew Murr 
Resilience and Business Continuity Manager 
Strategy and Business Intelligence 
Chief Executives Office  
Tel: 0116 305 6105 
Email: andrew.murr@leics.gov.uk  
 

123

mailto:zafar.saleem@leics.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.murr@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE: 25TH NOVEMBER 2020 

 
QUARTERLY TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
 
Purpose of report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the actions taken in respect 

of treasury management for the quarter ending 30 September 2020 (Quarter 2). 
 

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2.  The annual investment strategy forms part of the council’s medium term financial 

strategy (MTFS) and was approved by full council in February 2020. 
 

3. An update in respect of Quarter 1 2020/21 was provide to the committee on 24th July 
2020  

 
Background 
 
4. Treasury Management is defined as:  

 
“The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks”. 

 
5. A quarterly report is produced for the Committee to provide an update on any 

significant events in treasury management. 
 

 
Economic Background 
 
6. The Council’s treasury management adviser, Link Asset Management, provides a 

quarterly update outlining the global economic outlook and monetary policy positions.  
An extract from this report is attached as Appendix A to this report.  The key points 
are summarised below. 

 
7. The committee should note this update was produced prior to announcement of a 

new UK national lockdown, the US elections, and the release of vaccine efficacy data 
by Pfizer and BioNTech.    

 

125 Agenda Item 11



 

8. The UK economy has recovered well, so far, following the significant hit to gross 
domestic product (GDP) caused by the initial lockdown and strong growth is 
expected when quarter 3 results are published. However, the recent surge in 
infections and actions being taken to combat this will likely leave growth flat in 
quarter 4, and possibly into quarter 1 2021. 

 
9. Inflation has been suppressed by schemes such as Eat Out to Help Out and the VAT 

cut for some sectors, but the ending of these will result in inflation rising steadily, 
potentially getting towards the Bank of England’s 2% target by the end of next year. 
Further to this, if a trade deal with the EU is not secured this could push inflation 
higher in 2021 due to a likely negative impact on sterling. 

 
10. The role of central banks, and by extension monetary policy, is not expected to 

change in the short term due to the need to maintain the stability and viability of 
financial markets, and to support economic growth. This includes asset purchasing 
programmes (quantitative easing) remaining for a continued, and likely lengthier 
period, suppressing interest rate pressures. The Bank of England continues to 
assess the potential impact of imposing negative rates, although it is thought unlikely 
these will be used. 

 
Update on UK Sovereign Rating 
 
11. This quarter Link have also provided an update on the UK sovereign rating and the 

impact of this on individual institutions. This update has been attached as Appendix B 
to this report. The key points are summarised below. 

 
12. On 16th October 2020 the ratings agency Moody’s took the decision to downgrade 

the UK sovereign rating from Aa2 to Aa3. This decision was driven by a reduction in 
the UK’s economic strength, weakening of the country’s fiscal capacity and a further 
erosion of the UK’s institutions and governance. 

 
13. Subsequently, Moody’s took a decision to downgrade the long-term ratings of six 

large UK banks. This is something that was anticipated as most of the UK banks 
rated by Moody’s were on Negative Outlook at the time. It is important to stress that 
these changes were solely because of the action on the UK sovereign rating, not a 
reflection of deteriorating conditions at the banks themselves.  

 
14. On the upside, it should be noted that Moody’s is one of three credit rating agencies 

used by Link, the others being Fitch and Standard and Poor (S&P). On 23rd October 
S&P Global Ratings affirmed the sovereign rating on the UK and left the rating on 
Stable Outlook. Additionally, despite the down grade, Moody’s view also stresses 
that “The UK's intrinsic economic and institutional strengths, as well as the likely level 
where debt will stabilise, compare well to peers at the Aa3 rating level”.  

 
15. Looking at the UK banking sector, it is important to be mindful of certain negative 

scenarios that could unfold in the coming months and quarters. UK banks have 
several credit strengths such as strong levels of capitalisation and stable funding 
channels, combined with robust liquidity. They also operate under an enhanced 
regulatory framework which has been subject to a material test over the last six 
months. At the same time, UK banks and building societies face a range of 
challenges to their profitability and likely asset quality deterioration because of the 
COVID 19 pandemic-induced shock. Over the next 12-18 months, further rating 

126



 

downgrades of the UK banks and building societies by the three main rating agencies 
cannot be discounted. 
 

16. If ratings changes do occur, then these could potentially have an impact not only in 
relation to the suggested lending durations advised by Link but could also further limit 
the investment options open to the council. 

 
Action Taken During Quarter 2 to September 2020 
 
17. The balance of the investment portfolio increased from £239.2m to £273.3m.  Within 

the portfolio, £115m of investment loans matured at an average rate of 0.66% 
(excluding Private Debt), and £149.9m of new loans were placed, at an average rate 
of 0.34%. We also received a capital receipt for the partners private debt investment 
totalling £0.9m. 
 

18. The average rate achieved on new loans continues to fall short of the average rate of 
loans maturing. This was expected due to the reduction in base rates and the trend is 
likely to continue, as the markets do not foresee an increase in rates any time soon.  
As a result, the portfolio weighted annual percentage rate (APR) reduced from 0.81% 
in Q1 20-21 to 0.69% in Q2 20-21. 

 
19. The chart below shows the weighted APR achieved by the treasury portfolio 

compared to the Bank of England base rate: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      
 

20. The loan portfolio at the end of September was invested with the counterparties 
shown in the list below, shown by original investment date: 
 

 £m Maturity Date 

   

Instant Access   

Money Market Funds 44.9 October 2020 

   

6 Months   

Australia & New Zealand Bank 10.0 August 2020 

Santander 5.0 November 2020 

National Westminster Bank Plc 20.0 November 2020 

Close Brothers 10.0 November 2020 

National Westminster Bank Plc 10.0 December 2020 

127



 

HSBC 30.0 January 2021 

Nationwide Building Society 10.0 January 2021 

Santander 20.0 March 2021 

Close Brothers 15.0 March 2021 

   

12 Months   

Lloyds (Bank of Scotland) 20.0 November 2020 

National Westminster Bank Plc 10.0 December 2020 

HSBC 10.0 March 2021 

National Westminster Bank Plc 10.0 August 2021 

Lloyds (Bank of Scotland) 20.0 September 2021 

   

Beyond 12 Months   

Partners Group (Private Debt) 18.4 Estimated 2024 

Danske Bank 10.0 September 2027 

   

Total Portfolio Balance at 
30 September 2020 

273.3 
 

 

 
 

21. The impact of the Covid19 pandemic has reduced the number of lending options open to 
the council. Whereas the economic crisis of 2008 was characterised by a lack of liquidity 
in financial markets. The opposite is true of the current crises, regulatory requirements 
for increased capitalisation, coupled with unprecedented fiscal and monetary stimulus 
from central governments, mean many of the institutions the council has previously used 
as a counterparty are not currently looking for funding. Further to this, ratings actions 
have reduced the list of acceptable counterparties available.  
 

22. To illustrate how this issue is affecting the council’s treasury operations the institutions 
where we have reached lending capacity have been highlighted in the table above 
(paragraph 20). The committee should also note that since 30th September we have also 
reached capacity with Australia and New Zealand Bank.    
 

23. In order to maintain a low risk approach that is mindful of the rates earned it is important 
to consider all options available in the annual investment strategy. Other than lending to 
banks the current options open to the council are to increase exposure to Money Market 
Funds (MMFs), lend to the Debt Management Office (DMO), and to resume lending to 
other local authorities. 

 
24. Since the Bank of England lowered base rate to 0.10% in March, yields on MMFs have 

rapidly fallen. The council is currently receiving between 0.01% and 0.05% on capital 
invested in MMFs and reports suggest that some funds have hit a zero yield. In most 
cases fund managers have lowered fees to keep yields positive and whilst we anticipate 
this to continue, negative yields in the future cannot be ruled out. The council primarily 
uses MMFs to store its working capital (the day to day funds required to pay for services) 
and it is anticipated that this will continue to be the best way to use this option in the 
short term. 

 
25. The DMO provides the Debt Management Account Deposit Facility (DMADF) to local 

authorities and other eligible institutions. Deposits placed represent a direct claim on HM 
Government, so are very secure. The low risk nature of these deposits mean that the 
yields are often significantly below those that can be achieved in the wider market; hence 

128



 

the council rarely uses this facility. Currently the DMADF offers only fixed term deposits 
and all deposits under 6 months are paying a negative yield – so rather than receiving 
interest we would effectively be charged a fee for the deposit.         
 

26. Link continue to advocate the use of lending to other local authorities as a secure way to 
spread counterparty risk and underpin a balanced portfolio. Local authorities are 
considered a secure counterparty for a number of reasons but primarily;  a historic 
default rate of zero, the fact they cannot technically become insolvent, and that in the 
event that a default did occur courts can order council tax to be collected to repay 
outstanding loans. 
 

27. Further credence can be given to the security of the local authority market by analysing 
the recent bond issues by Lancashire County Council and The London Borough of 
Sutton. During these issues the ratings agencies undertook robust analysis of local 
authority finances and the organisations in question were able to secure a rating equal to 
the UK sovereign rating. The rates paid by these organisations was below the equivalent  
Public Works Loan Board rate. 

 
28. Financial risk is not the only consideration for the council when selecting a counterparty 

and lending to other local authorities does carry reputational risk. If the council placed a 
loan with another authority, who were subsequently revealed to be in financial difficulty, 
then, as previous experience indicates, this could create a negative external view of our 
operations despite the minimal risk of default. There are steps that officers can, and 
would, implement to mitigate this risk. Such as; analysing CIPFA’s resilience index, 
reviewing the authorities accounts and scanning news articles (not all of which will be 
accurate). The Committee should note that much of the information that would be 
available to officers is historic in nature and primarily devised for other purposes. 
Unfortunately, there is no way to fully mitigate this reputational risk. 

 
29. According to the Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 

borrowing between local authorities was £13.5bn for the quarter to June 2020, a 15% 
increase on the same period last year. Reports suggest that the local to local market has 
cooled in the last quarter and there is no guarantee that the council would immediately 
find suitable counterparties for its capital. Previous experience does indicate the market 
is likely to pick up in the final half of the year and in particular the last quarter as 
authorities seek to ensure they have the requisite cash flow to see them through year 
end.    

 
Loans to Counterparties that breached authorised lending list 

 
30. There were no loans active during the period that breached the authorised counterparty 

list at the time that the loan was made.  
 

31. On 20th October 2020, following a ratings downgrade from Moody’s, Link asset services 
reduced the suggested lending duration of Lloyds (Bank of Scotland) from 12 months to 
6 months. As at 30 September the council had £40m of exposure to Lloyds and £20m of 
this will not mature until September 2021 meaning this is now outside of the authorised 
lending duration. 

 
 
 
 

129



 

Resource Implications 
 
32. The interest earned on revenue balances and the interest paid on external debt will 

impact directly onto the resources available to the Council.  For 2019/20 the interest 
generated by Treasury Management activities raised £2.5m.  For 2020/21 the 
expected level of interest is expected to be significantly less than this at approx. 
£1.1m compared to a budget of £2.8m.   

 
Recommendations 
 
33. The Committee is asked to note this report. 
 
Background papers 
 
34. None 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
35. None 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
36. There are no discernible equality and human rights implications 

 
Appendices 
 
37. Appendix A – Economic Overview (September 2020) 
 
38. Appendix B – Update on UK Sovereign Rating 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,  
Corporate Resources Department, 
0116 305 6199    E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property),  
Corporate Resources Department,  
0116 305 7668   E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
  

130

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
file://///lccfp1/findata/Corp/rlakhani/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/jfirth/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/0ABUO68F/Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk


Appendix A 

 
 

Page 1 of 8 
 
 

Economic Overview (September 2020) 

Though the global economy has experienced a solid bounce following the easing of the initial 

pandemic lockdowns, it remains weighed down by the effects of COVID. Additionally, the ongoing, 

recent increases in infections across the economic regions, have seen fresh localised lockdowns that 

could spread and would, potentially, hold back recovery. The major challenge to all areas will be how 

the labour markets and businesses react to the cessation of the widespread furlough, job and 

business support schemes that have, essentially, prevented a total economic collapse. The dark 

clouds of Sino-US trade tensions and similar Brexit trade concerns are also hanging overhead and the 

outlook for the global economy, though better than three months ago, remains uncertain and, 

possibly, fragile. The surge of equity markets belies the state of play and in recent weeks there 

appears to be a dawning of realisation that the world cannot survive on the success of the 

technology sector through the pandemic alone. 

The UK economy has recovered relatively strongly from its COVID slump, but it faces stiff headwinds 

in the coming months that will test its resilience. Certain sectors of the economy have fared less well 

in the post-lockdown bounce, most notably the hospitality sector. The recent surge in COVID 

infections has required localised social restrictions, which it is feared could become more 

widespread if control cannot be achieved. The uncertainty of the domestic situation adds to the 

concerns that a Brexit deal is no nearer to being agreed and that unemployment resultant from the 

pandemic is set to increase further, and potentially sharply, all of which could put the brakes on the 

pace of growth recovery. 

With some member states reimposing COVID restrictions the EU economic recovery has stalled, 

while in some individual countries it may have started to decline. While there are signs of Spanish 

infections growth now starting to slow again the authorities are unlikely to rush to roll back on 

safety. Fears of a second wave has seen use of recreational and retail centres decline, weighing on 

the economy. With these local lockdowns across parts of the EU, and their impact on recovery, the 

ECB will likely need to continue to support, and be required to extend, the asset purchase 

programme beyond its current life expectation. 

The momentum of US economic recovery has slowed but remains relatively strong. This is despite 

the mass increase of COVID infections through the summer months and the cessation of the Federal 

enhancement of unemployment benefits. Retail sales grew solidly in August, even though already 

having surpassed pre-COVID levels. However, the same cannot be said for industrial production, 

131



Appendix A 

 
 

Page 2 of 8 
 
 

which is still markedly below February levels, while housing starts declined. Employment intensive 

areas, such as many services, remain under the cosh, which is why unemployment has remained 

high. With winter approaching and activities where social distancing has been achieved (such as 

outdoor dining in the cold North East) less viable, recovery will face further challenges. However, the 

Fed’s easy monetary policy and hopes of further fiscal relief should enable the economy to sustain 

growth. 

Since April, the Japanese government has issued securities valued at 17% of pre-COVID GDP and will 

issue about a third as much again in the coming six months. The funds have, largely, been used to 

fund household transfers and those to firms included in the April and May emergency budgets. A 

significant proportion of these government funds, however, is sat with the Bank of Japan, indicating 

that much of this year’s planned fiscal spending is still to be undertaken. This indicates that the 

armoury should be in place to underpin recovery over the next two quarters. 

The Chinese economy may be recovering but, for this to be sustained, much now depends on how 

global demand develops. With the lockdowns having been eased, the ensuing possible threat of a 

“second wave” may hamper recovery in key export partners. Overarching all of this is the trade 

dispute with the US, though a Trump defeat at the election could impact on relations between the 

two super-powers. Domestically, concerns about the economy receding has seen property 

developers having their borrowing capacity limited due to authorities’ concerns about credit risk. 

Previously they had been surprisingly omitted from policy makers’ plans for stimulating the 

economy, which was a contrast to the stance following the financial crisis. 

UK 

Taking a view of the UK economy has seen economists raise concerns that recovery could be set 

back severely if fresh restrictive action taken to contain COVID is coupled with a “no deal” Brexit. 

The forecast potential is to the downside for GDP, which will force the Bank of England to add to its 

£745bn of Quantitative Easing (QE) and maintain Bank Rate at current levels for a prolonged period. 

This scenario would likely ensure no material upside to gilt yields. 

The economy has recovered in the main from the disastrous hit to GDP caused by the lockdown and 

should see strong growth in Q3. However, the surge in infections and actions being taken to combat 

the spread will likely leave growth flat in Q4, and possibly Q1 2021. In turn, this could delay the 

return to pre-pandemic levels. Forecasters suggest that if the new restrictions are widened, 

tightened and last into 2021 in some form - and a narrow EU trade deal is achieved by year end - 

132



Appendix A 

 
 

Page 3 of 8 
 
 

then the delay could push into 2022. Early easing of restrictions and availability of a vaccine would 

tip the balance to the upside, but the downside risks seem greater at present, particularly without 

any clear indication that a Brexit “deal” is in the offing. It is hoped that the UK and EU will come to a 

compromise to avoid this, but a modest cooperative deal is still expected to see GDP fall by 1% next 

year, whereas a hard Brexit could result in a 2.5% hit to growth. 

The budget deficit is unlikely to be reduced greatly next year but the cessation of government 

support schemes will hit households and businesses. The job support schemes have and will dampen 

job losses to a point. Nevertheless, unemployment is forecast to balloon to around 8% in 2021 and 

business failures are likely to increase. That potential outlook, and broader uncertainty, is hitting 

business investment. Equally, inflation was suppressed by schemes such as Eat Out to Help Out and 

the VAT cut for some sectors, but the ending of these will result in inflation rising steadily, 

potentially getting towards the Bank of England’s 2% target by the end of next year, before the 

moderated economic recovery pulls the level down in 2022. Note, however, that a “no deal” Brexit 

could push inflation higher in 2021 due to a likely negative impact on sterling. Negative interest rates 

are in the Bank’s armoury but are not likely to be used. However, additional QE looks on the cards, 

which will, if some commentators are correct, keep Bank Rate at 0.10% until 2025. The added impact 

of such a scenario would be to dampen the upside potential for gilt yields in coming years. 

Having bounced strongly on the release of pent up demand, and a significant build-up of household 

savings, consumer spending is now heading into a number of headwinds. Withdrawal of government 

support, rising unemployment and the re-introduction of restrictions will hit both the ability and 

desire of consumers to spend, causing a contraction, delaying the return to pre-crisis growth levels 

for some time. After the Q2 disaster, spending burst into life on the release from lockdown, with 

total retail sales 4% higher in August than back in February, bolstered by strength of online activity 

and a spending switch from hospitality/leisure to goods. While household goods’ sales may continue 

to do well, the recovery is moving to the next phase as the initial tsunami of spending has passed. 

There are already signs that retail and recreational sites are seeing declines in footfall, and not 

simply due to the increase in localised lockdowns. Looking ahead, incomes and COVID will be the 

determinants of spending, and rising unemployment and uncertainty will weigh on spending. Labour 

market slack and weak GDP will impact on nominal earnings growth, which may flatline in coming 

years. This will hit real household disposable incomes, with the lowest paid sectors hit hardest. With 

those sectors spending the highest proportion of incomes, consumer spending will inevitably take a 

hit. Consumer confidence will also be held back if lockdowns return and are widespread. This will 

133



Appendix A 

 
 

Page 4 of 8 
 
 

filter into a reluctance to spend, while the service sector will be hit hardest by the restrictions placed 

on consumers. 

Two of the strongest areas of GDP growth are likely to remain Government and dwellings’ 

investment, being among the fastest areas to regain pre-COVID levels post-lockdown. Contrasting 

these, business investment will lag as one of the weakest. The Help to Buy scheme and stamp duty 

holiday have helped to tap the pent-up demand in the housing market, while the Government has 

added £7bn to the spending budgets for health capital and infrastructure. In the short-term these 

have offered a significant boost, but the levels of growth generated are unsustainable. It is highly 

likely that housing demand has surged as buyers have been encouraged to bring forward activity to 

benefit from the withdrawal of the tax, as has been the case with the infrastructure projects. Both 

areas are likely to flatline or contract at some point in 2021. The concern is that business investment 

will remain subdued because of the uncertainty over Brexit and the duration of COVID. Surveys of 

investment intentions remain reflective of business plans contracting steeply, and even a delayed 

Brexit deal would do little to help in the short-term as businesses wait to assess how the terms of 

any deal will work. Having seen profits hit and debt levels increased, firms are likely to be cagey 

about capital investment and may prioritise paying down debts. A sticking point for smaller 

businesses may be access to credit with Business Interruption and Bounce Back loan schemes due to 

close at the end of November, with repayment of interest and gradual principal reductions to 

commence next March. At the same time, other firms will just have no need to invest as they are not 

operating at full capacity - indeed spare capacity is likely to be a drag on the economy for some time. 

The downturn in commercial property will be a long-term drag on buildings/structures investment. 

One area that analysts suggest may buck the trend in investment is Information Communication 

Technology, which has felt less impact from the situation, and has possibly benefited. Q4 could see 

stockpiling if a “no deal” Brexit looks likely, but with demand concerns and weak cash reserves the 

impact on GDP may be rather less than that seen ahead of the original Brexit date. Analysts are 

fearful that total investment will still be lower than pre-virus levels by the end of 2022, with business 

investment 5% down. 

The collapse of trade during the pandemic saw UK trade run at a surplus, but that will not last. Q2 

declines in both exports and exports are reversing, which will turn the positive net trade 

contribution to GDP growth in Q1/2 into a drag in Q3. At the same time, low levels of international 

travel and the slow recovery here are likely to result in less large deficits for a while. Looking ahead 

and a “no deal” Brexit would impact with potential disruption of trade flows once more. Recovery in 

134



Appendix A 

 
 

Page 5 of 8 
 
 

Europe appears to be stuttering, but has been stronger in the US and China, thus with our trade 

partners rebounding strongly that should be supportive of healthy growth in UK exports, helping the 

trade balance, while the UKs slower recovery should also subdue import demand. 

Weakness of business investment will also put downside pressure on import demand, but any shift 

in consumer spending to goods, from domestic services, is generally supportive of imports. However, 

the collapse in travel and tourism will likely offset any such switch, as UK travellers tended to 

outspend the amount foreign visitors spend in the UK. Net trade is expected to add 2% to GDP this 

year, but could be a 1.5% drag in 2021, as the surplus turns mildly negative. 

To date, the labour market has been cushioned from the full impact of the pandemic by the 

government support packages for businesses and workers. However, as the new year progresses and 

those schemes are wound down, there is the potential for problems. Most, but not all, of the 5.5 

million workers who came off the furlough scheme in August returned to work. Employment only 

declined by 482,000 in the six months to August, with inactivity up 465,000 and unemployment 

158,000. Jobless numbers hit 1.5 million pushing the unemployment rate to 4.5%, though there is a 

feeling that the job losses may be higher as HMRC paid employee numbers are down 685,000, while 

those receiving jobless benefits are up by 1.5 million. Notwithstanding this, the outlook is uncertain, 

with around two million jobs of those still on furlough support at risk, particularly as fresh tightening 

of restrictions will rein in recovery. Some of the blow will be softened by the reduced Job Support 

Scheme, but this will just kick the problem to a later date, with economists fearing a 1.5% fall in 

employment at cessation of the current schemes, which could worsen to a 4% decline in 2021. 

The unemployment rate may be held back by a fall in the labour force, while the drop in vacancy 

levels may deter some from looking for new employment. That will change as the economy picks up, 

paradoxically pushing the unemployment rate higher. Jobless numbers could rise to 2.6 million, 

which would equate to a jobless rate of 8% next year, with some services sectors suffering until 

2022/23. Average earnings have increased on the basis that those coming off the furlough scheme 

are receiving 100% of wages, compared to 80%, and that will be sustained as more of these workers 

return. Indeed, by August earnings had reversed all falls, but rising unemployment and increased 

labour market slack will dampen earnings growth down the line and is likely to have an ongoing 

disinflationary impact. Inflation has started to bounce from its 0.2% low in August and is expected to 

rise slowly and gradually over the next year or so, but while forecast to hit around the 2% target in 

2021, it is expected to ease back to around 1.5% in 2022. Longer term risks remain to the upside, 

and the BoE will be alert to this. The cause of the CPI fall was due to the Eat Out To Help Out scheme 

135



Appendix A 

 
 

Page 6 of 8 
 
 

pulling consumer prices down, combining with the impact of the sharp fall in crude oil prices earlier 

in the year and the temporary VAT reduction in the tourism/hospitality sector. However, these will 

gradually fall out of the inflation equation, and CPI will then head towards 2%. The subsequent dip 

will be due to weak goods inflation, which has been heightened recently by the lag in production to 

meet post-lockdown demand. If there is a Brexit deal, Sterling should strengthen to weaken goods 

inflation, conversely a no deal Brexit could have serious upside implications, as weaker Sterling 

pushes import prices higher. In addition, there would be import tariffs to factor in, which could see 

CPI surge to well over 3%. However, that would not be a long-lasting factor. Another indication of 

weaker CPI is the reluctance of businesses to pass on rising costs, due to social distancing, to 

customers. Meanwhile, volumes of spare capacity is allowing other costs to be capped though to 

2022, with wages the largest outlay for services firms. Once spare capacity is utilised, though, 

inflation could push through target. Unlike the financial crisis, monetary/fiscal stimulus, this time 

around, has been focussed on businesses and households who are going to spend in the economy, 

rather than the shoring up of the banking system. The BoE may welcome rising inflation as it would 

lower real interest rates to give the economy a boost and erode the government debt burden. 

However, the BoE is unlikely to take the Fed route to average inflation, and any significant target 

breach would likely be met with some paring back of stimulus, and the lack of a great change in 

market inflation expectations would support that view. 

Economic concerns will likely force the BoE to increase QE and keep interest rates at record low 

levels for a prolonged period. However, the Chancellor will struggle to balance his books. Fiscal 

support is being pared back which will dent the recovery, as will the potential re-imposition of the 

COVID restrictions. This will offer little opportunity for tax increases and, indeed, could require the 

Government to extend support measures. With the economy having recovered more strongly than 

forecast, the OBR borrowing projections have not been met … yet. Looking ahead, deceleration in 

the recovery will likely require Government borrowing to be scaled up to around the OBR forecast, 

at around 20% GDP, the highest since World War Two. 

The deficit should fall relatively swiftly as activity and tax revenues should bounce more speedily 

than in the financial crisis. In addition, many of the support scheme have ceased and with GDP 

improving the debt-to-GDP ratio should stabilise at around 100%. The BoE has cut rates to 0.10% 

(forecast to stay year for up to five years) and increased QE to £745bn, but rising unemployment 

may force their hand to do even more. However, negative interest rates will likely be avoided, 

despite support from some “external” MPC members, due to the impact on the banking sector. 

136



Appendix A 

 
 

Page 7 of 8 
 
 

More likely will be more QE over the coming year, possibly up to £250bn. Weak inflation, low 

interest rates and QE will severely limit upside to gilt yields, and cheap debt financing means that 

the Government can continue to underpin the economy rather than pay off the deficit. 

The FTSE performance has lagged that in other major centres and is now back at around levels seen 

in May. It has been dented by the nearing of the Brexit deadline with no deal in sight, coupled with 

the spectre of a second wave of COVID. The strength of Sterling has certainly been a factor in the 

index’s performance, but that is not the case in September as the currency has weakened over the 

period, with the reasons much the same as those noted above. The Government’s stance on Brexit 

and COVID will pose a serious downside risk to both equities and the currency if the former does not 

deliver a deal, or an extension to the transition period, and/or the second wave results in renewed 

lockdowns in any major form. If the opposite prevails then both should have upside potential. 

Monetary Policy 

Nothing changes with respect to policy which is being driven by the need to regenerate activity in 

the global economy in the wake of the COVID 19 pandemic. The gradual and non-standard easing of 

lockdown has helped to generate recovery, with some economies faring better than others. This 

sees them all operating at different levels and experiencing slightly different challenges in achieving 

the target of returning to normality. As previously noted, this will result in a disjointed recovery. 

However, an increasing number of economies are experiencing a rise in COVID infections as 

restrictions have been eased. That, in turn, has seen governments react with the re-imposition, to 

varying degrees, of some restrictions, which will, in turn, impact on domestic as well as global 

demand and activity. 

Government and central bank schemes have continued to underpin and stabilise economies as best 

they can, while encouraging people to re-engage with the economy more fully. As those schemes 

are wound down will come more potential problems, including the risk of rising unemployment as 

furloughed staff are not re-employed. The political self-interest ahead of the US Presidential 

elections has, to date, prevented vital, additional stimulus from being pumped into the US economy. 

The role of central banks will not change due to the need to maintain the stability and viability of 

financial markets, and to support economic growth. This includes asset purchasing programmes 

remaining for a continued, and likely lengthier period, suppressing interest rate pressures. 

137



Appendix A 

 
 

Page 8 of 8 
 
 

Any policy changes are unlikely until 2021 at the earliest. As noted previously, the risk is that in re-

opening their economies too early a second wave or resurgence of infections hits, which is currently 

being seen in a growing number of places. 

Interest rates are unlikely to rise soon and current support packages may prove insufficient. As such, 

analysts expect more money to be pumped into the system, one way or another, to give recovery 

whatever boost is required. 

Source: City Watch June 2020 - Link Asset Services 

 

138



Appendix B 

 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 
 

Update on UK Sovereign Rating 

The recent downgrade of the UK sovereign rating by Moody’s from Aa2 to Aa3 came as no surprise 

considering that the rating was put on Negative Outlook last November. Back then, the agency 

emphasised two core reasons for this view: the weakening of the UK institutions (governmental, 

rather than financial) and anticipation that the economic and fiscal strength would be dimmer and 

more vulnerable to shocks than the agency previously assumed. Moody’s also noted it was likely to 

downgrade the rating if policy makers failed to develop a credible debt reduction strategy. 

The agency’s decision to downgrade the UK rating on 16th October was driven by a reduction in the 

UK’s economic strength, weakening of the country’s fiscal capacity and a further erosion of the UK’s 

institutions and governance. On the flip side, the UK’s rating is now on Stable Outlook as, in Moody’s 

view, “the upside and downside risks are balanced, at least over the coming 12-18 months. The UK's 

intrinsic economic and institutional strengths, as well as the likely level where debt will stabilise, 

compare well to peers at the Aa3 rating level”. 

Subsequently, Moody’s took a decision to downgrade the long-term ratings of six large UK banks. 

This is something that was anticipated as most of the UK banks rated by Moody’s were on Negative 

Outlook at the time. In addition, the agency had also previously highlighted that one trigger for a 

potential downgrade of these banks’ ratings was a change in the sovereign rating. It is important to 

stress that these changes were solely because of the action on the UK sovereign rating, NOT a 

reflection of deteriorating conditions at the banks themselves. The reason why only some banks 

were affected is that not all UK institutions benefit from the uplift for government support in their 

long-term ratings – i.e. there was no direct linkage between the sovereign and bank ratings. As part 

of the rating action, the long-term ratings of these banks were placed on Stable Outlook, balancing 

the risk that banks' credit strength declines on the back of the current economic events, with the 

potential notch of government support that Moody’s could assign should the long-term ratings of 

these banks fall further. 

It is also worth noting that on 23rd October S&P Global Ratings affirmed the sovereign rating on the 

UK and left the rating on Stable Outlook. The agency said in its report that the rating “could come 

under downward pressure if the economic recovery is significantly weaker than they anticipate, 

making fiscal consolidation more challenging. Ratings downside could also emerge if foreign 

financing for the UK's large external deficit diminishes and sterling's status as a reserve currency 

comes under pressure”. 

139



Appendix B 

 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 
 

Looking at the UK banking sector and noting that this is where most local authorities have exposure 

to, it is important to be mindful of certain negative scenarios that could unfold in the coming months 

and quarters. This is to ensure that treasury investment strategies remain both risk averse and 

flexible to accommodate these scenarios. UK banks have several credit strengths such as strong 

levels of capitalisation and stable funding channels, combined with robust liquidity. They also 

operate under an enhanced regulatory framework which has been subject to a material test over the 

last six months. At the same time, UK banks and building societies face a range of challenges to their 

profitability and likely asset quality deterioration because of the COVID 19 pandemic-induced shock. 

Over the next 12-18 months, further rating downgrades of the UK banks and building societies by 

the three main rating agencies of the UK banks cannot be discounted. After all, where rated by Fitch, 

they are all on Negative Outlook, and many of them have Negative Outlooks assigned to their long-

term ratings by the other two agencies. If changes do occur, then these could potentially have an 

impact not only in relation to our suggested durations but could limit investment options, including 

monetary limits, dependent on individual client strategies. 

Whilst some indicators point to benign credit conditions, the key advice from us is not to be 

complacent. Frequent credit analysis and active monitoring of credit factors should remain a priority 

as credit risks remain volatile. This includes a possibility of a stumbling economic recovery, Brexit 

(deal or no deal) a dramatic re-widening of credit spreads and no notable deceleration in debt 

growth after this year. All, or just some of these could lead to more insolvencies and defaults than 

are currently being projected by banks and rating agencies alike. To date, the bulk of bank earnings’ 

reports has been focussed on provisions being built up to offset future expected credit losses. 

However, details on actual credit losses are limited, and these may yet take many years to fully 

emerge. In addition, as Fitch Ratings noted recently, it will also take some time for banks’ underlying 

asset quality to become clear given the extent of governments’ and central banks’ support for 

markets since March this year. 

While the extent of rating changes has been somewhat limited, for both UK financial institutions and 

those overseas, this does not mean that they will not occur. Investors need to remain aware and 

prepare for a range of different potential scenarios, both good and bad. At a time when clients will 

be looking ahead to preparing their 2021/22 TMSS, we believe it is important that considerations of 

different outcomes should be factored into thinking – simply restating / rolling over credit criteria 

that has been used in the past may not be the most appropriate approach. 

140



Appendix B 

 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 
 

 

Source: City Watch October 2020 - Link Asset Services 

  

141



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 25 NOVEMBER 
2020 

 
JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE 

RESOURCES AND THE DIRECTOR OF LAW AND 
GOVERNANCE 

 
UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENTS IN LOCAL (EXTERNAL) AUDIT 

ARRANGEMENTS 
 

 

Purpose of Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Corporate Governance Committee 
(the Committee) with an update on developments in local (external) audit 
arrangements, that are associated with the Committee’s responsibilities. 
 

Summary 
 

2. A series of large scale corporate governance and financial failings in both the 
private and public sectors e.g. Carillion, BHS and Northamptonshire County 
Council, and criticisms of the roles taken by auditors prompted a number of 
reviews of audit and governance arrangements in all sectors. 
 

3. At its meeting on 1 November 2019, the Corporate Governance Committee 
received a report providing information on a number of consultations that were 
underway, the findings of associated reviews and other developments and 
informed the Committee of the Council’s plans to respond. 
 

4. The responsibilities for how local authority audits are conducted is set down 
within the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. In June 2019 Sir Tony 
Redmond was asked by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) to undertake an independent review of the 
effectiveness of local (external) audit and the transparency of local authority 
financial reporting. Announcement of the review met the MHCLG’s 
commitment to undertake a post implementation review of the audit framework 
and financial reporting elements of the Act. 
 

5. Redmond released his review report on 8 September. In short, he found the 
current local audit arrangements not fit for purpose and he made a number of 
recommendations, some of which will require primary legislation, but others 
were more localised recommendations which could be implemented if chosen 
to do so. The general view amongst interested parties is that should all the 
recommendations be implemented, the local audit experience should be much 
improved, but it may come at some additional cost. 
 

6. Almost in tandem to Redmond, the National Audit Office (NAO) consulted on 
changes to the Code of Audit Practice and associated guidance to local 

143 Agenda Item 12



auditors in support of the Code, to which auditors must have regard when 
carrying out their work. The Code must be reviewed, and revisions considered 
at least every five years. 

 
7. The new Code came into force in April 2020. Among the changes adopted are 

the inclusion of additional narrative commentary by auditors to explain how 
audited bodies are improving value for money (VfM), along with greater 
attention to financial sustainability and governance. Redmond commended this 
improvement. The outcome of the consultation on this major change has 
recently been issued. Responses were on the whole positive but there is a risk 
that the extra work needed to form a more robust VfM opinion will increase 
fees. Audit work under the new Code will begin from the 2020-21 financial year 
onwards, meaning the first Auditor’s Annual Reports will be issued in 2021. 

 
8. Recommendations arising from other reviews of audit arrangements at the 

time (Kingman, the Competition and Markets Authority and Brydon) were 
evaluated and reflected in Redmond’s review and report. 

 
9. This report is for information only as an update one year on, because it is 

evident that the Council’s officers and members will need to evaluate a lot of 
detail and agree on whether localised Redmond recommendations are 
accepted and the impact of changes to auditors' responsibilities under the new 
Code of Audit Practice. 
 

Report 
 
Independent Review into the Oversight of Local Audit and the Transparency of 
Local Authority Financial Reporting (the Redmond review) 
 

10. The guiding principles of the Redmond Review were accountability and 
transparency asking questions such as how are local authorities accountable 
to service users and taxpayers; how are auditors accountable for the quality of 
their work; how easy is it for service users and taxpayers to understand how 
their local authority has performed and what assurance they can take from 
external audit work.  
 

11. The review team received 156 responses to ‘Calls for Views’ (including from 
the County Council) and carried out more than 100 interviews. Interested 
parties included local government practitioners, audit firms, professional 
accounting bodies, academia and the media and the general public. The 
review report (83 pages) was published on 8 September 2020. Substantial 
evidence collated from the ‘Call for Views’ and individual stakeholder meetings 
formed the basis of the report’s findings. It contains an Executive Summary 
and 19 recommendations that are applicable to larger sized local authorities. It 
is broken down into four key component areas: - 
 

a. The direction, regulation, procurement and performance of local 
(external) audit: Sections 2-4; 

144



b. Governance arrangements in place locally for responding to audit 
recommendations: Section 5; 

c. Audit work on the financial resilience of local authorities: Section 6 – 
(this links to the next section in this update report on the new Code of 
Audit Practice (2020) and associated Audit Guidance Notes (AGN) in 
particular AGN 03 which sets out how local auditors are expected to 
approach and report on their Value for Money (VfM) work);  

d. Financial reporting in local government: Section 7. 
 
A further section (8) covers issues related to smaller audits, including 
parish/town councils that councillors may be interested to note. 

 
Summary of Key Findings – note these may not be applicable to the County 
Council 

 
12. The direction, regulation, procurement and performance of local 

(external) audit – the review found there is a lack of coherence in local audit 
arrangements. Currently there are six different entities with a statutory role in 
overseeing and/or regulating elements of the local authority accounting and 
audit framework including regulating the quality, price and effectiveness of 
external audit. However, none of the six entities has a statutory responsibility, 
either to act as a system leader or to make sure that the framework operates in 
a joined-up and coherent manner. A very high percentage of respondents and 
stakeholders who were interviewed, expressed a preference for a single 
regulatory body. Additionally: - 

a. Almost all education authorities responding questioned auditors 
qualifying their VfM opinion solely because of an “inadequate” Ofsted 
rating. There was no evidence of reports by other inspectorates leading 
to modifications to the auditor’s opinion. The review thought auditors 
should engage more with other inspectorates to discuss reports or take 
into consideration any improvements that a local authority may have 
made since an inspectorate rating had been issued.  

b. The report raised concerns at various points regarding the balance of 
audit price and quality. Audit fees in the local authority sector have 
dropped significantly at the same time that fees in other sectors have 
significantly risen. Overall levels of audit fees have dropped 
significantly from 2014/15, whilst fee variations have increased, much 
to local authorities concerns. Evidence gathered suggested that the 
cost of local audit is 25% lower than is required to fulfil current local 
audit requirements. As a result the quality of auditors has reduced. A 
very high proportion of local authorities think that the current 
procurement process does not drive the right balance between cost 
reduction, quality of work, volume of external auditors and mix of staff 
undertaking the work. 

c. There is concern that outside of the Key Audit Partners, auditors do not 
have sufficient experience or knowledge of local authorities. The two 
areas of particular concern were the knowledge and continuity of 
working level audit staff and whether audit work always covered the 
most important areas of the accounts from a financial resilience and 
service user perspective. Underpinning the concerns about the quality 

145



and continuity of working level audit staff is a concern that there are not 
enough audit examiners with local authority expertise, and that this is 
an area in which accountancy trainees no longer wish to specialise. 

d. Internal Audit is not used much by External Audit as the Code of Audit 
Practice does not require them to liaise with internal audit work 
although there is a feeling that they could assist. 

e. For the first time in 2019-20, having insufficient qualified individuals to 
deliver all audits at the appropriate time was included as a reason for 
some of the delays in audit opinions being issued by the statutory 
publication deadline. 

f. There is a large expectation gap between what local authorities expect 
a VfM opinion should provide and what it actually provides. The VfM 
conclusion is viewed by many local authorities to be an exercise with 
limited use to them as it is too retrospective and often states what the 
local authority often already knows. 

 
13. Governance arrangements in place locally for responding to audit 

recommendations – the review questioned whether on the whole Audit 
Committees are equipped to provide effective challenge to Auditors or 
Statutory Officers in an effective way. Additionally: - 

a. There are relatively low numbers of independent Audit Committee 
members. 

b. In practice the auditor tends to present matters to the Audit Committee, 
which decides if a matter is serious enough to be referred to Full 
Council. Whilst most local authorities feel that this arrangement is 
appropriate, the review identified some bad examples where external 
auditors had insights from their work, that could have provided 
assurance to Elected Representatives whether their local authority was 
not being run effectively. The review suggests that the external auditor 
should report to Full Council on risks identified and conclusions 
reached, in a transparent and understandable format.  

c. The review questioned the role of the three statutory officers in 
relationship to audit – do they engage with the auditor together on an 
informal or formal basis and how regularly. 

d. There is not always the expertise in local authority finance departments 
in completing the accounts process. 
 

14. Audit work on the financial resilience of local authorities – this section of 
the report attempts to draw a definition of financial resilience, including drawing 
reference to potential risks to it, such as commercialisation agendas. Section 
6.3 reviews the audit assessment of this resilience through judgement of going 
concern and value for money (VfM) work. The report notes the need for a new 
model for England and refers to the Auditor Guidance Note (AGN) 03. 
 

15. Financial reporting in local government - Section 7 raises questions and 
concerns regarding the format and usefulness of local authority statement of 
accounts and states that they are complex and challenging for a service user 
or other taxpayer to understand. The current arrangements do not allow for the 
public to understand the accounts and more can be done to improve 
transparency of what local authorities do. The focus of audit on areas of 

146



technical nature (not cash or budget), such as Property, Plant and Equipment 
and depreciation is considered over complex. The report identified three 
options to address this concern. 
 

a. Review International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as a basis 
for preparation of the accounts and move to cash accounting – not 
favoured due to concerns regarding lack of consistency. 

b. Expansion and standardisation of the current narrative statement – 
again this is not favoured due to the expansion of potential audit 
coverage and no guarantee it would address the visibility or clarity of 
the statements. 

c. Introduce a new summary statement – this is the favoured option and a 
number of examples are given for certain types of councils. These 
statements would still be subject to audit for consistency with the main 
statements 

 
Review conclusions 
 

16. In summary, the review concluded that current local audit arrangements fail to 
deliver, in full, policy objectives underpinning the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. The overriding concern was a lack of coherence and 
public accountability within the existing system. Redmond emphasised that for 
local audit to be wholly effective it must provide a service which is robust, 
relevant, and timely; it must demonstrate the right balance between price and 
quality; and be transparent to public scrutiny. He thought that the evidence is 
compelling to suggest that the current local audit service does not meet those 
standards. 
 

Review recommendations 
 

17. The recommendations in the report centred on three aspects, namely: External 
Audit Regulation; Financial Resilience of local authorities and Transparency of 
Financial Reporting. 
 

18. External Audit Regulation: 
 

a. A new Office of Local Audit Regulation (OLAR) will be established and 
have responsibility for procuring, managing, overseeing and regulating 
local audits. 

b. The current roles and responsibilities relating to local audits discharged by 
the six entities with a statutory role in overseeing and/or regulating 
elements of the local authority accounting and audit framework will be 
transferred to the OLAR.  

c. A Liaison Committee will be established comprising key stakeholders and 
chaired by MHCLG, to receive reports from the new regulator on the 
development of local audit. 

d. The governance arrangements within local authorities should be reviewed 
by local councils with the purpose of: - 

i. an annual report being submitted to full Council by the external 
auditor; 

147



ii. consideration being given to the appointment of at least one 
independent member, suitably qualified, to the Audit Committee; 

iii. formalising the facility for the Chief Executive Officer, Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer to meet with the Key Audit 
Partner at least annually. 

e. All auditors engaged in local audit be provided with the requisite skills and 
training to audit a local authority irrespective of seniority. 

f. The current fee structure for local audit be revised to ensure that adequate 
resources are deployed to meet the full extent of local audit requirements.  

g. That quality be consistent with the highest standards of audit within the 
revised fee structure. In cases where there are serious or persistent 
breaches of expected quality standards, OLAR has the scope to apply 
proportionate sanctions.  

h. Statute be revised so that audit firms with the requisite capacity, skills and 
experience are not excluded from bidding for local audit work.  

i. External Audit recognises that Internal Audit work can be a key support in 
appropriate circumstances where consistent with the Code of Audit 
Practice. 

j. The deadline for publishing audited local authority accounts be revisited 
with a view to extending it to 30 September from 31 July each year.  

k. The revised deadline for publication of audited local authority accounts be 
considered in consultation with NHS (England) and the Department of 
Health & Social Care, given that audit firms use the same auditors on both 
Local Government and Health final accounts work.  

l. The external auditor be required to present an Annual Audit Report to the 
first Full Council meeting after 30 September each year, irrespective of 
whether the accounts have been certified; OLAR to decide the framework 
for this report.  

m. The changes implemented in the 2020 Audit Code of Practice are 
endorsed; OLAR to undertake a post implementation review to assess 
whether these changes have led to more effective external audit 
consideration of financial resilience and value for money matters. 

 
19. Financial Resilience of local authorities 

 
a. MHCLG reviews its current framework for seeking assurance that financial 

sustainability in each local authority in England is maintained. 
b. Key concerns relating to service and financial viability be shared between 

Local Auditors and Inspectorates including Ofsted, Care Quality 
Commission and HMICFRS prior to completion of the external auditor’s 
Annual Report. 
 

20. Transparency of Financial Reporting 
 

a. A standardised statement of service information and costs be prepared 
by each authority and be compared with the budget agreed to support 
the council tax/precept/levy and presented alongside the statutory 
accounts. 

b. The standardised statement should be subject to external audit. 

148



c. The optimum means of communicating such information to council 
taxpayers/service users be considered by each local authority to 
ensure access for all sections of the communities. 

d. CIPFA/Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee 
(LASAAC) be required to review the statutory accounts, in the light of 
the new requirement to prepare the standardised statement, to 
determine whether there is scope to simplify the presentation of local 
authority accounts by removing disclosures that may no longer be 
considered to be necessary.  

 
Post report publication and next stages 

 
21. Sir Tony Redmond has presented his review outcomes to a number of bodies 

with an interest in local audit arrangements amongst them audit firms, Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Ltd, the Local Government Association (LGA) and 
CIPFA. There has been general support for the direction of the 
recommendations from all institutions. CIPFA (the professional public finance 
accountancy body which maintains four statutory codes that local authorities 
are required to ‘have regard to) has a view that if the recommendations are 
fully implemented, and there is some primary legislation required to do that, 
then there will be a better audit service although changes will take time to bed 
in. The passage of time could however be a significant risk if audit firms 
choose to withdraw from an already fragile market. 
 

22. At a recent CIPFA conference, Redmond revealed that the MHCLG had 
reacted generally positively to his recommendations. He could not guarantee 
how the Department will react to individual parts of the report, but he had been 
given assurance that it would be taken extremely seriously by the Department 
Ministers. 
 

23. Whilst some of his recommendations (creation of the new regulatory body and 
liaison committee, changing the audit deadline etc) will require primary 
legislation, Redmond considers many of the recommendations around 
governance could be considered in the short-term. These include: - 
 

a. training of local authority audit committee members; 
b. the appointment of independent members; 
c. how could Key Audit Partners report to full council; 
d. CIPFA could look at a simplified statement of accounts and induction 

and training; 
e. CIPFA/LASAAC could review the statutory accounts; 
f. audit firms could review how they can conduct their work in the future 

and how to ensure they get the necessary training and support to the 
individuals who are engaged in local audit. 
 

24. Officers and members of the County Council will need to fully understand and 
debate all options relating to the review outcomes and recommendations to 
fully understand the implications. A further report will be brought to the 
Corporate Governance Committee in due course.  

 

149



The new Code of Audit Practice (2020) 
 

25. The 2014 Local Audit and Accountability Act makes the National Audit Office 
(NAO) under the leadership of the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) 
responsible for the preparation and maintenance of the Code of Audit Practice 
(the Code) and gives the C&AG power to issue guidance to auditors in support 
of the Code, to which auditors must have regard when carrying out their work. 
The Code must be reviewed, and revisions considered at least every five 
years. 
 

26. In April 2020 a new Code of Audit Practice came into force and consultation 
started shortly afterwards on its application and guidance for 2020/21 external 
audits. County Council officers responded to the consultation. The 
abovementioned Redmond Review included reference to the Audit Code. 
Consultation on the associated Auditor Guidance Notes closed early 
September 2020. 
 

27. The C&AG has retained a single Code covering the audit of different types of 
local public body. This reflects the fact that the core statutory responsibilities 
placed on the auditors of the different types of local public body covered by the 
Code are essentially the same. The Code continues to take a principles-based, 
rather than a rules-based approach. A principles-based approach helps to 
ensure that the Code does not become out of date as the regulatory 
environment evolves. It allows the auditor to adopt a flexible approach that is 
responsive to sector developments and to the specific circumstances faced by 
the audited body.  
 

28. The new Code of Audit Practice puts greater emphasis on timely and effective 
reporting by local auditors. It’s focus on the areas that are important to local 
bodies will help them to strengthen their arrangements for securing value for 
taxpayers and provide transparency and accountability for the public on how 
well their money is being spent. 
 

29. The revised code will focus even more on auditors obtaining assurance of 
organisational efficiency. Among the changes adopted are the inclusion of 
additional narrative commentary by auditors to explain how audited bodies are 
improving value for money, along with greater attention to financial 
sustainability and governance. Rather than require auditors to focus on 
delivering an overall, binary, conclusion about whether or not proper 
arrangements were in place during the previous financial year, the new code 
requires auditors to issue a commentary on each of the key criteria of financial 
resilience, governance and economy, efficiency and effectiveness. This will 
allow auditors to tailor their commentaries to local circumstances. 
 

30. However, the proposed work on value for money, including the emphasis on 
more impactful reporting, will likely require greater audit resource, as well as a 
higher skill mix. It will be important for the NAO to provide guidance on the 
indicative likely range of days and specialist skill input required. This will help 
to manage the expectations of local bodies before auditors begin work on new 
year audits. 

150



 
31. The NAO consulted on the detailed statutory guidance that will support 

auditors to deliver work under the new Code. The consultation on Auditor 
Guidance Note 03 (AGN 03) Auditors’ Work on Value for Money (VFM) 
Arrangements was launched on 10 June 2020 and closed on 2 September 
2020. AGN 03 is 18 pages long and extremely detailed guidance.  
 

32. The consultation outcome has only recently been released but seems to have 
been positively received. In summary (extracted from the response document):  
 

a. respondents agreed that the scope of proper arrangements covers the 
key areas of focus within the public sector that auditors should consider 
and that this would help to improve consistency and quality of 
assessments. Some useful suggestions were made to help tighten the 
scope further. 

b. There was strong support from respondents that it was helpful to define 
whether a weakness in arrangements is significant for both the auditor, 
and to aid the body’s own understanding. Respondents were broadly 
supportive of the characteristics and illustrative examples. 

c. There was agreement from respondents that the characteristics of a 
significant weakness are helpful. There was also general agreement 
that the examples to help consider whether or not a weakness is 
‘significant’ are helpful. 

d. Under reporting, respondents were generally supportive of the 
considerations for deciding how to report a significant weakness 

e. Very important was that respondents were generally supportive of the 
move to a commentary-based approach and recognised the objective 
to provide more meaningful reporting, where respondents stated this 
would provide a clearer focus for discussions with senior management 
and boards. 

f. Nevertheless, there were some concerns regarding the impact on the 
audit fee and capacity of auditors and that the commentary should not 
be just a description of what auditors have done. 
 

33. AGN 03 contains two new important specific references to Audit Committees. 
a. Firstly, when reporting on the local body’s arrangements to secure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the 2020 
Code requires auditors to consider whether the body has put in place 
‘proper arrangements’. In terms of ‘Governance’, the body should 
ensure that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 
risks, supported by appropriate evidence and allowing for challenge 
and transparency. This includes arrangements for effective challenge 
from those charged with governance/audit committee. 

b. Secondly, the guidance advises that a weak or ineffective audit 
committee that fails to provide appropriate challenge or hold officers 
and members to account, could illustrate a significant weakness in the 
body’s governance arrangements. 
 

34. The NAO’s primary goals are to ensure that auditors are commenting publicly 
on key areas such as financial sustainability and governance, and for auditors 

151



to provide more timely and meaningful reporting that helps bodies understand 
what auditors see as the high priority issues so that they can take action. This 
could have implications for both the resources local auditors may need and the 
skill mix they may need to deploy. 
 

35. Implementation of AGN 03 should provide clarity and consistency to VfM 
opinions. 
 

36. The Committee will be kept informed of any changes. 
 

 
Other developments relating to the wider external audit field 

 
37. Whilst the updates above are specifically relevant to the local government 

sector, in the past three years, three independent reviews were published on 
elements of the statutory audit framework. Whilst the Kingman Review made 
specific recommendations regarding the local audit framework, the 
Competition and Markets Authority Study and the Brydon Review were solely 
focussed on the audit of Public Interest Entities (listed companies or entities 
with listed debt). Ministers have yet to decide whether/how to take forward all 
recommendations made by these reviews.  
 

38. However, given that local authority audit is delivered by assurance practices 
that undertake both public and private sector audits and conducted in 
accordance with a common set of quality standards, some of the 
recommendations made by these reviews may be relevant to the future of local 
audit. 

 
39. The Redmond Review listed the relevant recommendations made by all three 

reports and commented on how it had addressed them and/or how they may 
impact on the future of local authority audit.  
 

a. ‘The Independent Review of the Financial Reporting Council (FRC)’ – 
the Kingman review was concluded in December 2018. The FRC 
regulates auditors, accountants and actuaries in the UK, sharing this 
responsibility with the professional membership bodies. The review 
recommended that the FRC be replaced with an independent statutory 
regulator, accountable to Parliament, with a new mandate, new clarity 
of mission, new leadership and new powers. The new regulator would 
be called the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority. 

 
Redmond concurred with four relevant recommendations and expanded two of 
them. One other was outside of the scope. 
 

b. ‘Statutory Audit Services Market Study’, final report, April 2019. The 
Competition and Markets Authority (CMA). recommended changes to 
the statutory audit market that will impact on local audit. This review 
also made a specific recommendation that audit committees should 
come under greater scrutiny by the new regulator (see Kingman). This 
should increase accountability of audit committees. This 

152



recommendation could translate into the public sector and local 
government. 

 
Redmond commented on four recommendations mostly with concern that the 
CMA proposals could affect the local audit market which is already fragile. 

 
c. ‘Independent review into the quality and effectiveness of audit’ (the 

Brydon review). The review was commissioned in response to the 
perceived widening of the “audit expectations gap” - the difference 
between what users expect from an audit and the reality of what an 
audit is and what auditors’ responsibilities entail. Recent company 
failures have brought this gap into greater focus. There may be an 
additional gap between the information users of audited accounts 
believe is needed and what is available to them through audited 
financial statements or other publicly available information. A report  
to the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy is 
expected by the end of 2019. 
 

Redmond was fairly even in agreeing to or asking for further detail over twenty 
recommendations that aligned to its review. However on one Brydon 
recommendation, ‘creating a separate new audit profession’, Redmond was 
concerned that it has the potential to have a significant impact on the 
sustainability of the local authority and indeed the wider public sector audit 
market. Government and the proposed local authority audit regulator (OLAR) 
may need to consider whether the proposed corporate audit profession would 
continue to generate skills that are transferrable for public sector audit. If not, 
and it develops as suggested by Brydon, there is a risk that local audit market 
could come under even more stress. If skills are transferrable, consideration 
will need to be given to how to ensure that members of the new corporate 
audit profession retain the skills, knowledge and expertise to deliver high 
quality local authority audits. 
  

40. The position with these other reviews will continue to be monitored and 
reported to Committee.  

 

Resource implications 
 

41. There are no resource implications arising directly from this report at this 
stage, although there is a potential for higher external audit fees and accounts 
preparation costs in future years. 
 

Legal Implications 
 

42. The proposals in the recent review call for some potentially significant changes 
to how the Corporate Governance Committee performs its functions. Further 
reflection and analysis will follow, after which time any local Constitutional 
implications can be considered.  

153



Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

43. There are no discernible equality and human rights implications resulting from 
the audits listed. 
 

Recommendation 
 

44. The Committee is asked to note the outcomes of the Redmond Review, the 
new Code of Audit Practice and other developments in local (external) audit 
arrangements. 
 

Background Papers 
 
Independent Review into the Oversight of Local Audit and the Transparency of Local 
Authority Financial Reporting (the Redmond review) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/916217/Redmond_Review.pdf 
 
The new Code of Audit Practice (2020)  
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-
content/uploads/sites/29/2020/01/Code_of_audit_practice_2020.pdf 
 
Auditor Guidance Note 03 (AGN 03) Auditors’ Work on Value for Money (VFM) 
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-
content/uploads/sites/29/2020/06/New-draft-AGN-3-For-consultation-final.pdf 
 
Report to the Corporate Governance Committee on 1 November 2019 – 
“Developments in Audit and Governance” –  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=5782&Ver=4 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

None. 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel : 0116 305 6199  
Email : chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
  
Lauren Haslam, Director of Law and Governance 
Tel : 0116 305 6240 
Email : lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk 
 
Neil Jones, Head of Internal Audit & Assurance Service  
Tel : 0116 305 7629 
Email : neil.jones@leics.gov.uk 

154

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/916217/Redmond_Review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/916217/Redmond_Review.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2020/01/Code_of_audit_practice_2020.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2020/01/Code_of_audit_practice_2020.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2020/06/New-draft-AGN-3-For-consultation-final.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2020/06/New-draft-AGN-3-For-consultation-final.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=5782&Ver=4
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk
mailto:neil.jones@leics.gov.uk


 

155



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 25 NOVEMBER 
2020 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE PROGRESS REPORT 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to: - 
 

a. provide a summary of work conducted during the period 11 July to 6 
November 2020 to include an update on how the coronavirus has 
affected the Internal Audit Service. 

b. report on progress with implementing high importance 
recommendations. 

 
Background 
 

2. Under the County Council’s Constitution, the Committee is required to monitor 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function, which is provided 
by Leicestershire County Council’s Internal Audit Service (LCCIAS).  To do 
this, the Committee receives periodic reports on progress against the annual 
Internal Audit Plan. 
   

3. Most planned audits undertaken are of an ‘assurance’ type, which requires 
undertaking an objective examination of evidence to reach an independent 
opinion on whether risk is being mitigated.  Other planned audits are of a 
‘consulting’ type, which are primarily advisory and guidance to management.  
These add value, for example, by commenting on the effectiveness of controls 
designed before implementing a new system.  Also, unplanned ‘investigation’ 
type audits may be undertaken.  Internal audit staff also undertake other 
control environment related work. 
 

Summary of work undertaken  
 

4. Appendix 1 provides a summary of work undertaken between 11 July and 6 
November 2020.   
 

5. For assurance audits (pages 1 and 2 of Appendix 1) an ‘opinion’ is given, i.e. 
what level of assurance can be given that material risks are being managed.  
There are usually four levels: full; substantial; partial; and little.  ‘Partial’ ratings 
are normally given when the auditor has reported at least one high importance 

 
157 Agenda Item 13



 
 

recommendation, which would be reported to this Committee and a follow up 
audit would ensue to confirm action had been implemented.  Occasionally, the 
auditor might report a number of recommendations that individually are not 
graded high importance but collectively would require a targeted follow up to 
ensure improvements have been made.  
 

6. It’s noticeable during this period that seven Covid-19 grants were audited, and 
certifications returned to Government departments. Grant determinations 
require the Head of Internal Audit Service (HoIAS) to conduct an audit and 
certify that to the best of his knowledge and belief, and having carried out 
appropriate investigations and checks, in his opinion, in all significant respects, 
the conditions attached to the grant have been complied with. The Chief 
Executive normally has to sign also. It is likely a high number of grant 
certifications will continue through the remainder of the year.   
 

7. LCCIAS also undertakes consulting/advisory type audits (pages 3 to 5).  
Where these incur a reasonable amount of resource, they are also included. 
Examples include advice, commentary on management’s intended control 
design and framework and potential implications of changes to systems, 
processes and policies.  
 

8. Pages 6 to 8 of Appendix 1 provides information on: - 
 

a. Where LCCIAS either undertakes itself or aids others with unplanned 
investigations.  These are not reported to the Committee until the 
outcome is known.  This period, no investigations were started or 
concluded. 

b. ‘Other control environment/assurance work’, which gives a flavour of 
where internal auditors are utilised to challenge and improve 
governance, risk management and internal control processes which 
ultimately strengthens the overall control environment. 

c. where LCCIAS auditors are utilised to undertake work assisting other 
functions 
 

9. In order to remain effective, LCCIAS staff regularly attend training and 
development events and both midlands and national internal audit network 
events.  A summary of events attended during the last quarter is shown on 
pages 9 and 10. It is interesting to note the emphasis on developments linked 
by Covid-19 i.e. fraud related and remote working/technological improvements.   
 

10. The Service continues to provide consulting and assurance audit work to 
management on changes to systems and processes to manage a response to 
Covid-19 and has undertaken a range of counter fraud activities over the 
summer. The change to remote auditing has been successful and all staff are 
now trained to offer the use of data analytics in the audit scope. There 
continues to be good advice and information sharing amongst colleagues in 
other local authorities and from CIPFA and the Institute of Internal Auditors. 
 
      

 

158



 
 

Progress with implementing high importance recommendations 
 

11. The Committee is also tasked with monitoring the implementation of high 
importance recommendations.  Appendix 2 details high importance (HI) 
recommendations and provides a short summary of the issues surrounding 
these.  The relevant manager’s agreement (or otherwise) to implementing the 
recommendation and implementation timescales is shown.  Recommendations 
that have not been reported to the Committee before or where LCCIAS has 
identified that some update has occurred to a previously reported 
recommendation are shown in bold font.  Entries remain on the list until the 
auditor has confirmed (by specific re-testing) that action has been 
implemented. 
 

12. To summarise movements within Appendix 2: - 
 

a. New 
 

i. Adults & Communities/Corporate Resources – Health 
Recharges for Hospital Discharges 

ii. Adults & Communities – Direct Payments (2) 
  

b. In progress (extended)  
 

i. Corporate Resources - Leicestershire Schools Music Service 
(recommendation 4 only) 

ii. Children & Family Services - Burbage CE Infant School 
(extended) 

iii. Consolidated risk – Records management (recommendation 2 
only)  

iv. Consolidated risk – ICT externally hosted contracts 
v. Consolidated risk – Rights of audit in procurement contracts 
vi. Consolidated risk – Gifts and hospitality registers 

 
c. Closed 

 
i. Corporate Resources - Property Contracts Awards – note the 

HoIAS has decided this area will be revisited following a 
department restructure 

ii. Children and Family Services – Early years funding 
 
Resource implications 

  
13. There are no resource implications arising directly from this report. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
14. There are no discernible equality and human rights implications resulting from 

the audits listed. 
 

 

159



 
 

Recommendation 
 

15. That the contents of the routine update report be noted. 
 
Background Papers 
 
The Constitution of Leicestershire County Council 
 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1187&MId=6195&Ver=4&Info=
1 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Neil Jones, Head of Internal Audit & Assurance Service 
Tel: 0116 305 7629 Email: neil.jones@leics.gov.uk 

 
Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 - Summary of Internal Audit Service work undertaken between 

11 July and 6 November 2020. 
Appendix 2 - High Importance Recommendations at 6 November 2020 
 

160

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1187&MId=6195&Ver=4&Info=1
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1187&MId=6195&Ver=4&Info=1
mailto:neil.jones@leics.gov.uk


 

1 

 

Summary of Internal Audit Service Work – 11th July to 6th November 2020                             Appendix 1 

Assurance Audits 

Department Entity Final report (or 

position at 6/11) 

Opinion HI Rec’n 

Adults & Communities Direct Payments  6-Aug-20  Partial Yes 

Adults & Communities Target Operating Model (Phase Two) 9-Oct-20 Substantial No 

Consolidated Risk Communities Fund Audit 17-Aug-20 Substantial No 

Consolidated Risk Communities Fund Audit – Round 2 06-Nov-20 (Draft) Awaiting client 

response 

TBC 

Consolidated Risk Working from home equipment allowance 5-Nov-20 (Draft) Awaiting client 

response 

TBC 

Consolidated Risk Travel, Subsistence and Related Allowances (COVID-

19 related changes) 

2-Nov-20 (Draft) Awaiting client 

response 

TBC 

Corporate Resources COVID-19 A&C Payments to Providers (Phase One) 1-Sep-20 Substantial No 

Corporate Resources / 

Adults & Communities 

COVID-19 – Health Recharges for Hospital Discharges 

and Avoidances 

18-Sep-20 Partial Yes 

Adults & Communities  Integration and Better Care Fund-Disabled Facilities 

Capital Grant (DFG) 2019/20 (31/3710)  

20-Oct-20 Certified No 

Environment & Transport Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated 

Transport and Highway Maintenance) - (2019/20: No 

31/3693 

21-Sep-20 Certified  No 

161



 

2 

 

Environment & Transport  Local Authority Bus Subsidy Ring Fenced (Revenue) 

Grant Determination 2019/20 (31/3644) 

28-Sep-20 Certified  No 

Environment & Transport Local Transport Capital Block Funding (National 

Productivity Investment Fund) - (2019/20: No 31/3689) 

29-Sep-20 Certified No 

Environment & Transport

    

COVID-19 County Bus Services Support Grant Restart 

(Revenue). Grant Determination No 31/5120 

6-Oct-20 Certified No 

Environment & Transport Pothole Action Fund & Flood Resilience Fund - 2018/19 
- No 31/3221 
 

15-Oct-20 Certified No 

Environment & Transport Additional Dedicated Home to School and College 
Transport under section 31 of the Local Government 
Act 2003 GRANT DETERMINATION 2020: No 31/5137 

6-Nov-20 Certified  No 

162



 

3 

 

Consulting audits 

Department Entity Final report (or position 

at 6/11) 

Chief Executives COVID-19 Leicestershire Business Relief Fund – advice to department during 

mid-point review of funding stream, e.g. fraud-proofing. 

Complete 

Consolidated Risk IAS continues to provide advice to the PSN working group as and when required.  Ongoing 

Consolidated Risk ICT Policies and Procedures 

- Attendance at the Information Assurance Group  

- Input into Cyber Security presentation for CGC 

- Advice provided on IT Inventory Limits  

- Assurances on the shutdown of the network in October 2020 

 

Complete  

Corporate Resources Fit for the Future Project 

- Ad hoc control advice is given to the Project Team e.g. Audit Trail 

requirements etc. 

- Internal Audit reporting requirements 

- Use of Single Factor and Two Factor Authentication  

- Sign off the PaaS and Identity Management ISRAs  

- Review of the CIS/HMRC returns ISRA – currently awaiting sign off  

Ongoing  

163



 

4 

 

- Review of the Overall Oracle Fusion ISRA – currently awaiting sign off  

- Walkthrough of the Supplier Portal  

- Assurance Work on the Supplier Amendments & review of process  

- Assurance Work on Supplier Registration Process 

- Review of the process for the move from Site Level information to Header 

Level Information  

- Review of Output from the Oracle Fusion Penetration Tests that have 

been undertaken  

In addition to this a member of staff was been seconded onto the Project Team.  

Corporate Resources Leicestershire Traded Services – Budget Forecasting Draft issued 

Corporate Resources  ISRA - Exchange 2016/Hybrid  
 

Signed off – 30-Oct-20 

Corporate Resources  ISRA – HTTPS Scanning  Work suspended due to 

Covid-19  

Corporate Resources ISRA – Dash Cams in LCC Vehicles Signed off 02-Jul-20 

Corporate Resources  ISRA - Ulysses (UDMS) Scheduling and Connected Care Mobile Solution 
 
 

Superseded – possibly 

with another ISRA in the 

future as this did not go 

ahead.   

Corporate Resources ISRA - Anywhere 365 Contact Centre  Ongoing  

Corporate Resources ISRA – End User Device Contract  Ongoing  

164



 

5 

 

Corporate Resources ISRA – My Sense AT Pilot  Signed Off - 23-Oct-20 

Corporate Resources  ISRA – Intune Mobile Device Management  Signed Off – 29-Sep-20 

Corporate Resources  ISRA – Microsoft Teams  Signed Off – 21-Sep-20 

Corporate Resources  ISRA – Solo Protect Lone Working  Signed Off – 25-Aug-20 

Corporate Resources  ISRA – O365 Split Tunnel  Signed Off – 25-Aug-20  

 

 

165



 

6 

 

 Undertaking or aiding with unplanned ‘investigations’ 

Department Entity / Details   Outcome by 6/11 

 None this period  

 

Other control environment/assurance work 

Department Entity Final report (or position 

at 6/11 

Counter Fraud Biennial revisions to LCC Counter Fraud Policies & Procedures. 

COVID-19 specific fraud comms to staff and managers. 

Fraud awareness strategy to coincide with International Fraud Awareness Week. 

Refresh of Fraud Risk Assessment. 

Publishing obligations re. fraud under the Local Government Transparency Code. 

Refresh of Fraud Awareness mandatory training. 

Self-assessment of practices against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the 

Risk of Fraud & Corruption. 

Complete. 

 

Consolidated Risk Collate risk related information from all Departments and prepared Risk 

Management update reports to Chief Officers and Corporate Governance 

Committee for 25 November 2020 

Complete 

166



 

7 

 

 

Consolidated Risk Evaluated the outcomes of the Redmond Review and new Code of Audit Practice 

and the likely impact on the Council and prepared a report for Corporate 

Governance Committee 

Completed stage 1 

Stage 2 will be to plan 

workshops on determining 

the implementation of 

recommendations   

Consolidated Risk Continued position on the East Midlands Public Services Network (emPSN) Audit 

Committee representing Leicestershire County Council’s shareholding in this Local 

Authority owned company which provides broadband connectivity and online IT 

safety services for schools and local authorities in the East Midlands. 

On-going 

Consolidated Risk Research in order to procure a spreadsheet validation tool On-going 

167



 

8 

 

Work assisting other functions 

Department Entity   Position at 6/11 

Environment & Transport Assistance with the quarterly stock take was provided at the Mountsorrel Depot. Complete 

Corporate Resources – IT 

Assurances  

Testing is near completion to provide assurances to management that Key ICT 

Controls continue to operate during the pandemic and where required management 

are monitoring IT requirements to meet demands etc.  

 

Ongoing  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

168



 

9 

 

Training, development and networks attended during the period 

Local Authorities Chief Auditors Network 

 Redmond Review; IIA Three Lines model; IIA Risk in Focus 

Midlands Counties Heads of Internal Audit Groups 

 Management group 

o Agenda for issues arising to be discussed end o November and early December 

 ICT Audit Group – Input into Points of Practice (PoP) in the following areas: -  
o Rollout of MS Teams  
o Internal Audit Case Management Systems  
o Spreadsheet Data Validation Tools (PoP raised by Leicestershire)  
o Business Objects for Social Care Reporting and compliance issues with Business Objects  

 

 Fraud Group – virtual meeting (November 2020) – see Risk Management Update  

Midlands Contract Audit Group 

 Discussion on contract audits 

Institute of Internal Auditors 

 Automated Testing Seminar 

 UK Annual Conference  

CIPFA Better Governance Forum (and LGA)  

 Redmond Review and NAO Code of Practice webinars 

 

169



 

10 

 

Other (Fraud Related) 

 NatWest Bank Cyber Fraud Webinar 

 Tungston Group - Invoicing Fraud Webinar 

 NFI Key Contact Training 

Other (Training) 

 Two members of staff are training for an IT Audit Qualification (Certified Information Systems Auditor) 

 We currently have a CIPFA Student on placement 

Internal Service Improvement: 

 Upgrade and development of Case Management System 

 Development and whole office training in data analytics 

 Policy and procedure for remote auditing 

 Establish a continuous auditing strategy 

 Establish an Agile Audit process and reporting for relevant audits 

 

170



 

 

Appendix 2 

 

High Importance Recommendations at 6
th

 November 2020 

 
Audit Title 

(Director) 

Summary of Finding(s) and Recommendation(s) Management Response Action Date 

(by end of) & 

extensions 

 

Confirmed 

Implemented 

Reported 

November 2020 

    

Health 

Recharges for 

Hospital 

Discharges and 

Avoidances 

(Corporate 

Resources; 

A&C) 

The department had reviewed all care packages 

(CPLI lines) during an initial six-week period 

(19th March to 4th May) where those CPLIs were 

not initially indicated as being Covid-specific, in 

order to identify any that should have been, and 

therefore rechargeable to the respective health 

authorities (CCGs). The exercise identified a 

reasonably high proportion of CPLIs 

subsequently being amended to be Covid-19 

specific and therefore brought into the health 

recharge process. However, at the time of audit, a 

relatively high number of relevant CPLIs (933) 

had yet to be rechecked within the care pathway.  

 

Recommended that steps should be taken to 

expedite 100% returns as a matter of priority. 

 

Agreed. Actions from this review will 

be looked at as part of a project 

approach to ensure completion of all 

reviews needed to reconcile the Covid-

19 funded packages as per the new 

hospital discharge guidance. Some of 

the actions have already been 

completed. DMT to receive regular 

reports. 

 

 

December 2020  

Direct Payments 

(Personal 

Budgets) 

 

A review of the tableau dashboard of service users 

receiving an annual review revealed that as of 1
st
 

March 2020 there were 324 service users awaiting 

an annual review. Of these 35 were overdue by 

more than 12 months and 99 by between 6 and 12 

months. 

 

Recommended annual reviews of all service users’ care 

Agreed.  The review of care and 

support needs is the focus of the annual 

statutory review.   

DP reviews will be prioritised and 

scheduled to ensure allocation at 9 

month intervals; so that completed 

reviews are within the 12 month 

timescales. 

December 2020 

 
 

 

171



 

2 

 

and support plans to establish whether client needs 

had changed, and the level of direct payment was 

appropriate to meet those needs. 

 

A review of Direct Payment Agreements found that 

where an arrangement was in place to pay a close 

member of family for providing care services, this was 

not recorded in the care and support plan, nor was 

approval obtained from the Head of Service as is 

required according to direct payments guidance. In 

addition, evidence was seen of expenditure that could 

potentially be considered to be contentious. 

 

It was recommended that the policy regarding paying 

close family members and carers living in the same 

house for providing care services should be adhered to. 

Where family members are used for providing care 

services, this should be recorded in the care and 

support plan, and contentious expenditure should be 

authorised by the Head of Service.  

 

The feasibility of a retrospective review (and 

authorisation at Head of Service level) of service users 

making payments to family members should be 

considered.  If this is not feasible, it should be covered 

at the point of next annual review. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agreed. Guidance will be re-issued to care 

pathway staff with a focus on use of DP for 

a family member and the need to include 

this in any reviews to consider continued 

provision and any impact on the service 

user Management will issue a briefing 

note following the audit to remind all staff. 

 

 

Reported July 

2020 

    

ICT Externally 

Hosted Contracts 

(Consolidated 

risk) 

Three HI recommendations were made: - 

1. Confirm the circumstances of the contract 

before deleting records 

2. Conduct an audit to determine whether valid 

contract are in place 

3. Decide whether original (signed) contracts 

should be held centrally.  

All agreed (#1 is implemented) 

 

Currently being re tested by IA 

September 2020 

 

Extend to 

December 2020 

 

172



 

3 

 

Rights of audit in 

procurement 

contracts 

(Consolidated 

risk) 

Two HI recommendations were made: - 

1. Include rights of audit clauses within all 

corporate guidance and any subsequent 

toolkits/associated training 

2. Consider requesting a variation to 

retrospectively include rights to audit clauses 

for any relevant contracts (balancing cost v 

benefit) 

3.  

Both agreed but #2 will focus on key 

suppliers or highest risk contracts rather 

than all the contracts 

 

Currently being re tested by IA 

September 2020 

 

 

 

Extend to 

December 2020 

 

Gifts and 

Hospitality 

Registers 

(Consolidated 

risk) 

 

Two HI recommendations were made: - 

1. Strengthen reminders for employees to 

complete the Counter Fraud e: learning 

module & consider escalation procedures for 

non-compliance. 

2. Improve manager knowledge of gifts & 

hospitality through Managers Digest or 

specific forums in order to increase use 

Both agreed 

 

Extend to December 2020 

September 2020 

 

Extend to 

December 2020 

 

Reported June 

2020 

    

Records 

management 

(Consolidated 

Risk) 

Internal Audit randomly chose three sections within 

County Hall to undertake floor walks. The exercise 

identified some confidential and sensitive records 

that were not secured. 

 

Recommended 

 

1. Physical records containing personal and 

sensitive information should be held securely. 

2. Ad hoc spot checks should be independently 

undertaken by the Information Governance Team or 

Internal Audit. 

 

Agreed 

 

The Data Protection Officer intends to 

arrange for spot checks once there is 

recovery to offices 

 

This has been delayed due to the 2
nd

 

lockdown 

Immediate 

 

September 2020 

 

 

 

Extend to 

December 2020 

1. Yes 

2. Tba 

Early Years 

Funding  

(C&FS) 

Providers are paid in advance, based on headcount 

data from the previous term. Sums are recovered 

where actual headcount data is less than the previous 

Both recommendations were agreed, and 

several changes are due to be 

implemented, including the wider audit 

October 2020 

 

 

Yes 

173



 

4 

 

 headcount.  Delays with raising invoices led to one 

provider being overpaid. Legal has advised the 

overpayment will need to be written off. 

 

Recommended to thoroughly review the 

circumstances surrounding the overpayment and 

consequently determine any process changes. 

 

Furthermore, a report detailing overpayments to 

providers showed substantial outstanding balances 

owed to LCC. Some dated back a number of years   

 

Recommended immediate action should be taken 

regarding the aged outstanding balances owed to 

LCC/overpayments held on Oracle. 

recommendations. 

 

 

Reported January 

2020 

    

Burbage CE 

Infant School 

(C&FS) 

A deficit carry-forward is forecast for 2019/20.  The 

forecast for subsequent years is expected to be 

considerable and increasing deficit year on year, with 

estimates indicating a total deficit of as much as 

£200K by 2023/24. 

 

Some recharges to the adjoining Junior school had 

not been processed at the time of the audit, which 

may result in a break-even position for 2019/20, but 

does not change the position for future years. 

 

Recommended that conversations continue with the 

LA Finance Section with a view to forming a deficit 

budget plan for future years. In addition, the 

completion of a cash flow forecast was recommended 

to assist with monitoring cash flow.  

 

Agreed 

 

Will implement the recommendation by 

early February 2020 and monitor at each 

Finance meeting. 

 

The school finished 2019/20 with a 

deficit of £12K. 

 

 

February 2020 

 

October 2020 

 

Extend to 

December 2020 

 174



 

5 

 

Reported May 

2019 

    

Property 

Contracts Awards 

(CR) 

 

Management requested an audit of the award of 

property maintenance contracts and the allocation of 

work. Whilst the audit identified poor practice and 

control, no evidence came to light of any wrong 

doing. Management agreed to act on several 

recommendations to strengthen control. 

Because of quality issues with the data 

recorded in the primary system, work 

continues to check the processes for 

retrospective orders. 

 

HoIAS decision to conduct a fresh 

audit following department restructure 

   

June 2019 

August 2019 

November 2019 

April 2020 

June 2020 

October 2020 

Yes  

Leicestershire 

Schools Music 

Service 

(CR) 

 

At management’s request a review of the financial, 

operational and governance arrangements in place 

surrounding the Leicester-Shire Schools Music 

Service (LSMS) and it’s at arm’s length charity, the 

Leicester-Shire Music and Cultural Trust (LMCT) 

was undertaken. This review included the separation 

of responsibilities between both the LSMS and the 

LMCT and to assess that proper procedures are in 

place for the administration of ensembles.  

 

Several recommendations and an action plan for 

implementation were agreed with management, 

including 1) improved governance arrangements, 2) 

clearer job roles and responsibilities, 3) revised 

contracts and overtime arrangements, 4) revise 

procurement of transport. 

Whilst none of the recommendations was deemed 

individually as “high importance” collectively the 

recommendations will require a targeted follow up to 

ensure improvements have been made. 

 

Agreed 

 

  

September 2019 

 

December 2019  

 

April 2020 

 

September 2020 

 

Extend 

recommendation 

#4 to December 

2020  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 – 3 Yes 

 

4 TBC 

Audit/CGC/20-21/Nov20/Appendix 2 HI Progress Report       Last Revised 11
th

 November 2020    

    

175



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2020.
	6 Risk Management Update.
	Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register Update
	Appendix 2 - Fraud Risk Assessment 2020-21

	7 External Audit of the Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and Pension Fund Accounts.
	8 Update on the application of the National Audit Office Guide to Audit Committees on financial reporting and management during Covid-19.
	Appendix 1 - National Audit Offices (NAO) guide for Audit  Risk Committees
	Introduction
	Part One
	Annual reports

	Part Two
	Financial reporting

	Part Three
	Control environment

	Part Four
	Regularity of expenditure

	Appendix One
	Key questions to ask

	Appendix Two
	Further resources

	Appendix Three
	National Audit Office’s Fraud and Error Framework


	Appendix 2 - Counter Fraud Work During Covid-19

	9 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review 2019-20 and update on complaints and Freedom of Information Requests.
	Appendix A Leicestershire County Council Annual Review letter 2019-20
	Appendix B LG Review 2019-20
	Ombudsman’s foreword
	Putting things right
	Compliance with recommendations
	Learning from complaints
	Decisions and Reports
	The impact of a single complaint
	Raising the profile of complaints
	How councillors can use our data to support scrutiny
	Resolving complaints effectively

	Appendix C Benchmarking Data

	10 Resilience and Business Continuity Update.
	11 Quarterly Treasury Management Report.
	Appendix A - Economic Overview (September 2020)
	Appendix B - Update on UK Sovereign Rating

	12 Update on developments in local (external) audit arrangements.
	13 Internal Audit Service Progress Report.
	Appendix 1 - Summary of Internal Audit Service Work 110720 - 061120
	Appendix 2 - HI Progress Report at 6th November 2020




